Planning & Transportation Commission
Regular Meeting Agenda: March 31, 2021

Virtual Meeting
6:00 PM

https://zoom.us/join Meeting ID: 923 0164 0941 Phone number: 1 669 900 6833
****BY VIRTUAL TELECONFERENCE ONLY***
Pursuant to the provisions of California Governor’s Executive Order N-29-20,
issued on March 17, 2020, to prevent the spread of COVID-19, this meeting will be
held by virtual teleconference only, with no physical location. The meeting will be
broadcast live on Cable TV and through Channel 26 of the Midpen Media Center
at https://midpenmedia.org/local-tv/watch-now/.

Members of the public may comment by sending an email to
planning.commission@cityofpaloalto.org or by attending the Zoom virtual
meeting to give live comments. Instructions for the Zoom meeting can be found
on the last page of this agenda.

TIME ESTIMATES

Listed times are estimates only and are subject to change at any time, including while the
meeting is in progress. The Commission reserves the right to use more or less time on any item,
to change the order of items and/or to continue items to another meeting. Particular items may
be heard before or after the time estimated on the agenda. This may occur in order to best
manage the time at a meeting or to adapt to the participation of the public

Call to Order / Roll Call

Oral Communications
The public may speak to any item not on the agenda. Three (3) minutes per speaker.*?

Agenda Changes, Additions, and Deletions

The Chair or Commission majority may modify the agenda order to improve meeting management.

1. Spokespersons that are representing a group of five or more people who are identified as present at the meeting at the
time of the spokesperson’s presentation will be allowed up to ten (10) minutes at the discretion of the Chair, provided that
the non-speaking members agree not to speak individually.

2. The Chair may limit Oral Communications to 30 minutes for all combined speakers.

3. The Chair may reduce the allowed time to speak to three minutes to accommodate a larger number of speakers.



City Official Reports 6:00 PM-6:15 PM
1. Directors Report, Meeting Schedule and Assignments

Action Item
Public Comment is Permitted. Applicants/Appellant Teams: Fifteen (15) minutes, plus three (3) minutes rebuttal.
All others: Up to five (5) minutes per speaker.’3

6:15 PM-6:45 PM
2. PUBLIC HEARING / QUASI-JUDICIAL. 181 Addison Avenue [20PLN-00300]: Request for
Review of a Preliminary Parcel Map with Exception and Variance to Subdivide One
Existing Lot into Two Parcels with Less Than the Minimum 60 Foot Frontage.
Environmental Assessment: Use of a Previously Adopted EIR for the City's
Comprehensive Plan. Zoning District: R-2 (Two Family Residential) within the SOFA 2
CAP. For More Information, Contact Danielle Condit at:
danielle.condit@cityofpaloalto.org.

Study Session

Public Comment is Permitted. Up to five (5) minutes per speaker.'?
6:45 PM-8:45 PM
3. Review and Discussion of Proposed Commercial Parking Enhancements and the Draft
Palo Alto Parking Action Plan

Action Items
Public Comment is Permitted. Applicants/Appellant Teams: Fifteen (15) minutes, plus three (3) minutes rebuttal.
All others: Up to five (5) minutes per speaker.’?

8:45 PM-10:45 PM

4. Review and Discuss Two Concept Plan Alternatives for Improvements to the Alma

Street and Churchill Avenue Intersection and Recommend a Preferred Alternative to

City Council

10:45 PM-11:15 PM

5. Recommendation on Ordinances Responding to State Housing Bills Regarding Density

Bonus and Affordable Housing. Environmental Assessment: Exempt pursuant to
CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3).

Approval of Minutes

Public Comment is Permitted. Three (3) minutes per speaker.'?

11:15 PM-11:20 PM
6. February 24, 2021 Draft PTC Meeting Minutes

1. Spokespersons that are representing a group of five or more people who are identified as present at the meeting at the
time of the spokesperson’s presentation will be allowed up to ten (10) minutes at the discretion of the Chair, provided that
the non-speaking members agree not to speak individually.

2. The Chair may limit Oral Communications to 30 minutes for all combined speakers.

3. The Chair may reduce the allowed time to speak to three minutes to accommodate a larger number of speakers.



Commiittee Items

Commissioner Questions, Comments, Announcements or Future Agenda Items

Adjournment

1. Spokespersons that are representing a group of five or more people who are identified as present at the meeting at the
time of the spokesperson’s presentation will be allowed up to ten (10) minutes at the discretion of the Chair, provided that
the non-speaking members agree not to speak individually.

2. The Chair may limit Oral Communications to 30 minutes for all combined speakers.

3. The Chair may reduce the allowed time to speak to three minutes to accommodate a larger number of speakers.



Palo Alto Planning & Transportation Commission

Commissioner Biographies, Present and Archived Agendas and Reports are available online:
http://www.cityofpaloalto.org/gov/boards/ptc/default.asp. The PTC Commission members are:

Chair Bart Hechtman
Vice Chair Giselle Roohparvar
Commissioner Michael Alcheck
Commissioner Bryna Chang
Commissioner Ed Lauing
Commissioner Doria Summa
Commissioner Carolyn Templeton

Get Informed and Be Engaged!
View online: http://midpenmedia.org/category/government/city-of-palo-alto/ or on Channel
26.

Public comment is encouraged. Email the PTC at: Planning.Commission@CityofPaloAlto.org.

Material related to an item on this agenda submitted to the PTC after distribution of the
agenda packet is available for public inspection at the address above.

Americans with Disability Act (ADA)

It is the policy of the City of Palo Alto to offer its public programs, services and meetings in a
manner that is readily accessible to all. Persons with disabilities who require materials in an
appropriate alternative format or who require auxiliary aids to access City meetings, programs,
or services may contact the City’s ADA Coordinator at (650) 329-2550 (voice) or by emailing
ada@cityofpaloalto.org. Requests for assistance or accommodations must be submitted at least
24 hours in advance of the meeting, program, or service.

1. Spokespersons that are representing a group of five or more people who are identified as present at the meeting at the
time of the spokesperson’s presentation will be allowed up to ten (10) minutes at the discretion of the Chair, provided that
the non-speaking members agree not to speak individually.

2. The Chair may limit Oral Communications to 30 minutes for all combined speakers.

3. The Chair may reduce the allowed time to speak to three minutes to accommodate a larger number of speakers.



Public Comment Instructions
Members of the Public may provide public comments to teleconference meetings via email,
teleconference, or by phone.

1. Written public comments may be submitted by email to
planning.commission@CityofPaloAlto.org

2. Spoken public comments using a computer will be accepted through the
teleconference meeting. To address the Board, click on the link below for the
appropriate meeting to access a Zoom-based meeting. Please read the following
instructions carefully.

A. You may download the Zoom client or connect to the meeting in-browser. If
using your browser, make sure you are using a current, up-to-date browser:
Chrome 30+, Firefox 27+, Microsoft Edge 12+, Safari 7+. Certain functionality
may be disabled in older browsers including Internet Explorer.

B. You will be asked to enter an email address and name. We request that you
identify yourself by name as this will be visible online and will be used to notify
you that it is your turn to speak.

C. When you wish to speak on an agenda item, click on “raise hand”. The
moderator will activate and unmute attendees in turn. Speakers will be notified
shortly before they are called to speak. The Zoom application will prompt you to
unmute your microphone when it is your turn to speak.

D. When called, please limit your remarks to the time limit allotted.
E. A timer will be shown on the computer to help keep track of your comments.
3. Spoken public comments using a smart phone will be accepted through the

teleconference meeting. To address the Council, download the Zoom application onto
your phone from the Apple App Store or Google Play Store and enter the Meeting ID
below. Please follow instructions B-E above.

4, Spoken public comments using a phone use the telephone number listed below. When
you wish to speak on an agenda item hit *9 on your phone so we know that you wish to
speak. You will be asked to provide your first and last name before addressing the
Board. You will be advised how long you have to speak. When called please limit your
remarks to the agenda item and time limit allotted.

https://zoom.us/join
Meeting ID: 923 0164 0941 Phone number: 1 669 900 6833 (you may need to exclude the
initial “1” depending on your phone service)

1. Spokespersons that are representing a group of five or more people who are identified as present at the meeting at the
time of the spokesperson’s presentation will be allowed up to ten (10) minutes at the discretion of the Chair, provided that
the non-speaking members agree not to speak individually.

2. The Chair may limit Oral Communications to 30 minutes for all combined speakers.

3. The Chair may reduce the allowed time to speak to three minutes to accommodate a larger number of speakers.



Planning & Transportation Commission
Staff Report (ID # 12149)

Report Type: City Official Reports Meeting Date: 3/31/2021

Summary Title:  City Official Report

Title: Directors Report, Meeting Schedule and Assignments
From: Jonathan Lait
Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning and Transportation Commission (PTC) review and
comment as appropriate.

Background
This document includes the following items:

e PTC Meeting Schedule
e PTC Representative to City Council (Rotational Assignments)
e Tentative Future Agenda

Commissioners are encouraged to contact Vinh Nguyen (Vinhloc.Nguyen@CityofPaloAlto.org)
of any planned absences one month in advance, if possible, to ensure availability of a PTC
quorum.

PTC Representative to City Council is a rotational assignment where the designated
commissioner represents the PTC’s affirmative and dissenting perspectives to Council for quasi-
judicial and legislative matters. Representatives are encouraged to review the City Council
agendas (http://www.cityofpaloalto.org/gov/agendas/council.asp) for the months of their
respective assignments to verify if attendance is needed or contact staff. Prior PTC meetings are
available online at http://midpenmedia.org/category/government/city-of-palo-alto/boards-
and-commissions/planning-and-transportation-commission.

The Tentative Future Agenda provides a summary of upcoming projects or discussion items.

Attachments:
e Attachment A: March 31, 2021 PTC Meeting Schedule and Assignments (DOCX)

City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services
250 Hamilton Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

(650) 329-2442

Packet Pg. 6




la

Planning & Transportation Commission
2021 Meeting Schedule & Assignments

2021 Schedule

Meeting Dates

3/31/2021
4/14/2021
4/28/2021
5/12/2021
5/26/2021
6/9/2021
6/30/2021
7/14/2021
7/28/2021
8/11/2021
8/25/2021
9/8/2021
9/29/2021
10/13/2021
10/27/2021
11/10/2021

12/8/2021

Time

6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM
6:00 PM

6:00 PM

Location

Virtual Meeting
Virtual Meeting
Virtual Meeting
Virtual Meeting
Virtual Meeting

TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD
TBD

TBD

Status

Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular
Regular

Regular

Absences/Notes

Roohparvar
Roohparvar

PAUSD Start Week

2021 Assisnments - Council Representation (primary/backup)

January
Doria Summa
Michael Alcheck

July

February

Giselle Roohparvar
Cari Templeton

August

March

Michael Alcheck
Bart Hechtman

September

April

October

May

November

June

December

Packet Pg. 7




la

Planning & Transportation Commission
2021 Tentative Future Agenda

The Following Items are Tentative and Subject to Change:

Meeting Dates Topics
e Renter Protection Policy Recommendations
April 14, 2021 e Review of Boards and Commissions Handbook
e Study Session: Sustainability and Climate Action Plan

Upcoming items:

Topics

e Review and Recommendation on Proposed 2022-2026 Capital Improvement Plan and
Comprehensive Plan Compliance

e University Avenue In-Lieu Parking Program

e PTC Review of Objective Standards

e ADU Code Changes - Affordability Regulations

Packet Pg. 8




Planning & Transportation Commission
Staff Report (ID # 11915)

Report Type: Action Items Meeting Date: 3/31/2021

Summary Title: 181 Addison Ave: Preliminary Parcel Map w/ Exceptions &
Variance

Title: PUBLIC HEARING / QUASI-JUDICIAL. 181 Addison Avenue

[20PLN-00300]: Request for Review of a Preliminary Parcel
Map with Exception and Variance to Subdivide One Existing Lot
into Two Parcels with Less Than the Minimum 60 Foot
Frontage. Environmental Assessment: Use of a Previously
Adopted EIR for the City's Comprehensive Plan. Zoning District:
R-2 (Two Family Residential) within the SOFA 2 CAP. For More
Information, Contact Danielle Condit at:
danielle.condit@cityofpaloalto.org.

From: Jonathan Lait

Recommendation
Staff recommends the Planning and Transportation Commission (PTC) take the following
action(s):
1. Recommend approval of the proposed project to the City Council based on findings and
subject to conditions of approval.

Report Summary

The applicant/owner, Addison Property LLC, has filed an application with the City to request a
Preliminary Parcel Map with Exceptions and Variance to subdivide an existing residential parcel
located at 181 Addison into two lots. The existing parcel is 12,656 sf and the resulting lots
would be 6,297 sf and 6,350 sf.

The City’s historic preservation consultant evaluated the property in 2019. The City, with its
historic preservation consultant, determined the site ineligible for listing on the California
Register of Historical Resources. While development on the sites is not currently proposed,
demolition of the existing residence would not constitute an impact to an historic resource
under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).

City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services
250 Hamilton Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

(650) 329-2442

Packet Pg. 9




City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services Department Page 2

A parcel map with exception is required because the two lots to be created would have shorter
lot frontages than what the zone district development standards allow, as described further in
this report. 60 foot of frontage is required by code. Lot A would have a frontage of 56 feet and
Lot B would have a frontage of 56.47 feet. Exceptions may only be granted by the City Council
after recommendation by the Planning and Transportation Commission

Background
Project Information
Owner:

Architect:
Representative:
Legal Counsel:

Property Information
Address:
Neighborhood:

Lot Dimensions & Area:
Housing Inventory Site:
Flood Zone:

Protected/Heritage Trees:

Historic Resource(s):

Existing Improvement(s):
Existing Land Use(s):

Adjacent Land Uses &
Zoning:
Special Setbacks:

Aerial View of Property:

Addison Property, LLC
Kim Tran, Le Architecture
Vikram Varma

N/A

181 Addison Avenue

SOFA 2

112.5 feet wide, 112.5 feet deep, 12,656 sf

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

4 (P) redwoods NE corner Parcel A, 1 (P) redwood SE corner Parcel B
Found Not CRHR Eligible by Page & Turnbull; January 23, 2019

Single-Story home built in 1914, with a detached garage
Single-Family Residential

North: Single-Family Residential (R-2)

West: Multi-Family Residential (R-2)

East: Single-Family Residential (R-1)

South: General Business Office (RT-35)

North: Single-Family Residential (R-2)

None

Packet Pg. 10




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 3

Source: Google

Land Use Designation & Applicable Plans/Guidelines

Zoning Designation: R-2 (Two Family Residential District)
Comp. Plan Designation: SOFA 2 CAP

Context-Based Design: Not Applicable

Downtown Urban Design:  Yes

SOFA 1l CAP: Yes

Baylands Master Plan: Not Applicable

ECR Guidelines ('76 /'02):  Not Applicable
Proximity to Residential

Uses or Districts (150'): Not Applicable
Located w/in AIA

(Airport Influence Area): Not Applicable

Prior City Reviews & Action

City Council: None
PTC: None
HRB: None
ARB: None

Project Description
Requested Entitlements, Findings and Purview:
The following discretionary applications are being requested:

Packet Pg. 11




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 4

Preliminary Parcel Map: The process for evaluating this type of application is set forth
in Title 21 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code and Government Code Section 66474. Palo
Alto Municipal Code Section 21.12.090 requires the Director of Planning and
Development Services (Director) to review whether the proposed subdivision complies
and is consistent with the Subdivision Map Act (in particular Government Code 66474),
Title 21 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code, the Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan, and other
applicable provisions of the Palo Alto Municipal Code and State Law. If, in the Director’s
opinion, there are issues of major significance associated with the proposed parcel map,
such map may be deferred by the Director and Transportation Commission and the City
Council for review. Draft findings to approve a Subdivision are provided in Attachment
B.

Conditional Exceptions: The process for granting Exceptions is set forth in PAMC
Chapter 21.32. Exceptions may only be granted by the City Council after
recommendation by the Planning and Transportation Commission. Exceptions shall be
granted only upon making the required findings. Draft findings to approve conditional
exceptions are provided in Attachment B.

Variance: The process for evaluating this type of application is set forth in PAMC
18.76.030. Variance applications are reviewed by the Director. Action by the Director is
appealable to the City Council if filed within 14 days. However, since this project
includes other actions that require approval by the City Council, pursuant to PAMC
18.40.170, the PTC will make its recommendation to the City Council. All findings must
be made in the affirmative to approve the project. Failure to make anyone finding
requires redesign or denial. The variance request is required due to the standards set
forth in the South of Forest Area Coordinated Area Plan (SOFA Il) which only allows
exceptions to the development standards to be processed through the means of a
variance application pursuant to Title 18 of the PAMC. Draft findings to approve the
variance are provided in Attachment B.

Analysis!
Neighborhood Setting and Character?

The subject property is located along Addison Avenue and Emerson Street at the corner of a
four-way intersection. The parcel is situated in a transitioning area where the Downtown meets
residential areas. Adjacent structures are primarily single-story and two-story residences;
however, there is a mixture of residential and commercial uses throughout the neighborhood.

! The information provided in this section is based on analysis prepared by the report author prior to the public
hearing. Planning and Transportation Commission in its review of the administrative record and based on public
testimony may reach a different conclusion from that presented in this report and may choose to take an
alternative action from the recommended action.

2 The Palo Alto Zoning Code is available online: http://www.amlegal.com/codes/client/palo-alto ca

Packet Pg. 12




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 5

The proposed project is the division of one lot. The existing lot exceeds the zone’s maximum lot
size, and through the proposed actions the lot would be divided into two lots. The lots will
comply with the zoning standards for lot area and lot depth, but the lot widths will not comply.
The applicant therefore requests an exception from the minimum lot frontage of 60 feet.

This property would be subdivided as follows:

J Parcel A: Would be 56 feet wide (along Emerson St. frontage) and 112.44 feet deep
(along the Addison Ave. frontage), total area 6,297 square feet.
J Parcel B: Would be 56.47 feet wide (along Emerson St. frontage) and 112.46 feet deep,

total area 6,350 square feet.

These new parcels would be similar in width to other parcels in the area, as noted below.

Zoned for Single-Family & Less than 60 60’ frontage or Total % of Lots
Two-Family Use w/in 500’ of frontage longer that comply
subject site

R-1: 60’ minimum frontage 52 11 63 17.5
R-2: 60’ minimum frontage 18 3 21 14.3
RT-35/RT-50: No minimum Not Applicable Not Applicable N/A N/A
frontage standard

AMF/DHS: No minimum Not Applicable Not Applicable N/A N/A
frontage standard

Of the 84 properties within a 500 foot radius, less than 16.7% of the lots comply with the 60
foot frontage standard. A visual map of the table above has been in provided in Attachment F.

Zoning Compliance?

The subject property is located within the R-2 (two-family residential) zone district. The R-2
zone regulations permit one or two dwelling units under the same ownership on a site under
regulations that preserve the essential character of single-family use. For properties within
SOFA 2, the number of dwelling units on a site as of November 24, 2003 may not be reduced. A
detailed review of the proposed project’s consistency with applicable zoning standards is
reflected in the summary table provided in Attachment C. The proposed project complies with
the zoning ordinance except with respect to the proposed width. PAMC Chapter 18.10.040
identifies development standards within the R-2 Zone District and requires a 60-foot width for
parcels within this district. The requested exception would allow for the width of Parcel A to be
56 feet and Parcel B to be 56.47 feet where the existing parcel is 112.5 feet wide and the
standard is 60 feet. As described above, this exception would allow the creation of a new R-2
(two-family residential) lot.

Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, Area Plans and Guidelines?*

3 The Palo Alto Zoning Code is available online: http://www.amlegal.com/codes/client/palo-alto ca

Packet Pg. 13




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 6

The proposed project is located within the SOFA 2 Coordinate Area Plan (CAP) land use
designation. The project would be consistent with the applicable goals and policies outlined in
the Comprehensive Plan, Housing Element, and SOFA 2 CAP. In addition, the project would
allow for the development of an additional housing opportunity by creating two new standard
lots in the place of one; and dissolve a lot that exceeds the maximum lot size per the R-2
development standards. Respectively, these outcomes are encouraged under the Land Use and
Community Design Element and Housing Element of the Comprehensive Plan and are
consistent with multiple policy’s listed in the SOFA 2 Cap guidelines. Further, the project
provides an opportunity for additional housing, consistent with the City’s Housing Element.

In accordance with the standards established in the SOFA 2 CAP any exception(s) to
development standards may only be granted through variances and home improvement
exceptions in the R-2 district. A request for exception from the minimum lot frontage could not
be granted through a home improvement exception as the request for subdivision exceeds the
limit of exception that may be granted under this application type.

Generally, a request for exception from minimum lot frontage would only require a preliminary
parcel map with exception application. However, due to the standards in 6.010(c)(2) of SOFA
CAP 2, a variance is the appropriate request to process an application that requests an
exception from the development standard, in this case less than a 60-foot frontage. Draft
findings to approve the variance are provided in Attachment B. So, while variances are rare in
the City, staff support the granting of this variance.

Consistency with Application Findings

The necessary findings for approval of the Preliminary Parcel Map are contained in State law
and incorporated into Title 21 of the Municipal Code. Under the Subdivision Map Act, the
Director must make a series of “reverse” findings to justify approval. If the findings cannot be
made, the subdivision must be approved. In particular, Government Code Section 66474, the
Director shall deny a Preliminary Parcel Map if any of the findings are made. Otherwise, the
Director must approve the subdivision. The findings for the proposed map and the draft
conditions of approval of the proposed map are included in Attachment B.

Environmental Review

The subject project has been assessed in accordance with the authority and criteria contained
in the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the State CEQA Guidelines, and the
environmental regulations of the City. Specifically, staff found the project to be consistent with
the City’s Comprehensive Plan and therefore covered under the Comprehensive Plan
Environmental Impact Report. SOFA 2 CAP implements the City of Palo Alto Comprehensive
Plan and provides more detailed programs and policies. The proposed project would allow for
one or two dwelling units under the same ownership on a site, while preserving the essential

4 The Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan is available online:
http://www.cityofpaloalto.org/gov/topics/projects/landuse/compplan.asp

Packet Pg. 14




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 7

character of single-family use. The project would be in conformance with SOFA 2 CAP, which
makes it in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan.

Public Notification, Outreach & Comments

The Palo Alto Municipal Code requires notice of this public hearing to be published in a local
paper and mailed to owners and occupants of property within 600 feet of the subject property
at least ten days in advance. Notice of a public hearing for this project was published in the
Daily Post on March 19, 2021, which is 12 days in advance of the meeting. Postcard mailing
occurred on March 18, 2021, which is 13 days in advance of the meeting.

Public Comments
As of the writing of this report, no project-related, public comments were received.

Alternative Actions

In addition to the recommended action, the Architectural Review Board may:
1. Approve the project with modified findings or conditions;
2. Continue the project to a date (un)certain; or
3. Recommend project denial based on revised findings.

Report Author & Contact Information PTC® Liaison & Contact Information
Danielle Condit, Associate Planner Rachael Tanner, Assistant Director
(650) 329-2242 (650) 329-2441
danielle.condit@cityofpaloalto.org rachael.tanner@cityofpaloalto.org
Attachments:

e Attachment A: Location Map (PDF)

e Attachment B: Draft Record of Land Use Action (DOCX)
e Attachment C: Zoning Comparison Table  (DOCX)

e Attachment D: DPR Form (Historic) (PDF)

e Attachment E: Project Plans (DOCX)

e Attachment F 181 Addison Ave w 500' Buffer (PDF)

5 Emails may be sent directly to the PTC using the following address: planning.commission@cityofpaloalto.org

Packet Pg. 15




2.a

Packet Pg. 16




2.b

ACTION NO. XXXX-XX
DRAFT RECORD OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALO ALTO LAND USE ACTION FOR
181 ADDISON AVE: PRELIMINARY PARCEL MAP WITH EXCEPTION & VARIANCE 20PLN-00300
(ADDISON PROPERTY, LLC, Property Owner)

At its meeting on , 2021, the City Council of the City of Palo Alto
approved the Preliminary Parcel Map for the development of a two-lot subdivision project with
exceptions and Variance, making the following findings, determinations and declarations:

SECTION 1.Background.
The City Council of the City of Palo Alto (“City Council”) finds, determines, and declares as follows:

A. On December 21, 2020, Addison Property, LLC applied for a Preliminary Parcel
Map with exceptions for the development of a Two-lot subdivision project (“The Project”).

B. The project site is comprised of one lot (APN No. 120-28-088) of
approximately 12,656 square feet. The site contains one residential structure. Single-family
residential land uses are located adjacent to the lot to the north and west.

SECTION 2. Environmental Review.

The City as the lead agency for The Project has determined that The Project is consistent with the
goals and policies of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and potential secondary effects that can be
expected have been assessed as part of the Comprehensive Plan Environmental Impact Report.
The project provides opportunity for single-family housing in an area of Palo Alto zoned for the
two-family residential use, also known as the R-2. The R-2 district is intended to allow a second
dwelling unit under the same ownership as the initial dwelling unit on appropriate sites, in areas
designated for single-family use by the Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan, under regulations that
preserve the essential character of single-family use. Further, the project provides an opportunity
for additional housing, consistent with the City’s Housing Element.

SECTION 3. Preliminary Parcel Map Findings.
A legislative body of a city shall deny approval of a Preliminary Parcel Map, if it makes any of the
following findings (CGC Section 66474):

1. Thatthe proposed map is not consistent with applicable general and specific plans as specified
in Section 65451:

The site is located within the South of Forest Area (SOFA 2) Coordinated Area Plan and is
consistent with the provisions of both the Comprehensive Plan and SOFA 2.

2. That the design or improvement of the proposed subdivision is not consistent with applicable
general and specific plans:

Packet Pg. 17




2.b

The map is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan policies:

a.

Policy L-1.3: Infill development in the urban service area should be compatible with
its surroundings and the overall scale and character of the city to ensure a compact,
efficient development pattern.

Policy L-1.6 Encourage land uses that address the needs of the community and
manage change and development to benefit the community.

Policy L-2.4 Use a variety of strategies to stimulate housing, near retail, employment,
and transit, in a way that connects to and enhances existing neighborhoods.
Program H2.1.2: Allow increased residential densities and mixed-use development
only where adequate urban services and amenities, including roadway capacity, are
available.

Policy H1.4: Ensure that new developments provide appropriate transitions from
higher density development to single-family and low-density residential districts to
preserve neighborhood character

Goal H2: Support the construction of housing near schools, transit, parks, shopping,
employment and cultural institutions.

The map is consistent with the following SOFA 2 policies:

a.

Policy L-2: Enhance desirable characteristics and uses by using planning and
development standards to create opportunities for neighborhood development.
Encourage a compatible transition from the residential neighborhoods to the
downtown.

Policy L-6: Enhance the vitality and livability of the South of Forest Area by allowing a
mixture of residential and neighborhood serving commercial land uses.

Policy H-1: Within SOFA, Phases 1 and 2, provide for a total of 300 residential units
and promote the retention of existing housing units and encourage the development
of new housing units throughout the South of Forest Area.

3. That the site is not physically suitable for the type of development:

The site currently contains one single-family home and detached garage, in a residential
neighborhood. The proposed parcel map proposes to demolish the existing residence that
spans across the proposed parcel A and parcel B to create two new standard lots for future
development that is compatible with the R-2 two-family residence district. The R-2 is
intended to allow a second dwelling unit under the same ownership as the initial dwelling
unit on appropriate sites in areas designated for single-family use by the Palo Alto
Comprehensive Plan, under regulations that preserve the essential character of single-
family use. Community uses and facilities could not result on this site as it would result in a
loss of housing.

4. That the site is not physically suitable for the proposed density of development:

Packet Pg. 18




2.b

The proposal for the site creates two R-2 lots with frontages that do not meet the minimum
width standards per the R-2 development standards. However, the site as existing exceeds
the maximum lot size per the development standards in the R-2 zoning. The proposed
subdivision would result in two lots which are more in compliance with the Zoning Code than
the existing, which is allowed under PAMC 21.04.030(b)(17) and creates an opportunity for
an additional single-family lot in the R-2 zone.

5. That the design of the subdivision or the proposed improvements are likely to cause
substantial environmental damage or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or
their habitat:

The minor subdivision will not cause environmental damage or injure fish, wildlife, or their
habitat. The project site has been fully urbanized/developed and is centrally located within
the SOFA 2 CAP. There is no recognized sensitive wildlife or habitat in the project vicinity.

6. That the design of the subdivision or type of improvements is likely to cause serious public
health problems:

The creation of two individual parcels will not cause serious public health problems, as it does
not substantially affect the existing conditions and overall function of the site as a low density
residential property.

7. That the design of the subdivision or the type of improvements will conflict with easements,
acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of, property within the proposed
subdivision. In this connection, the governing body may approve a map if it finds that
alternate easements, for access or for use, will be provided, and that these will be substantially
equivalent to ones previously acquired by the public. This subsection shall apply only to
easements of record or to easements established by judgment of a court of competent
jurisdiction and no authority is hereby granted to a legislative body to determine that the
public at large has acquired easements for access through or use of property within the
proposed subdivision.

There are no easements across the current parcel. The parcel map does not propose nor
require any easements.

SECTION 4. Exception Findings

1. There are special circumstances or conditions affecting the property.

The subject property is nearly twice the width of many of the other properties up and down
the block including all adjoining properties. The SOFA 2 CAP, where the subject property is

Packet Pg. 19




2.b

located, is comprised of varied lot sizes and does not follow a standard pattern. Itis however
common in the vicinity of the subject property to find lots that do not meet the required
minimum 60-foot lot width and are nearly the same width (55 feet) as would result from the
proposed subdivision. (See location map Attachment A)

The exception is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial property right
of the petitioner.

In these circumstances a exception is necessary to preserve the petitioner’s ability to enjoy
rights similar to those of neighboring property owners. The existing lots adjacent to the
subject property do not meet the 60-foot standard lot width established for the R-2 zone
district. Many of the other lots within 500 feet of the subject property are only 33.3 to 50
feet wide in the R-1 and R-2 districts. The proposed lots would be a minimum 56 feet wide
and would have lot widths that closer comply with the development standards than many of
neighboring parcels. Additionally, the lot is currently non-conforming in terms of lot size, in
that it exceeds the maximum R-2 lot size of 11,999 square feet. The subdivision would create
two conforming lots in terms of lot size and lot depth.

The granting of the exception will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other
property in the territory in which the property is situated.

The division of this single parcel into two separate parcels will not have adverse impacts to
other properties in the vicinity. The addition of a single parcel to the street will not negatively
impact traffic and the resulting lot widths will be sufficient to provide ample width for
standard development of single family houses without the need for exceptions.

The granting of the exception will not violate the requirements, goals, policies, or spirit of the
law.

The granting of the exception is consistent with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive
plan as well as the spirit of the law. Policy L-1.6 of the Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan states
“Encourage land uses that address the needs of the community and manage change and
development to benefit the community.” The subdivision of this parcel creates only one new
single family lot within an established neighborhood that already receives city services. The
new lot therefore would not diminish the quality of City services or diminish the capacity of
infrastructure or transportation facilities. The subdivision of this parcel only serves to add
further consistency to the existing lot pattern thus preserving the character of the
neighborhood and provides an additional housing opportunity in a residential district. The lot
as it is currently situated exceeds the 11,999 square foot maximum lot size for R-2 zoned
properties by approximately 657 square feet. The subdivision would allow the creation of two
smaller lots that are more consistent with Palo Alto Municipal Code (“PAMC”) Section
18.10.040. Policy L-1.3 states “Infill development in the urban service area should be

Packet Pg. 20




compatible with its surroundings and the overall scale and character of the city to ensure a
compact, efficient development pattern”. The division of the lot will allow for the
construction of two modestly sized houses more consistent with the existing homes in the
neighborhood rather than the construction of one large house that would be out of scale with
the adjacent residences. The two smaller houses would also be more affordable than the one
larger home and allow for an additional housing unit in Palo Alto.

SECTION 5. Variance Findings

1. Because of special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including (but not limited

to) size, shape, topography, location, or surroundings, the strict application of the
requirements and regulations prescribed in Title 18 substantially deprives such property of
privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity and in the same zoning district as the
subject property.

The project site at 181 Addison is zoned R-2 and is located within the South of Forest Area
Coordinated Area Plan (SOFA 2 CAP). Per 6.010(c)(2) of SOFA CAP 2,” in the R-2 district, the
only exceptions to development standards that may be granted are variances and home
improvement exceptions...” As SOFA 2 was enacted in 2003, it is likely for the purpose of the
variance was to better facilitate neighborhood based planning for the use and reuse of land
and buildings. It is unlikely that the intent of this standard would be used to discourage the
development of a new substandard lot in the R-2 district when SOFA 2 CAP Policy H-1 states
that “within SOFA, Phases 1 and 2, provide for a total of 300 residential units and promote
the retention of existing housing units and encourage the development of new housing units
throughout the South of Forest Area”. Therefore, a variance is the appropriate request due
to the standards set to process an application that requests an exception from the
development standard, in this case less than a 60 foot frontage.

Adjacent similarly zoned properties within 500’ of the subject site that are subject to the same
60 foot frontage standard:

2.b

Lots zoned for Single- Lots with less Lots with 60’ Total # | % of Lots
Family & Two-Family Use than 60’ frontage or of lots that
w/in 500’ of subject site frontage longer comply
R-1: 60" minimum 52 11 63 17.5
frontage

R-2: 60" minimum 18 3 21 14.3
frontage

Based on the facts above, a strict application of the 60 foot frontage would deprive the district
of a new housing opportunity. Privileges enjoyed by most nearby properties in the vicinity
and in the same zoning district as the subject property.

Packet Pg. 21




2.b

2. The granting of the application shall not affect substantial compliance with the regulations or
constitute a grant of special privileges inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties
in the vicinity and in the same zoning district as the subject property.

Other properties in the R-2 district are
subject to the 60 foot frontage
standard.  However, not many
properties zoned R-2 need to process a
variance application to process a
preliminary parcel map with exception;
except for the 14 R-2 properties located
within SOFA CAP 2. Per the existing
conditions of those 14 lots, only one
could be subdivided and still create two
standard lots, that lot being the subject
site. The new R-2 lots would meet the
required lot area, and depth while only
needing an exception to the 60 foot lot
frontage. The variance application is
uniqgue to this site because the
circumstances and outcome could not
be recreated for other properties in the
vicinity and in the same zoning district as the subject property.

3. The granting of the application is consistent with the Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan and the
purposes of Title 18 (Zoning).

The project proposes a variance application to implement the project, to meet the
requirements of the SOFA 2 guidelines when requesting to deviate away from the
development standard. The project as proposed complies with all Zoning Ordinance
requirements other than the exception from lot frontage for which a Parcel map with
exception is sought. Furthermore, the proposed project does not conflict with the promotion
and protection of public health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, convenience or general
welfare. In light of these facts, the proposed project is consistent with the purposes of the
Zoning Ordinance (Title 18).

The Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan does not contain any frontage requirements, so the
variance does not include an exception to the Comprehensive Plan. Further, the proposed
project is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, as it will promote the goals and policies,
as noted above in the Preliminary Parcel Map findings

Packet Pg. 22




2.b

In summary, an important goal of the Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan is to encourage more
housing opportunities. Without a variance, development of a new standard lot would be lost
due to the process set in the SOFA 2 guidelines to deviate from the development standard.
That outside of this district would be processed solely by a preliminary parcel map with
exception application.

4. The granting of the application will not be detrimental or injurious to property or
improvements in the vicinity, and will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, general
welfare, or convenience.

Approval of the requested variance will facilitate the development of two standard lots in the
R-2 district: (i) that is consistent with the goals of the comprehensive plan, housing element,
and SOFA 2, (ii) that preserves the health and welfare of the existing neighborhood character,
(iii) is reflective of the typical lot size in the area, and (v) is consistent with other recent
projects in the vicinity and possible development scale within the R-2 district.

SECTION 6. Preliminary Parcel Map Approval Granted.

Preliminary Parcel Map approval is granted by the City Council under PAMC Sections 21.12 and
21.20 and the California Government Code Section 66474, subject to the conditions of approval
in Section 7 of this Record.

SECTION 7. Conditions of Approval.
Planning Division

1. PROJECT PLANS. The Preliminary Parcel Map with exception submitted for review and
approval by the Director shall be in substantial conformance with the Preliminary Parcel Map
prepared by Louis Wade Hammond “Two-Parcel Preliminary Parcel Map Lot 33-36, D Maps
119”, consisting of 3 pages, uploaded to Accela Citizen Access on February 3, 2021, except as
modified to incorporate the conditions of this approval. A copy of this plan is on file in the
Department of Planning and Community Environment, Current Planning Division.

2. PARCEL MAP COVER PAGE. At such time as the Parcel Map is filed, the cover page shall include
the name and title of the Director of Planning and Development Services.

3. PARCEL MAP EXPIRATION. A Parcel Map, in conformance with the approved Preliminary
Parcel Map with exception, all requirements of the Subdivision Ordinance (PAMC Section
21.16), and to the satisfaction of the City Engineer, shall be filed with the Planning Division
and the Public Works Engineering Division within two (2) years of the Preliminary Parcel Map
with exception approval date. The time period for a project may be extended once for an
additional year by the Director of Planning if submitted prior to the expiration date. The
resultant parcel map must be recorded prior to any building permit issuance.

Packet Pg. 23




4.

2.b

INDEMNITY. To the extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify and hold harmless
the City, its City Council, its officers, employees and agents (the “indemnified parties”) from
and against any claim, action, or proceeding brought by a third party against the indemnified
parties and the applicant to attack, set aside or void, any permit or approval authorized
hereby for the Project, including (without limitation) reimbursing the City for its actual
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in defense of the litigation. The City may, in its sole
discretion, elect to defend any such action with attorneys of its own choice.

ESTIMATED IMPACT FEE: Development Impact Fees, currently estimated to be $82,060.82
for the subdivision shall be paid prior to the issuance of the related building permit.

IMPACT FEE 90-DAY PROTEST PERIOD. California Government Code Section 66020 provides
that a project applicant who desires to protest the fees, dedications, reservations, or other
exactions imposed on a development project must initiate the protest at the time the
development project is approved or conditionally approved or within ninety (90) days after
the date that fees, dedications, reservations or exactions are imposed on the Project.
Additionally, procedural requirements for protesting these development fees, dedications,
reservations and exactions are set forth in Government Code Section 66020. IF YOU FAIL TO
INITIATE A PROTEST WITHIN THE 90-DAY PERIOD OR FOLLOW THE PROTEST PROCEDURES
DESCRIBED IN GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 66020, YOU WILL BE BARRED FROM
CHALLENGING THE VALIDITY OR REASONABLENESS OF THE FEES, DEDICATIONS,
RESERVATIONS, AND EXACTIONS. If these requirements constitute fees, taxes, assessments,
dedications, reservations, or other exactions as specified in Government Code Sections
66020(a) or 66021, this is to provide notification that, as of the date of this notice, the 90-day
period has begun in which you may protest these requirements. This matter is subject to the
California Code of Civil Procedures (CCP) Section 1094.5; the time by which judicial review
must be sought is governed by CCP Section 1094.6.

Any new two-story construction on the lots will require review under the City’s Individual
Review process.

The applicant shall confirm the location all existing features of the site, including protected
and non-protected trees, wells, structures, utilities, and easements to the satisfaction of
Public Works, the Planning Division, and any other agency that would have an interest in
those features.

Development Impact fees in effect at the time of building permit issuance, shall be paid to
the city of Palo Alto prior to the issuance of a building permit for the construction of the
second of the two houses that could be built on the two parcels.

Packet Pg. 24




2.b

Building Division

10.

11.

12.

No property line crossing any building is allowed.
All buildings shall be removed/demolished.

Obtain a deconstruction for removal of buildings prior to building permit.

Public Works Engineering Department

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Provide electronic copies of the referenced documents to Public Works. This includes the
records of survey, maps, preliminary title report, parcel map, closure calculations etc.

Provide a Preliminary Title Report that is current (within 3 months).

If applicable to this map, provide a Beneficiary or Trustee and Acknowledgement statement
on the map.

The Parcel Map shall include CITY ENGINEER STATEMENT, CITY SURVEYOR STATEMENT and
DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENT STATEMENT. Current City
Engineer is Bradley Eggleston RCE C72158. Surveyor’s Statement is TBD.

The City Engineer bulletin shall read as follows: | HEREBY STATE THAT | HAVE EXAMINED THE
WITHIN MAP; THAT ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THE SUBDIVISION MAP ACT AND ANY LOCAL
ORDINANCE APPLICABLE AT THE TIME OF THE APPROVAL OF THE PRELIMINARY PARCEL MAP
HAVE BEEN COMPLETED. THE SUBDIVISION AS SHOWN IS SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME AS IT
APPEARED ON THE PRELIMINARY PARCEL MAP AND ANY APPROVED ALTERATIONS THEREOF.

The City of Palo Alto does not currently have a City Surveyor. We have retained the services
of a consultant surveyor to review and provide approval on behalf of the City. The consultant
surveyor will be reviewing, signing and stamping the Parcel Map associated with your project.

In an effort to employ the services of the consultant surveyor, and as part of the City’s cost
recovery measures, the applicant is required to provide payment to cover the cost of the
consultant surveyor’s review. Our intent is to forward your Parcel Map to the consultant
surveyor for an initial preliminary review of the documents. The consultant surveyor will then
provide a review cost amount based on the complexity of the project and the information
shown on the document. We will share this information with you once we receive it and ask
that you return a copy acknowledging the amount. You may then provide a check for this
amount as payment for the review cost. The City must receive payment prior to beginning
the final review process. Scope and Fee Letter from the consultant surveyor will be provided
separately.

Packet Pg. 25




20.

21.

22.

23.

Once all reviewing departments (including third party surveyor) have approved the Parcel
Map, please submit wet signed and stamped mylar copy of the Parcel Map to Public Works
Engineering prior to recordation of Parcel Map. Map shall be signed by Owner, Trustee,
Notary and Surveyor prior to formal submittal.

Provide the electronic CAD file for the Map. Detail format of electronic submittal to be
provided prior to recordation of Parcel Map.

Any existing building(s) to be demolished will need to be demolished prior to recordation of
Parcel Map.

Prior to building permit and grading and excavation permit issuance, the Parcel Map shall be
recorded with County Recorder. A conformed mylar copy shall be submitted to Public Works
Engineering.

Utilities Water Gas Wastewater Department

24,

25.

26.

Any water service, gas service, or wastewater lateral not in use must be disconnected and
abandoned per the latest CPAU standards.

Each house shall have its own water and gas meter. Each parcel shall have its own water
service, gas service, and wastewater lateral connection.

The applicant shall be responsible for installing and upgrading the existing utility services as
necessary to handle anticipated new demands and meet current standards. This
responsibility includes all costs associated with the design and construction for the
installation/upgrade of the utility services, meters, and sewer laterals

Utilities Electrical Department

Pending Comments

SECTION 9. Term of Approval.

All conditions of approval of the Preliminary Parcel Map shall be fulfilled prior to approval of a
Parcel Map (PAMC Section 21.16.010(c]). Unless a Parcel Map is filed, and all conditions of
approval are fulfilled within a two-year period from the date of Preliminary Parcel Map
approval, or such extension as may be granted, the Preliminary Parcel Map shall expire, and all
proceedings shall terminate. The Director of Planning and Development Services may approve
one extension prior to expiration of the Preliminary Parcel Map, consistent with the provisions
of PAMC Title 21.

10

2.b

Packet Pg. 26




PASSED:

AYES:

NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTENTIONS:

ATTEST: APPROVED:

City Clerk Director of Planning and
Development Services
APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Senior Asst. City Attorney

PLANS AND DRAWINGS REFERENCED:

2.b

Louis Wade Hammond “Two-Parcel Preliminary Parcel Map Lot 33-36, D Maps 119”, consisting

of 3 pages, uploaded to Accela Citizen Access on February 3, 2021.

11

Packet Pg. 27




2.c

ATTACHMENT B
ZONING COMPARISON TABLE
181 Addison Avenue, 20PLN-00300

Table 1: COMPARISON WITH CHAPTER 18.10 (R-2 DISTRICT & SOFA 2 CAP)
Regulation Required Existing Proposed Parcel A Proposed Parcel B
Minimum/Maximum | 6,000-11,999 sf | One (1) lot, approximately | 6,297 sf 6,350 sf
Site Area 12,656 sf (Noncomplying)
Minimum Width 60-foot width 112.5 feet wide 56 feet wide 56.47 feet wide
Minimum Depth 100-foot depth | 112.5 feet deep 112.46 feet deep 112.43 feet deep

Packet Pg. 28




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #
PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 6Z
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date
Page _1 of _12 Resource name(s) or number (assigned by recorder) 181 Addison Avenue
P1. Other Identifier: 948 Emerson Street
*P2. Location: ONot for Publication XUnrestricted *a. County Santa Clara
*b. USGS 7.5’ Quad Palo Alto, CA Date 2015
*c. Address 181 Addison Avenue City Palo Alto Zip 94301

*e. Other Locational Data: Assessor’'s Parcel Number 120-28-088

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries.)

181 Addison Avenue is a one-and-a-half-story residential building designed in a Vernacular bungalow style (see P5a. Photo). The
building is located in the University South neighborhood of Palo Alto. The building appears to have been constructed by 1903, as
the address appears in the January 1904 Palo Alto city directory, which included information from 1903. Furthermore, the building
first appears in the 1904 Sanborn fire insurance map. 181 Addison Avenue is located on a square 112.5-foot by 112.5-foot lot at
the southwest corner of Addison Avenue and Emerson Street. The subject building is located at the east corner of the property with
a narrow setback from the sidewalk along Addison Avenue and Emmerson Street. The generally rectangular-plan wood-frame
building has hipped roof clad in asphalt shingles. The roof features overhanging eaves, which have a slight flare at the edge, on all
facades with a simple wood soffit and a wood frieze board below the eaves. The residence sits on a concrete foundation and is
clad in false bevel wood siding with a molded wood basecourse. An interior brick chimney is located toward the west end of the
residence. Typical windows are double-hung wood windows with ogee lugs, some of which have upper sashes decorative double
ogee-pattern or semi-circle pattern divided-lites. Typical windows are surrounded by simple, wide wood casing and a wood sill. A
number of the windows are covered by non-original screens. Five non-original, operable awning skylights are located on the upper
slopes of the roof; three on the southwest facing slope, and one each on the northwest and southeast facing slopes of the roof.

(See Continuation Sheet, page 2)

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (list attributes and codes) HP2: Single Family Property
*P4. Resources Present: [XIBuilding OStructure OObject OSite ODistrict OElement of District COther

P5a. Photo P5b. Photo: (view and date)
Primary facade, looking northeast.
January 8, 2019.

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: XlHistoric [JPrehistoric [JBoth
1903, 1904 Palo Alto city directory and
1904 Sanborn map.

*P7. Owner and Address:
Ellison Family

181 Addison Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

*P8. Recorded by:

Page & Turnbull, Inc.

417 Montgomery Street, 8" Floor San
Francisco, CA 94104

*P9. Date Recorded:
January 23, 2019

*P10. Survey Type: Intensive survey

*P11. Report Citation: None

*Attachments: CO0None OLocation Map OSketch Map [XIContinuation Sheet [XIBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
OArchaeological Record ODistrict Record OLinear Feature Record CIMilling Station Record CORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (list)

DPR 523A (9/2013) *Requjred.infarmation
Packet Pg. 29




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 2 of _12 Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) 181 Addison Avenue
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date _January 23, 2019 Continuation O Update

*P3a. Description (Continued):

181 Addison Avenue has an unusual orientation with the primary (southwest) fagcade facing toward the yard of the corner lot, rather
than fronting one of the streets (Figure 1). At the north end of the primary facade is an undivided typical window. A projecting bay
with a bay window is capped by a hipped roof with typical features (Figure 2). The central bay window features double ogee
muntins, and flanking typical windows with single ogee muntins. The frieze board above the bay window follows the line of the
hipped roof, rather than the window bay. To the south of the projecting bay is the recessed open entry porch, which is covered by
the main roof (Figure 3). Accessed via wood steps, the wood porch is enclosed by a low wall clad in false bevel siding. A
removable metal wheelchair ramp and wood railing are located at the entry stairs. The porch features a wood soffit ceiling with a
central, mounted fan. Horizontal, fixed wood windows with double semi-circle muntins are located on the southeast-facing wall of
the recessed entry porch and to the south (right) of the main entry door. The main entry door is a fully-glazed wood door with
divided-lites. To the north (left) of the main door is a typical window with a double ogee muntins. A secondary entrance is located
on the northwest-facing wall of the recessed entry porch and features a non-original wood panel door with a fanlight and a screen
door (Figure 4).

Figure 1: Aerial view of 181 Addison Avenue (indicated by Figure 2: Primary (southwest) fagade entrance, looking
orange dashed line), oriented toward driveway to the north.
southwest. Source: Google Maps, 2019.

Figure 3: Recessed entry porch on the primary fagade, Figure 4: Secondary, replacement entry door, looking
featuring the primary entrance door (center) and east.
secondary entrance (right), looking northeast.

The southeast fagade faces Addison Street, but is largely obscured from the public right-of-way by a wood fence and redwood
trees (Figure 5). The southeast facade features two typical windows with double-ogee patterns at either end of the facade, and a
central horizontal, casement wood window with a double-ogee divided-lite pattern.

The northeast fagade faces Emerson Street and features a central, hipped-roof dormer with two single-lite, wood-frame awning
windows (Figure 6). From east (left) to west (right), the northeast fagade features a fixed wood window with a double semi-circle

DPR 523L Packet Pg. 30




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page _3 of _12 Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) 181 Addison Avenue
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date _January 23, 2019 Continuation O Update

muntins; a typical window with a non-original stained-glass lower-sash; a typical window with a double ogee muntins; a horizontal
casement window with stained glass; and a typical undivided window.

Figure 5: Southeast fagade, looking northwest. Figure 6: Northeast fagade, looking southwest.

The northwest fagade faces a small grass lawn (Figure 7). Two typical windows are located at the north end of the northwest
fagade. The south end of the fagade has, from north (left) to south (right), typical window with a double-ogee pattern, a wood panel
door, and a typical window. The door is accessed via an elevated wood deck (Figure 8).

Figure 7: Northwest fagade, looking southeast. Figure 8: Wood deck on northwest fagade, looking south.

A detached garage is located to the west of the residence, along the northwest property-line (Figure 9). The garage features a
gabled roof clad in asphalt shingles and has exposed rafter tails. The garage is clad in wood clapboard siding and features one
southeast-facing paneled roll-up garage door. Four-lite wood windows are located on the two side fagades of the garage. South of
the garage, in the west corner of the property, is a detached double-height wood carport covered by a low-pitch gabled roof
(Figure 10). The height of the carport appears to be sized to accommodate commercial vehicles or an RV. The garage and carport
are accessed via a concrete driveway which extends to Addison Street.

DPR 523L Packet Pg. 31




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page _4 of _12 Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) 181 Addison Avenue

*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date _January 23, 2019 Continuation O Update
Figure 9: Detached garage, looking west. Figure 10: Detached, double-height carport, looking

northwest.

The subject property is surrounded by a wood fence, except at the southwest property-line where it is enclosed by the concrete
wall of the adjacent commercial property. A sliding wood gate provides access to the concrete driveway and a painted wood gate
with a gabled-roof portico provides pedestrian access off of Addison Street (Figure 11). Redwood trees are located throughout the
property, particularly at the edges of the property and adjacent the carport. An asphalt parking area is located at the north corner of
the property, off of Emerson Street. A memorial statue within wood pergola structure, dedicated to Earl M. Ellison, Sr., is located in
the grass lawn northwest of the residence (Figure 12).

Figure 11: Painted wood gate providing access to the Figure 12: Memorial statue dedicated to Earl M. Ellison,
subject property off of Addison Street, looking northwest. Sr., looking north.
DPR 523L

Packet Pg. 32




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI#

BUILDING, STRUCTURE, AND OBJECT RECORD

Page _5 of _12 *NRHP Status Code 6Z

*Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
B1. Historic Name: 181 Addison Avenue; 948 Emerson Street
B2. Common Name: 181 Addison Avenue
B3. Original Use: Residential Building
B4. Present Use: Residential Building
*B5. Architectural Style: Vernacular Bungalow

*B6. Construction History: (Construction date, alterations, and date of alterations)

181 Addison Avenue was constructed in 1903, based upon Palo Alto city directories and the 1904 Sanborn fire insurance map. The
single-family residence appears on the 1904 Sanborn map as part of a larger property stretching down Emerson Street, including a
hen house, chicken brooder and incubator, and another detached ancillary building (Figure 13). The footprint of house appears to
have been unaltered since initial construction, as the 1904 Sanborn map illustrates a one-story, largely rectangular plan building
with a projecting bay and recessed, covered porch on the southwest facade. Although the footprint of the residence was unaltered,
city directories and the Small File Assessment No. 7-8 on file at Palo Alto Development Services indicate that the building was
converted to a duplex after 1907. The second unit appears to have been addressed 948 Emerson Street. In the subsequent 1908
Sanborn map, the ancillary building adjacent the main residence has been expanded and converted to a dwelling addressed 944
Emerson Street (Figure 14). A building permit index record on file at the Palo Alto Historical Association notes an addition to a
garage at 181 Addison Avenue by J. W. Kelly in April 1923." By 1924, the agricultural buildings and the dwelling at 944 Emerson
Street were demolished and replaced with two small residences, and an automobile garage had been constructed to the southwest
of the subject residence (Figure 15). A 1941 aerial photograph of the area illustrates that the detached garage has a hipped roof,
and the garage also appears in the 1949 Sanborn map (Figure 16 and Figure 17). A 1965 aerial photograph shows that the
property was being used for vehicle storage by the owners’ business, Ellison Towing. (See Continuation Sheet, page 6)

*B7. Moved? XINo [OYes DOUnknown Date: Original Location:
*B8. Related Features: Detached garage, detached carport, redwood trees, wood fence.
B9a. Architect:__Unknown b. Builder: Unknown
*B10. Significance: Theme N/A Area N/A
Period of Significance N/A Property Type_ N/A Applicable Criteria N/A

Historic Context:

Palo Alto History

The earliest known settlement of the Palo Alto area was by the Ohlone people. The region was colonized in 1769 as part of Alta
California. The Spanish and Mexican governments carved the area into large ranchos which contained portions of land that
became Palo Alto including Rancho Corte Madera, Rancho Pastoria de las Borregas, Rancho Rincon de San Francisquito, and
Rancho Riconada del Arroyo de San Francisquito.?

(See Continuation Sheet, page 8)

B11. Additional Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes)
HP4. Ancillary Building: Detached garage
HP4. Ancillary Building: Detached carport - - -
HP30. Trees/Vegetation Source: City of Palo Alto, Online Parcel Reports, 2018. Edited by

HP46. Walls/gates/fences Page & Tumbull.

*B12. References: See Footnotes
B13. Remarks: None

*B14. Evaluator: Hannah Simonson, Page & Turnbull, Inc.
*Date of Evaluation: January 23, 2019

(This space reserved for official comments.)

A

" Building permit index record on file at Palo Alto Historical Association, citing Palo Alto Times, May 1, 1923.

2 Ward Winslow and Palo Alto Historical Association, Palo Alto: A Centennial History, (Palo Alto, CA: Palo Alto Historical Association, 1993), 12-17.
DPR 523B (9/2013) *Requirad-i i
Packet Pg. 33




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION

CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary #

HRI #

Trinomial

Page 6 of _12
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc.

*B6. Construction History (Continued):

30
7 Hen Ho.  x / xl ot
— T T /
[Z=%)
~g
- B b/ 3

/
/]
7z - - ragE, X
- Frwderiee 7] & =
/ %}

lrcubstor 57,

| |
Va2 Q
ZESDR) .
rd S
< N
X N

E £at] e
i

A7

A R S - R M T

Figure 13: 1904 Sanborn fire insurance survey map.

Subject property outlined in orange. Source: San
Francisco Public Library. Edited by Page & Turnbull.

TEZ. L7

e | L
s
& -
1}
.
PR
V4
LW
Vi & .
2.8 i

4

v/

R
i
1 E

.\‘ b
p
b
27

Rz

Figure 15: 1924 Sanborn fire insurance survey map.
Subject property outlined in orange. Source: San
Francisco Public Library. Edited by Page & Turnbull.

DPR 523L

¥4 e
4@

Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
*Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation [ Update

532
o e e
7~ — %
K
Yo~ N
| o e X
o7
Sige.
/ X ‘'
M ”5
I7 /
77 |R
7 I e
21 A Ho.
T+ .
L] i : g
o
4
rAROS. Her
o
- M)

Figure 14: 1908 Sanborn fire insurance survey map.
Subject property outlined in orange. Source: San
Francisco Public Library. Edited by Page & Turnbull.

Subject property outlined in orange. Source: Flight C-
7065, Frame 44, Fairchild Aerial Surveys, April 16, 1941.
UC Santa Barbara Aerial Photography FrameFinder.

Packet Pg. 34




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION

CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary #

HRI #

Trinomial

Page _7 of _12
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc.

EMERSON

Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
O Update

*Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation

NoprioNn - /l/

V. e

#. 15/ BODISOI
G

Figure 17?1‘9—49 Sanborn fire insurance survey map.
Subject property outlined in orange. Source: San
Francisco Public Library. Edited by Page & Turnbull.

1 .
Figure 18: 1965 aerial photograph of University South.
Subject property outlined in orange. Source: Flight CAS-
65-130, Frame 2-173, Cartwright Aerial Surveys, April 30,
1965. UC Santa Barbara Aerial Photography FrameFinder.

Table 1 below lists building permit applications and property assessment record information reviewed at Palo Alto Development
Services. Known alterations include reroofing, a new concrete foundation replacing the original brick foundation, an interior kitchen
and bathroom remodel, and the construction of the tall detached carport permitted in 2004. A 2001 complaint on file at Palo Alto
Development Services notes a building exceeding 120 square feet and the maximum 12-foot height built without permits, indicating
that the carport may have been built prior to 2001 and permitted retroactively. The existing detached garage has a gabled, rather
than hipped, roof and is in a different location than the historic garage depicted in Sanborn maps between 1924 to 1949, indicating
that the extant garage was built later.

Table 1. Construction History for 181 Addison Avenue
Permit # Date Owner Architect/Contractor Description
Small File Not Edith H. Not listed Describes residential building as built in
Assessment | indicated Zimmerman 1905.
7-8 on form
J&K-2565 Not legible | Buzz Ellison Buzz Ellison Fence permit — details not legible.
05-2764 10/3/1965 Don Ellison Shelton Roofing Company Tear off old [wood shake] roof, install

plywood, install new composition roof.

H-2921 11/18/1977 | Buzz Ellison Heating Permit 948 Emerson.
B-84-931 10/2/1981 Don Ellison Still-Water Enterprises Kitchen/bath remodel.
B-82-299 4/21/1982 Don Ellison Still-Water Enterprises New foundation. Termite work.
R-82-282 6/18/1982 Don Ellison Still-Water Enterprises Reroof cedar shingles.
E82-854 11/22/1982 | Don Ellison Still-Water Enterprises No description (electrical permit).
98-374-P 2/23/1998 Don Ellison John F. Dahl Plumbing & Heating No description (plumbing permit).
98-2595-M 8/27/1998 | Don Ellison John F. Dahl Plumbing & Heating No description (mechanical permit).
04640 3/23/2004 Don Ellison G. W. Construction New carport. 400 square feet.

A building permit index record on file at the Palo Alto Historical Association notes a 1908 alteration valued at 600 dollars for

resident Sarah Louise Kimball, but does not specify the nature of the work completed.? Other alterations that are not represented
by the available building permit applications, but are indicated by visual inspection and/or the 2001 Historic Resource Board staff
report prepared in consultation with owner Don Ellison, include the replacement of the original secondary entry door off the entry

3 Building permit index record for 181 Addison Avenue on file at Palo Alto Historical Society, references Palo Alto Times, January 3, 1908.

DPR 523L

Packet Pg. 35




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page _ 8 of _12 Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation [ Update

porch; the replacement of the entry door on the northwest fagade; the installation of five operable skylights during a conversion of
the attic space to an artist’s studio in 1986; the replacement of a fixed window on the northeast fagade with a stained glass window;
and the infill of a non-original entry door on the northeast elevation which was then clad in false bevel siding to match the historic
wall siding.# Owner Don Ellison converted the subject residence at 181 Addison Avenue back to a single-family layout, from the
non-original duplex layout, at an unknown date.

*B10. Significance (Continued):

Historic Context (Continued):

These land grants were honored in the cession of California to the United States, but parcels were subdivided and sold throughout
the nineteenth century. The current city of Palo Alto contains the former township of Mayfield, which was located just southwest of
Alma Street. In 1882, railroad magnate and California politician Leland Stanford purchased 1,000 acres adjacent to Mayfield to add
to his larger estate. Stanford’s vast holdings became known as the Palo Alto Stock Farm. On March 9, 1885, Stanford University
was founded through an endowment act by the California Assembly and Senate on Palo Alto Stock Farm land. In 1894, Stanford
founded the town of Palo Alto with aid from his friend Timothy Hopkins of the Southern Pacific Railroad, who purchased and
subdivided 740 acres of private land.5 Known as both the Hopkins Tract and University Park, it was bounded by the San
Francisquito Creek to the north and the railroad tracks and Stanford University campus to the south. A new train stop was created
along University Avenue and the new town flourished serving the university. In its early years, Palo Alto was a temperance town
where no alcohol could be served. The residents were mostly middle and working class, with a pocket of University professors
clustered in the neighborhood deemed Professorville. The development of a local streetcar in 1906 and the interurban railway to
San Jose in 1910 facilitated access to jobs outside the city and to the University, encouraging more people to move to Palo Alto.°
In July 1925, Mayfield was officially annexed and consolidated into the city of Palo Alto.”

Like the rest of the nation, Palo Alto suffered through the Great Depression in the 1930s and did not grow substantially. World War
Il brought an influx of military personnel and their families to the Peninsula; accordingly, Palo Alto saw rapid growth following the
war as many families who had been stationed on the Peninsula by the military or who worked in associated industries chose to
stay. Palo Alto’s population more than doubled from 16,774 in 1940 to 33,753 in 1953.8

Palo Alto’s city center greatly expanded in the late 1940s and 1950s, gathering parcels that would house new offices and light
industrial uses and lead the city away from its “college town” reputation.® Palo Alto annexed a vast area of mostly undeveloped
land between 1959 and 1968. This area, west of the Foothill Expressway, has remained protected open space. Small annexations
continued into the 1970s, contributing to the discontinuous footprint of the city today. Palo Alto remains closely tied to Stanford
University; it is the largest employer in the city. The technology industry dominates other sectors of business, as is the case with
most cities within Silicon Valley. Palo Alto consciously maintains its high proportion of open space to development and the
suburban feeling and scale of its architecture.

University South Neighborhood

The current University South neighborhood was located in the southern portion of the original University Park track platted by
Timothy Hopkins. It was the core part of the early city, along with today’s Downtown North neighborhood (located northwest of
University Avenue, the main commercial corridor within the original core of Palo Alto). The neighborhood contains the residential
and commercial areas that lay southeast of University Avenue excluding Professorville, the residential neighborhood closely
associated with early Stanford faculty members and their families. As a result, the neighborhood is U-shaped, bounded by
University Avenue at the northwest, Alma Street and the railroad tracks at the south, and Middlefield Road at the northeast. The
southeast boundary follows Embarcadero Road but steps northwest to Addison Avenue, so as to exclude Professorville.

The 1895 Sanborn Fire Insurance Company map illustrates that stores were located along University Avenue, and were particularly
concentrated at its southwestern end, where a large lumberyard stood near the railroad. Residences were scattered along the
street just east and west of University Avenue on Hamilton and Lytton Avenues. A few churches, hotels, and boarding houses also
stood among many vacant lots. Contemporary newspapers called the homes that housed artisans and merchants in this area “neat
cottages”—which stood in contrast to the houses occupied by Stanford faculty members, located to the southeast in what is today

4181 Addison Avenue [01-HRB-04],” Historic Resources Board Staff Report, prepared by Dennis Backland, Historic Preservation Planner for the
Historic Resources Board (July 18, 2001).

5 “Comprehensive Plan,” City of Palo Alto, section L-3.

6 Michael Corbett and Denise Bradley, “Palo Alto Historic Survey Update: Final Survey Report,” Dames & Moore, 1-4.

7 “A Flash History of Palo Alto,” Quora.

8 “Depression, War, and the Population Boom,” Palo Alto Medical Foundation- Sutter Health, website accessed 11 June 2013 from:
http://www.pamf.org/about/pamfhistory/depression.html.

9 “Comprehensive Plan,” section L-4.

DPR 523L

Packet Pg. 36




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 9 of _12 Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation [ Update

the Professorville neighborhood.'® Some grander homes for more affluent residents were sprinkled throughout the current-day
University South neighborhood.

By 1901, Palo Alto had grown beyond the original core depicted on the 1895 map. The 1901 Sanborn map shows that houses
were filling in the lots on the blocks around the railroad while scattered residential development extended up to and beyond
Middlefield Road. Additional institutions had been built in the area, including a public school and high school.

Ownership and Occupancy Summary

The following Table 2 details the available ownership and occupancy history for 181 Addison Avenue, and is based upon listings in
available City of Palo Alto city directories published between 1904 and 1978 and building permit applications on file at Palo Alto
Development Services.

Table 2. Occupant History of 181 Addison Avenue

Date(s) Occupant(s)/Owner(s), if known Occupation (if listed)
1903-1907 Sarah Louise Kimball Stenographer, Law Office
Mary Ann Kimball (mother)
M. Alice Kimball (sister)
Owner: Sarah Louise Kimball

1908-1910 C. E. Carson Secretary
Mrs. C. E. Carson
Marion Vroom Carson Student, Stanford University
Merwin Bishop Carson Student, Stanford University
1911-1913 Not available
1914-1919 John Fortune Retired
Carrie B. Fortune
Fred A. Fortune Conductor
Marie Fortune
1920-1926 Carrie B. Fortune Housewife
Dewey Fortune Machinist

George W. Fortune
Grace Fortune

1927 Not available
1928-1941 Carrie B. Fortune Housewife
George W. Fortune
George Melton™ Laborer
Grace Melton
1942 Vacant
1944-1946 Herbert W. Beck Pharmacist, Young Drug Co.
Mary M. Beck
1947 Not available
1948 Robert F. & Mary L. Vincent
1949 Not available
1950 Robert P. & Rosemary M. Browder
1951-1952 Not available
1953 Amin & Sheila J. Banani Research assistant, Hoover Institute
1954 Richard H. & Margaret D. Foster
1955 Bruce D. & Virginia L. Mead Carpenter
1956 Edward T. & Betty Marion Student
1957-1962 Oden M. & Mary M. Christenson Photographer, Thomson Lithoplate
1963-1967 Robert L. Mull Bodyman, Ellison’s Body Shop
Charles W. Mull
Owner: Ellison Family
1968-1974 No listing

Owner: Ellison Family

1% Palo Alto AAUW, ...Gone Tomorrow? "Neat Cottages” & "Handsome Residences." (Palo Alto: American Association of University Women, 1971,
revised 1986).

" A birth announcement in the San Francisco Chronicle spells the name “Milton,” and suggests that George and Grace were residing at 181
Addison Avenue as early as 1926; “Births,” San Francisco Chronicle, October 16, 1926.

DPR 523L

Packet Pg. 37




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION

CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary #

HRI #

Trinomial

Page _10 of _12
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc.

Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue

*Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation

Table 2. Occupant History of 181 Addison Avenue

Date(s)

Occupant(s)/Owner(s), if known

Occupation (if listed)

1975-1976

One Eight One Addison Art Gallery
Owner: Ellison Family

1977-present

Donald Ellison
Earl “Buzz” Ellison
Owner: Ellison Family

Artist
Owner, Ellison’s Towing

The following biographical information has been compiled for early and long-term owners of 181 Addison Avenue. Biographical

information has been sourced from historic newspapers, city directories, Ancestry.com, and additional online sources.

Sarah Louise Kimball: Original Owner-Occupant, 1903-1907

Sarah Louise Kimball (1865-1943) was born in La Crosse, Wisconsin, and was an active member of the Daughters of the American
Revolution.' According to a 2001 Palo Alto Historic Resources Board staff report citing Dalles Wood’s History of Palo Alto (1939),
Kimball was a member of one of the six pioneer families of Palo Alto, headed by her cousin P. B. Kimball.'® While living in Oakland,
Sarah Louise Kimball began to acquire properties on Emerson Street, and her father, C. B. Kimball, built several houses for her.
Sarah Louise Kimball moved to 839 Emerson Street in Palo Alto in 1897 before moving to the subject property at 181 Addison
Street in 1903 after its completion. Kimball resided at the subject property with her mother, Mary Ann Kimball, and sister until 1907.
In the 1910 Census, Kimball was listed as living at 161 Addison Street (demolished), immediately south of the subject property.
Kimball, who was employed as a stenographer at a law office, appears to have died unmarried. According to local newspapers,
she was an active member in the California Genealogical Society.™

Ellison Family/Ellison’s Towing: Owners-Occupants, c.1963-present
Earl M. Ellison, Sr. (1901-1981) and his wife, Maxine (1906-2001), moved to Palo Alto from San Francisco and opened Ellison’s
Body, Fender & Radiator, Palo Alto’s first automobile body repair shop, in 1929 at the corner of High and Lytton streets.'® The
building was torn down in 1937, and the business which became known as Ellison’s Body Shop, moved to 705 Alma Street (extant,
but altered)."® Ellison had a daughter, Pauline, and two sons, Earl “Buzz” Ellison, Jr. and Donald “Don” Duane Ellison. Buzz (1926-
2018) took over his father’'s business, running Ellison’s Body Shop until 1998, and also founded Ellison’s Towing in 1965, which still
operates today (Figure 19)."” Donald Ellison (1930-) studied art at San Jose College, the Academy of Art in San Francisco, and
Chounard Art Institute in Los Angeles.'®

Based on building permit applications, the brothers appear to have owned the subject property at 181 Addison Avenue as early as
1963, when Robert L. Mull, a bodyman at Ellison’s body shop resided in the home. From 1975 to 1976, Palo Alto city directories
listed the subject property as “One Eight One Addison Art Gallery,” which was run by Donald. Donald appears to have resided at
the subject property from the mid-1970s until recently, and the property remains in the ownership of the Ellison family. Over the
decades, Earl, Sr. and Buzz Ellison, who both lived in nearby Los Altos, used the large lot at 181 Addison Avenue for vehicle

storage, which resulted in several neighbor complaints and city citations due to the residential zoning of the property.

2 North America, Family Histories, 1500-2000, Daughters of the American Revolution, accessed via Ancestry.com.

134181 Addison Avenue [01-HRB-04],” Historic Resources Board Staff Report, prepared by Dennis Backland, Historic Preservation Planner for the
Historic Resources Board (July 18, 2001).
4 “Society Holds Meeting — California Genealogical Organization Elects Officers for Year,” San Francisco Examiner, March 31, 1912.

15 “Deaths — Maxine Ellison,” Palo Alto Weekly, June 20, 2001; and U.S., Find A Grave Index, 1600s-current, accessed via Ancestry.com.

16 “Old Maskey Building being demolished, 1937,” Photograph 067-084, Guy Miller Collection, Palo Alto Historical Association; and “705 Alma
Street, 1975,” Photograph 086-031, Guy Miller archives, Palo Alto Historical Association.
7 “Earl ‘Buzz’ Ellison: Longtime Los Altos Resident towed a quick wit, valued enthusiasm,” Los Altos Town Crier, June 6, 2018. “Ellison’s Towing &
Transport,” accessed January 4, 2019, https:/ellisonstowing.com/our-founders/; and “2018: The Year in Review,” Los Altos Town Crier, December
26, 2018, https://www.losaltosonline.com/images/a_digital_edition/2018/LATC_12-26-18.pdf.
'8 “Villa Montalvo Gallery Shows Palo Alto Artist,” San Mateo Times, July 3, 1968.

DPR 523L

Packet Pg. 38




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page _11 of _12 Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation [ Update

Figure 19: Earl “Buzz” Ellison, owner, and John Kane, general manager,
of Ellison’s Body Shop and Ellison’s Towing at 705 Alma Street in 1989.
Source: Guy Miller Archives, Palo Alto Historical Association.

Statement of Significance:

The subject property at 181 Addison Avenue has been previously recommended for listing as a Historic Category 2 local historic
resource in accordance with Palo Alto Municipal Code Chapter 16.49 (Historic Preservation Ordinance). This finding was
presented in 2001 by a historic preservation planner at the Palo Alto Planning & Community Environment Department to the
Historic Resources Board; however, an action by the Historic Resources Board does not appear to have been taken either in favor
or rejection of the recommendation.'®

This DPR from report does not address the eligibility of the subject property for listing as a local historic resource under Palo Alto
municipal code. Furthermore, this report does not evaluate the property as a contributor to any potential historic district or as a
potential extension of the existing Professorville Historic District.

In order for a property to be considered eligible for the California Register of Historical Resources (California Register), the property
must possess significance and retain integrity to convey that significance. The criteria for designation are:

1. (Events): Associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of local or regional history
or the cultural heritage of California or the United States.

2. (Persons): Associated with the lives of persons important to local, California or national history.

3. (Architecture): Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region or method of construction or represents
the work of a master or possesses high artistic values.

4. (Information Potential): Has yielded, or has the potential to yield, information important to the prehistory or history of the
local area, California or the nation.

Criterion 1 (Events): 181 Addison Avenue does not appear to be individually eligible for listing in the California Register under
Criterion 1 (Events). 181 Addison Avenue is one of a number of residences built in the University South neighborhood of Palo Alto
during a period of early development around the turn of the twentieth century. The subject is building is not the oldest building in
the neighborhood, nor does it stand out as individually representative of this early period of residential growth. The subject building
is not associated with any significant events, and does not appear to have contributed to the broad patterns of history in Palo Alto,
the state, or the nation, and is, therefore, not individually eligible for the California Register under Criterion 1.

Criterion 2 (Persons): 181 Addison Avenue does not appear to be individually eligible for listing in the California Register under
Criterion 2 (Persons). Available documentation on the former owners and occupants of the subject building does not suggest that
these individuals were particularly significant to local, state, or national history in any way directly associated with the subject
building. The original owner of the property Sarah Louise Kimball worked as a legal stenographer and was part of one of six
pioneer Palo Alto families. Kimball owned and developed several properties in the neighborhood, but does not appear to have had
a significant impact on the development or history of Palo Alto such that the subject property would be eligible for listing in the

9181 Addison Avenue [01-HRB-04],” Historic Resources Board Staff Report, prepared by Dennis Backland, Historic Preservation Planner for the
Historic Resources Board (July 18, 2001).

DPR 523L
Packet Pg. 39




2d

State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page _12 of _12 Resource Name or # 181 Addison Avenue
*Recorded by Page & Turnbull, Inc. *Date January 23, 2019 [X] Continuation [ Update

California Register under Criterion 2. Later owners and occupants, the Ellison Family, continue to run a successful towing business
in Palo Alto; however, the towing business does not appear to have any significance to Palo Alto history or significance within the
industry. Resident Don Ellison worked as an artist and converted the attic of the subject building to a studio, but no specific
information was found about Ellison’s artwork during the course of research. Thus, 181 Addison Avenue does not appear to be
individually eligible for the California Register under Criterion 2.

Criterion 3 (Architecture): 181 Addison Avenue does not appear to be individually eligible for listing in the California Register
under Criterion 3 (Architecture). Information regarding the original construction of the building is limited to early Sanborn maps as
no original building permit application is on file at Palo Alto Development Services, and no original building permit index record is
on file at the Palo Alto Historical Association. The subject building has several unique or unusual features not typical to other
Vernacular bungalows of the same era, including the building’s orientation and the slightly flared eaves of the hipped roof. The
ogee-pattern muntins of the original windows exhibit an attention to craftsmanship. However, overall the building is modest in
design and detail and does not stand out among numerous other residential examples of Vernacular bungalows locally, statewide,
or nationally. Additionally, available documentation and scholarship related to the building does not place it within the portfolio of a
prominent architect or builder who would be considered a master. Therefore, the subject building does not appear to be individually
significant under Criterion 3.

Criterion 4 (Information Potential): 181 Addison Avenue does not appear to be individually eligible under Criterion 4 as a building
that has the potential to provide information important to the prehistory or history of the City of Palo Alto, the state, or the nation. It
does not feature construction or material types, or embody engineering practices that would, with additional study, provide
important information. Page & Turnbull’s evaluation of this property was limited to age-eligible resources above ground and did not
involve survey or evaluation of the subject property for the purposes of archaeological information.

In conclusion, 181 Addison Avenue does not appear to be individually eligible for listing in the California Register under any criteria.

DPR 523L

Packet Pg. 40




2.e

Attachment E

Project Plans
During the ongoing Shelter-in-Place, project plans are only available online.

Directions to review Project plans online:
Go to:

https://www.cityofpaloalto.org/news/displaynews.asp?NewsID=5151&Target|D=319
Scroll down to find “2nd Submittal — Project Plans 02/03/2021” and click the link

On this project specific webpage, you will find a link to the project plans and other
important information

Direct Link to Project Webpage:
http://bit.ly/181AddisonPPMEV

Packet Pg. 41




lots
ct to 60" frontage standard

within the R-1 & R-2 Districts

and subje

—
(5]
Y
Y
=]
m
o
o
Lo
~—
=
(5]
>
<
<
o
2
o
©
<
—
o)
—

Highlighted Features are




Planning & Transportation Commission
Staff Report (ID # 12134)

Report Type: Study Session Meeting Date: 3/31/2021

Summary Title:  Commercial Parking Enhancements and the Draft Palo Alto
Parking Action Plan

Title: Review and Discussion of Proposed Commercial Parking
Enhancements and the Draft Palo Alto Parking Action Plan

From: Philip Kamhi

Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning and Transportation Commission provide feedback on
planned commercial parking enhancements in the University Avenue and California Avenue
commercial parking districts, as well as on related community engagement plans.

Executive Summary

Chief among planned commercial parking enhancement strategies is the opportunity to engage
the community to develop a performance pricing-based commercial pilot. Performance pricing
utilizes pricing to reliably secure parking availability and turnover in popular locations. In
Seattle, where performance pricing is utilized on select blocks, on-street curb space hourly
meter prices can vary month to month, increasing or decreasing according to known pre-set
parameters that follow usage trends. The hourly rate on any particular block is raised or
lowered by 50 cents an hour depending on the previous month’s occupancy rates (below 75%,
the price is lowered; above 85%, the price is raised). If the occupancy rate lands in the desired
75% to 85% range, the price remains the same.

In Palo Alto, a performance pricing approach could entail permit allowances or pricing raising or
lowering in specific zones, lots, or garage floors, depending on pre-set occupancy metrics, in
line with the needs of select blocks or zones. Staff propose scoping out pricing policy options
through a commercial pilot & community engagement process.

Through community engagement to develop a pilot project and approach, the City and
stakeholders can explore which options for moving forward are most reflective of the City’s
parking goals. Existing contracts for services provide key provisions necessary for continuing the

City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services
250 Hamilton Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

(650) 329-2442

Packet Pg. 43




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 2

planning and implementation process. Significant community input is needed to scope out
individual, viable options, and to model financial implications.

Background and Context

City of Palo Alto parking planning efforts in recent years have called into question the efficacy of
the City’s commercial district parking programs. The current 2 hour on-street and 3-hour off-
street parking regulations in the commercial districts, including the Downtown’s color zone
system, poorly manage peak parking demand. This leads to parking congestion and related
impacts in popular locations.

Additionally, the current permit parking systems anticipate employee permit parking demand
as known and static, averaging overall a daily 60% average show rate in City garages and lots.
Over time, the City has adjusted permit sale allowances in these districts to account for this
average 60% show rate, but due to the COVID-19 pandemic and shelter in place order—which
decreased employee-based trips to Palo Alto—employee permit demand changed dramatically
in 2020. Demand may continue to evolve over time as many former commercial district
employees may not return to 40 in-office hours a week immediately or ever. Further, new
district employees may have different parking needs that are unserved by current parking
regulations and permit products.

Finally, free parking (limited to 2-hours and 3-hours) has been a straightforward way to
advertise visitor and guest friendliness. As much as possible, commercial enhancements
proposed by staff will need to be as understandable and easy to read to guests and visitors as
the current time limits.

Parking Work Plan items and Parking Action Plan implementation strategies

While many of the recommendations of previous parking reports and studies have been
planned as long-term items to be addressed in the City’s Parking Work Plan (Attachment A), the
economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have pushed staff to accelerate several strategies
and initiatives in order to mitigate current financial and administrative difficulties more quickly.

The City is currently engaged in developing an online Parking Action Plan to summarize the
results and efforts of several years of parking planning efforts in the City, and to coalesce
community engagement into active implementation strategies.

Packet Pg. 44




City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services Department Page 3
2019: 2021:
2016: 2017: Contract with Automated
Downtown Downtown Duncan License Plate
Parking Parking Solutions for Recognition
Management Management Permit and for Parking
Study Study: Draft Citation Enforcement
Stakeholder Recommend Management and Data
Meetings ations System Collection

2017: 2018: RFP for 2020:
Downtown Permit and Crescent
Parking Citation Park No
Management Management Overnight &
Study: College
Existing Terrace

Conditions Parking
Analysis Permit Portal
Launch

Palo Alto Action Plan graphic

The Office of Transportation is currently focused on the following parking implementation
strategies to advance Parking Work Plan items. These strategies will be formulated, advanced,
and adjusted over time to align with adopted and approved City Council parking policies, and
will be available for review and input on the City’s Parking Action Plan webpage. More on the
City’s development of the Parking Action Plan follows this brief summary list of current,
prioritized implementation strategies and next steps.

Current Prioritized Parking Implementation Strategies
1. Continue to develop and implement Parking Work Plan identified Residential Parking Permit
(RPP) improvements and community engagement efforts, focused on:
e Monthly resident-focused update meetings, with additional focus groups and
customer feedback surveys
e Developing strategies to decrease the number of employee permits sold in the
Downtown and Evergreen-Park Mayfield RPP districts, in favor of utilizing public
garages and lots for employee use
e Developing virtual permit options for RPP customers (to implement several
recommendations in the Parking Work Plan)
2. Resume normal operations and permit sales cycles as soon as possible.
e On-street enforcement in commercial and residential districts to resume May 3
e Off-street enforcement in garages and lots to resume approximately one month
after state and county COVID-19 color tiered restrictions have been rescinded
3. Implement Automated License Plate Reader enforcement and establish parking availability
rates in the RPPs.
e ALPR enforcement in select districts to begin Fall 2021 / Winter 2022
e Fall 2021 through Spring 2022 permit cycles - initial parking availability data to be
collected
e Summer and Fall 2022 - community engagement to establish parking availability
rates

Packet Pg. 45




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 4

4. Develop and pilot new commercial parking regulations, to potentially include mobile
payment options, virtual permit options, and/or hourly performance pricing rates in select
popular parking locations.

e Spring 2021 — initial community engagement and municipal code review to scope
out options:

5. Develop and build out a City of Palo Alto Parking Action Plan as a living document on the
City website, to center and cultivate community engagement with and ownership of the
City’s ongoing parking implementation strategies. Strategies, with scheduled milestones,
opportunities for feedback, and staff updates, will be provided online with at least monthly
updates.

Palo Alto Parking Action Plan

The online Palo Alto Parking Action Plan is being developed as a transparent, customer and data
centric tool for communicating the City’s current comprehensive parking strategies for
developing parking policy and implementation plans in the City of Palo Alto, coordinated by the
Office of Transportation. The overarching goal of the online content is to invite and collect
specific and regular community feedback on prioritizing parking work plan items and
recommended next steps. Goals for the Palo Alto Action Plan include increasing transparency,
adopting a data-driven approach to policy development, centering customer and stakeholder
experiences of parking and transportation issues, and prioritizing sustainability.

From the Palo Alto Action Plan draft principles and vision:

* Transparent: Parking management strategies will be implemented incrementally
through a transparent process that incorporates feedback from the community to
ensure that solutions are equitable and tailored to meet the needs of residents,
business owners, employees, and visitors.

* Data-Driven: Policies will be adjusted periodically based upon parking industry
standards and ongoing data collection. Data-driven decisions will allow the City to
optimize parking operations and make strategic investments.

* Customer Service: Since the parking experience can be the first and last impression that
someone has when visiting Palo Alto, it’s important to implement strategies that
enhance this experience by making parking easy to find, accessible, safe, and affordable.
Parking technology can be leveraged by business owners to provide incentives and
promotions to their customers to use parking as a customer service tool and support
economic vitality.

* Sustainable: Financial and environmental sustainability are important elements of the
City’s parking program. Strategic and cost-effective investments in parking technology
can be sustained by forecasted parking revenue, while promoting alternative modes of
transportation can reduce greenhouse gas emissions, mitigate parking demand, and
avoid costly investments in additional parking supply.

Packet Pg. 46




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 5

Discussion

While the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have dramatically reduced parking
demand in Palo Alto parking districts, on-street commercial curb spaces and certain off-street
parking spaces remain more popular than others. Specific blocks and lots in the most easily
accessible locations prove difficult to find parking availability in (at times of peak demand),
while nearby garage parking spaces may be plentiful but unutilized, as their use is
unincentivized. Investment in wayfinding guidance and better advertising of garage parking
availability (see the Automated Parking Guidance System project, and Parking Work Plan items)
will increase utilization of parking supply investments, but do not address the need to have
better tools for managing parking demand. Without parking management intervention, driver
searching and re-parking behaviors (drivers circling in search of free on-street space and moving
one’s vehicle every two hours to avoid employee permit fees and $25 daily fees) will continue
to create congestion at future peak demand times on heavily visited commercial blocks.

Performance pricing of the most popular parking spaces will provide numerous benefits to
multiple stakeholder groups. Performance pricing is in line with industry best practices.
Combining performance pricing with City efforts to improve parking wayfinding guidance
through the APGS project in City-owned garages will give City staff tools to reduce traffic
congestion caused by drivers searching for parking spaces. With new revenue streams
potentially created from parking pricing, the City may be able to fund tools to encourage
alternative modes of travel, including transit, walking, and bicycling. These alternative modes
align with City sustainable transportation goals.

In Palo Alto, the City could—for example—charge for the most popular on-street parking
spaces, while allowing garages and lots to remain free for 2 hours or 3 hours. This encourages
visitors to commercial districts to go to the garage instead of circling around in search of on-
street parking.

The following are some ways the City could pilot performance pricing. The Office of
Transportation will work with stakeholders, including residents and businesses, to get feedback
on these options. Staff seek the PTC’s feedback on these options as well as any suggestions
regarding garnering community feedback.

Potential future enhancements for moving forward include the following possibilities. Staff
invites feedback and input on these potential strategies:

e Pilot hourly rates — These could be trialed in either the most popular locations or blocks
to start, with to be determined partner technology (a Request For Information process
would be initiated), or in select garage spaces (powered by Indect automated parking
guidance systems procured in the new California Ave. garage and planned for select
Downtown garages, as well).

e Hourly time extension options — The ability to purchase hourly time extension beyond
current 2 and 3-hour limits, but without immediately jumping to the daily $25 rate,

Packet Pg. 47




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 6

could be advantageous. This pricing could escalate in price severity over the course of a
day, capped at $25 daily for a stay of 5 to 6 hours or more.

e Customer-centric approaches — These involve parking fee validations or other
programmatic interventions that cater to specific user groups and customers.

Timeline
As outlined in the Parking Work Plan, staff will be engaging regularly with the PTC, City Council,
and interested stakeholders over the remainder of this fiscal year through Fiscal Year 2021-22.

Resource Impact

The recommendations in this report, including those in the Parking Action Plan, may have
financial implications. Resource impacts are dependent on policy decisions that will be
discussed throughout this process. Potential future enhancements for moving forward will be
aligned with previously budgeted parking planning services underway, proportionately paid out
of each of the City's commercial and residential parking funds. Staff are developing revenue and
expense estimates of policy decisions and proposals to define the relationships between
parking funds to potentially allow for greater flexibility in the City’s overall parking system. As
policy direction is provided, any corresponding budgetary information and recommendations
will be brought forward as appropriate.

Policy Implications

Regulating parking is consistent with the City’s three-pronged approach to reduce traffic and
parking demand and to manage parking within the Downtown core. In addition, the programs
discussed in this report address the following existing Comprehensive Plan policies, goals and
programs:

e Policy T-1.1 Take a comprehensive approach to reducing single-occupant vehicle trips by
involving those who live, work and shop in Palo Alto in developing strategies that make
it easier and more convenient not to drive.

e Goal T-5 Encourage attractive, convenient, efficient and innovative parking solutions for
all users.

e Policy T-5.2 Continue to implement a comprehensive program of parking supply and
demand management strategies citywide to optimize the use of existing parking spaces.

e Program T5.2.1 Use technology to help identify parking availability and make it easy to
pay any parking fees.

e Program T5.2.2 Study and implement pricing strategies for public parking in commercial
districts, taking into consideration both employee parking demand and the needs of
retailers and customers. Use pricing to encourage short term parking on street, long
term parking in parking garages and the use of alternative modes of transportation.

Packet Pg. 48




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 7

e Program T5.2.3 Implement Council-adopted recommendations from the parking
management study for the Downtown area, which address the feasibility of removing
color-coded parking zones, and dynamic pricing and management policies to prioritize
short term parking spaces closest to the commercial core for customers, garage parking
for employees and neighborhood parking for residents.

e Policy T-5.3 Work with merchants when designating dedicated employee (long term)
parking areas in public parking lots and garages

e Policy T-5.5 Minimize the need for employees to park in and adjacent to commercial
centers, employment districts and schools.

e Policy T-5.11 Work to protect residential areas from parking impacts of nearby
businesses and uses, recognizing that fully addressing some existing intrusions may take
time.

e Policy B-1.2 Promote Palo Alto’s image as a business-friendly community. Assume an
active role in fostering businesses, including small start-ups, entrepreneurs, and
innovative businesses.

e Policy B-1.3 Engage with all stakeholders in the community, including businesses of all
sizes, local retailers, the public, and City decision-makers in order to understand the
challenges businesses and employers face.

e Policy B-2.3 Recognize that employers, businesses and neighborhoods share many
values and concerns, including traffic and parking issues and preserving Palo Alto’s
livability, and need to work together with a priority on neighborhood quality of life.

e Policy B-3.3 Develop strategies for promoting businesses and employers that generate
revenues that will support a full range of high-quality City services, including retain and
attract revenue-generating businesses.

e Policy B-4.2 Attract and support small businesses, start-ups, non-profit organizations,
and professional services, which are vital to a diverse and innovative economy.

e Policy B-6.1 Support and enhance the University Avenue/ Downtown area as a vital
mixed use area prioritizing retail, personal service, small office, start-ups, restaurant,
residential and arts and entertainment uses. Recognize the importance of an
appropriate retail mix, including small local businesses, to the continued vitality of
Downtown.

e Program B6.1.1 Actively work with Downtown businesses, professional associations and

Packet Pg. 49




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 8

the Palo Alto Chamber of Commerce to retain successful retail businesses that
contribute to the City’s goals for Downtown.

Stakeholder Engagement

Staff will continue to conduct community/stakeholder engagement throughout the
development of improvements to the parking programs, as described in the current prioritized
parking implementation strategies section above.

Environmental Review
Providing feedback as recommended in this report is not a project under CEQA and review is
not required at this time.

Report Author & Contact Information PTC Liaison & Contact Information
Nathan Baird, Parking Manager Rachael Tanner, Assistant Director
(650) 329 2340 (650) 329-2167
Nathan.Baird @CityofPaloAlto.org rachael.tanner@cityofpaloalto.org
Attachments:
e Attachment A: Parking Work Plan 2021.03.24 (PDF)

(11 Emails may be sent directly to the PTC using the following address: planning.commission@cityofpaloalto.org

Packet Pg. 50




Attachment A: Parking Work Plan

3.a

Summary of Recommendation (See
Column C for full text):

FULL MRG RECOMMENDATION TEXT

Prioritized Action for
Progress (City Council, City
Manager, PTC)

LAST UPDATED: 3/24/2021

~

New comprehensive parking permit and
citation management system.

Improve Parking Permit Management System — A contract should be
approved to develop, implement, support and maintain a new
comprehensive parking permit and citation management system.
This contract is expected to be presented to the City Council in FY
2018-19.

City Council — Action by City
Council

IN PROGRESS: (add council links)

N

Study Downtown for options for new
commercial pricing models. Create public
roadmap to build community support.

Conduct Downtown Parking Operational Study — A contract
(amendment) should be approved that provides the information and
specific steps needed to move the City forward from a parking
program built around a rigid system of pre-paid permits to a
program built around the dynamic monitoring of usage and the
application of pricing. It would also provide a roadmap to build
community support for this effort. This contract is expected tobe
presented to the City Council in FY 2018-19.

City Council — Action by City
Council

STUDY COMPLETE: (Link to
Downtown Study). IN PROGRESS:
Create public roadmap to build
community support. See online Palo
Alto Action Plan.

w

PTC review.

The engagement of the community in making modifications to the
Program is imperative and could occur through the Planning and
Transportation Commission or, as the City did five years ago, through
a working group. To be effective, the City Council should be clear on
the effort’s purpose, scope of work, parameters, and schedule.
There are nine recommendations in this report that are identified to
be referred to the Commission/Group. If a working group is selected,
the membership should not exceed 12 individuals.

City Council — Action by City
Council

IN PROGRESS: Staff will convene
review and feedback from both the
PTC and local stakeholders.

N

Add Parking Manager.

Increase Staff Resources — The City should add a Parking Manager to
the Office of Transportation to meet the existing workload and to
manage the improvements needed to move parking services
forward. This proposal is expected to be presented to the City
Council as part of the Proposed Operating Budget for FY 2019-20.

City Council — Action by City
Council

COMPLETED:
nathan.baird@cityofpaloalto.org

wn

Amend National Citizen Survey to ask
opinion of RPP Program.

Amend the National Citizen Survey — To measure the long-term
effectiveness of the RPP Program, consider adding a question to the
annual National Citizen Survey (Palo Alto Community Survey
Supplement) to obtain the opinion of the City’s households (28% of
all households) about the Residential Preferential Parking Program.

City Council — Action by City
Council

NEXT STEP TBD

(2}

OOT update of codes and guidelines.

Update Codes and Guidelines — The following regulations should be
updated to reflect the changes in staff authority and responsibility
with the establishment of the Office of Transportation (a) Chapter
10.50 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code, and (b) the Residential Permit
Parking Administrative Guidelines.

City Manager — Action by City
Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

IN PROGRESS: (Dixon contract link)

7 |Clarify Downtown RPP boundary. Clarify the Downtown Residential Permit Parking District Boundary — |City Manager — Action by City [NEXT STEP TBD
Remove the ambiguity in the Resolution that adopted the boundary |Manager and Return to City
of the Downtown Residential Permit Parking District that does not  |Council as Needed
appear to include the Downtown commercial area.
8 |Advertise available employee parking Communicate Availability of Employee Parking Spaces — The City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD
spaces. availability of employee parking permits in underutilized RPP zones [Manager and Return to City
should be communicated to employees who have been denied Council as Needed
spaces in their preferred zone.
9 |Advertise available Downtown reserved [Communicate Available Downtown Reserved Parking Spaces — The  [City Manager — Action by City [NEXT STEP TBD

spaces.

availability of reserved spaces in the Downtown garages and lots
should be communicated to employees who have been denied
spaces in their preferred garages or lots.

Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

10

Improve website.

Improve Parking Website — The City of Palo Alto parking website
should be updated to ensure it is complete, user-friendly and
intuitive.

City Manager — Action by City
Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

IN PROGRESS: New City website
launches March 23?, 2021

11 |Evaluate preference for "Neighborhood |Evaluate “Neighborhood Serving Businesses” — Giving “neighborhood|City Manager — Action by City [NEXT STEP TBD
Serving Business" parking needs. serving businesses” a preference in obtaining employee parking Manager and Return to City
permits should be reviewed by the City Administration to determine |Council as Needed
its policy, administrative, and legal implications.
12 |Reserved spaces. Examine Purchase of Reserved Parking Spaces by Businesses Located |City Manager — Action by City |IN PROGRESS

Outside of a Business District — The City Administration should
determine the ability of employees of a business located outside of a
business district that helped to fund a garage, to purchase reserved
parking spaces in that garage.

Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

Packet Pg. 51




3.a

13 [Measure TDM outcomes. Measure the Performance of Transportation Demand Management |City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD
Initiatives — The efforts of the Transportation Management Manager and Return to City
Association and the City’s Shuttle Service should ultimately result in [Council as Needed
a reduction in the number of employees and business patrons who
would otherwise need parking spaces. Outcome-based performance
measures should be designed and utilized to determine the
effectiveness of these efforts and to guide the direction of these
services.

14 |Evaluate shared rides for relieving Evaluate Impact of Shared Rides — Evaluate the existing and potential|City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD

parking demand. use of services like Uber and Lyft to reduce the demand for parking |Manager and Return to City
as well as the impact on traffic. Council as Needed

15 |Reparking regulation signage. Determine Best Reparking Regulation — Re-evaluate the value of City Manager — Action by City |IN PROGESS: City council link for
trying to explain to motorists the meaning of the term “Initial” asit [Manager and Return to City  [McGuire contract
relates to the reparking of a vehicle versus the confusion created by |Council as Needed
the attempt to explain the term, and consider alternatives, such as
“No same day reparking.”

16 |Daily permit option needs to be Improve Process to Purchase Daily Permits — In the near-term, until a|City Manager — Action by City |IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto

improved. paid hourly system is implemented, the purchase of daily permits Manager and Return to City  |Action Plan and current
should be improved in terms of communications with the public, Council as Needed Implementation Strategies.
access to pay-on-foot, and multi-day permits.

17 |Consider paid hourly parking. Consider Paid Hourly Parking — A plan should be developed to initiate |City Manager — Action by City [IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
a paid parking program in the City’s garages and lots. A paid parking [Manager and Return to City  [Action Plan and current
program could retain the initial three hours’ parking in garages to be |Council as Needed Implementation Strategies.
free and set a reasonable fee above that time, versus the current
jump to $25 after three hours. This recommendation could be
incorporated with recommendation #2, above.

18 |Garage and lot payment schedule. Change Payment Schedule for Reserved Parking in Garages and Lots [City Manager — Action by City [IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
—The 3-, 6-, and 12-month pay in advance permit system should be |Manager and Return to City  |Action Plan and current
replaced with a monthly payment system that would be more Council as Needed Implementation Strategies.
amendable to the parker, and eliminate the accounting associated
with the reimbursement of early termination.

19 |Customer driven measurements of Institute a Performance-Driven System — A performance metric City Manager — Action by City |IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto

quality of service. should be established that measures the user’s perception of the Manager and Return to City  |Action Plan and current
quality of service to identify areas where corrective actions are Council as Needed Implementation Strategies.
needed, and which is used to take appropriate actions.

20 [Routinely check qualifications of permit [Maintain Integrity of Program — The City should routinely check the |City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD

holders. qualifications of permittees and the uses of permits. Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

21 |Process new permit parking districts. Process Applications for New Residential Permit Parking Districts — |City Manager — Action by City |COMPLETE: Old Palo Alto RPP was
Processing the proposals by the Old Palo Alto Neighborhood and the |Manager and Return to City  |approved by Council (link). NEXT
Green Acre Neighborhood should move forward pursuant to the Council as Needed STEP TBD
schedule identified in Chapter 10.50 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code,
subject to the availability of adequate resources.

22 |Add new requests to backlog of work. Treat Requests for Annexations Like Other Requests for Service — City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD
The request to annex an area on the west side of El Camino between |Manager and Return to City
Stanford Avenue and Park Boulevard into the Evergreen Park- Council as Needed
Mayfield RPP District should follow the provisions in the RPP
Ordinance and the RPP Administrative Guidelines and should be
placed into the backlog of work to be performed by parking services.

23 |Stanford game day time limits to add to  [Minor Modifications to a Residential Permit Parking District — City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD

EPM RPP district, when possible. Because all changes in an RPP district may have unintended Manager and Return to City
consequences and therefore warrant an appropriate level of Council as Needed
evaluation, requests for modifications to an RPP district should be
placed into the backlog of work to be performed by parking services.
Two examples of this type of request include extending the days that
parking time limits apply in the Evergreen Park-Mayfield RPP District
to include those days games and other major events are held at
Stanford University; and extending the duration of the parking time
limits in the Downtown RPP zones near the commercial areas to
curtail non-permitted employee parking.

24 |Evaluate consolidating parking Evaluate Consolidation of Parking Compliance Functions — The City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD

compliance functions. consolidation of the parking compliance functions in the Police Manager and Return to City
Department and the Office of Transportation should be evaluated. |Council as Needed
25 [Review citation fees Review Parking Citation Fees — The fee schedule for parking City Manager — Action by City |NEXT STEP TBD

infractions should be reviewed on a regular basis as part of the
Master Fee schedule.

Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

Packet Pg. 52




3.a

26

Subsidize RPP Program appropriately.

Review the Level of Funding Subsidy of the Residential Permit
Parking Program — A review of the expenditures and revenues for
the Residential Permit Parking Fund should be performed to ensure
the level of support from the General Fund is appropriate.

City Manager — Action by City
Manager and Return to City
Council as Needed

NEXT STEP TBD

27

Establish "Parking Availability Standards"

Establish “Parking Availability Standards” — Parking availability
standards should be established for the Downtown, Evergreen Park-
Mayfield, and Southgate Residential Permit Parking Districts
considering the residents’ perceptions of the impact of parking
availability on their quality of life. Changes in the number of
employee permits and boundaries of existing RPP districts should be
deferred until parking availability standards are approved by the City
Council.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

28

Reduce availability of employee RPP
permits.

Establish Approach to Reduce Employee Parking Permits — Develop a
“quid-pro-quo” approach to reduce RPP employee permits where
the addition of “employee spaces” in garages and lots triggers the
reduction of RPP employee parking permits.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

29

auto renewal option

Provide Automatic Renewal for Employee Parking Permits — To avoid
the mad dash to obtain a permit at the twice-a-year sale event, the
City should consider providing for the automatic renewal of
employee parking permits and the ability of applicants to be on a
wait list.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

30

monthly payment

Change Payment Schedule for Employee Parking Permits — The six-
month pay in advance permit system should be replaced with a
monthly payment system that would be more amendable to the
parker and provide greater equity for employees whose duration of
employment is less than six months.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

31

Increase cost RPP employee permit over
garage & lot permits

Increase Cost of Employee Parking Permits — Consideration should
be given to increase the cost of an RPP employee parking permit so
that it is greater than the cost of a reserved space in a garage or lot,
in order to incentivize parkers to choose off-street parking over on-
street parking.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

32

standardize employee permit costs

Standardize Cost of Employee Parking Permits — The cost of
employee parking permits between the RPP districts should be the
same, unless there are extenuating circumstances. The cost of a six-
month employee parking permit is $74.50 in the Southgate District;
$187.50 in the Evergreen Park-Mayfield District; and $375.00 in the
Downtown District.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

NEXT STEP TBD

33

$15 monthly reduced price employee
permit for low-income employees

Change Payment Schedule and Increase Cost of Reduced-Price
Parking Permits — The reduced-price parking permit is designed to
support low-income employees (e.g. $50,000 or less annual income).
When a monthly payment system is available, the cost of the permit
should be at least $15.00 per month, which is less than $1 per day
for a full-time employee. This amount is less than an outlay of $50
for the current six-month permit, and for some employees may be
preferable.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

NEXT STEP TBD; MODIFIED IN
PROGRESS: Develop new low-
income permit option for
commercial districts, which do not
currently have such an option.

34

standardize # of resident permits, cost of
resident permits, availability of single-day
permits

Remove Inconsistences Between Districts — Inconsistencies between
Residential Preferential Permit Parking districts should be
eliminated, unless there are extenuating circumstances. The
inconsistences include, but are not necessarily limited to, the
number of resident permits, the cost of resident permits, and the
number of single-day permits.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

35

review renewal dates

Review Renewal Dates — The renewal dates for residential and
employee permits should be reviewed to determine the most
efficient schedule for the City to administer that is still convenient
for users.

Community Engagement —
Obtain Community Input and
Return to City Council with
Recommendations

IN PROGRESS: See online Palo Alto
Action Plan and current
Implementation Strategies.

www.cityofpaloalto.org/parking

Packet Pg. 53




Planning & Transportation Commission
Staff Report (ID # 12044)

Report Type: Action Items Meeting Date: 3/31/2021
Summary Title:  Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Safety Improvement Project

Title: Review and Discuss Two Concept Plan Alternatives for
Improvements to the Alma Street and Churchill Avenue
Intersection and Recommend a Preferred Alternative to City
Council

From: Philip Kamhi

Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning and Transportation Commission review the two concept
plan alternatives for improvements to the Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Intersection and
recommend a preferred alternative to the City Council.

Executive Summary

The California Department of Transportation Division of Rail, in cooperation with the Peninsula
Corridor Joint Power Board (also known as Caltrain or JPB) and the City of Palo Alto, proposes a
railroad crossing improvement project at Churchill Ave in Palo Alto. The intersection was
identified for safety improvements as part of Section 130 federal funding for hazard elimination
on the railroad crossing.

The final recommendations of the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) Rail Crossing
Engineering Section staff for purposes of itemizing the safety improvements to be funded under
the Section 130 program for the above noted at-grade railroad crossing, was developed by a
diagnostic team. The diagnostic team analyzed the existing situation with respect to vehicular
travel, bicycle travel, pedestrian pathways, and rail traffic, and determined that the identified
improvements will improve safety and that these improvements are 100% funded by the
Section 130 Program. The Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board (JPB) and the City will be
required to coordinate their respective work items.

In August 2019, the California Department of Transportation’s (Caltrans) Division of Rail and
Mass Transportation executed a Service Contract No. 75LX335, with the City of Palo Alto. This

City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services
250 Hamilton Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

(650) 329-2442

Packet Pg. 54




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 2

was regarded as Notice to Proceed for the City to complete the work as outlined in the Service
Contract.

In September 2020, City Council authorized a contract with BKF Engineers to prepare plan line
concepts, final design plans, permits, and construction documents for improvements to the
intersection of Alma Street and Churchill Avenue. The objectives of the project are to improve
the safety, efficiency, and experience of the intersection and rail crossing for pedestrians,
bicyclists, and motorists. As per the scope of improvements listed in the Service Contract with
Caltrans, BKF Engineers in consultation with City staff, developed two alternative concept plans
as shown in Attachment B and as described below:

e Alternative 1 includes installation of a traffic pre-signal, relocation of some traffic
signals, replacement of the existing pedestrian crossing markings, reconstruction of
pedestrian curb ramps, widening pedestrian sidewalks at the northeast and northwest
corners of the intersection, additional bike lane markings at the east and west of the
intersection, relocation of pedestrian emergency gates, extension of pedestrian railroad
gate arm, and installation of additional concrete walkway area at the northwestern
pedestrian railroad crossing.

e Alternative 2 includes all of the improvements listed in Alternative 1 with the addition of
the removal of the right turn only lane from southbound Alma to westbound Churchill,
allowing for the construction of additional concrete pedestrian area at the northwest
corner of the intersection, the construction of green infrastructure at the location of the
existing right turn lane, and the increase in lane widths on Alma Street north of the
intersection. The second through southbound lane will be converted to a shared
through-right turn.

Background

The intersection of Alma Street and Churchill Avenue is situated in a key location due to its
proximity to an active railroad, Palo Alto High School, and a separated bike path. This
intersection has been an area of concern due to the high volumes of vehicular, bicycle, and
pedestrian traffic that occurs predominantly around the morning and afternoon commutes as
students are traveling to and from school.

The Railway-Highway Crossings (Section 130) Program overseen by The US Department of
Transportation Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) provides funds for the elimination of
hazards at railway-highway crossings. The Section 130 Program has been correlated with a
significant decrease in collisions and fatalities at railway-highway grade crossings. The Section
130 program funds are eligible for projects at all public crossings including roadways, bike trails,
and pedestrian paths.

On September 28, 2020, the City Council authorized a contract with BKF Engineers for the
Churchill Avenue and Alma Street Railroad Crossing Safety Improvement Plan, which includes
preparation of concept plans, final design plans, and construction documents, for intersection
improvements at Churchill avenue and Alma Road. Improvements include, but are not limited

Packet Pg. 55




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 3

to, traffic signal modifications, sidewalk widening, high-visibility crosswalks, signing and
striping, and pedestrian railroad crossing improvements.

Concurrently with the above described City project, JPB is developing project plans for
improvements within their right of way at this intersection. JPB and the City are coordinating
the improvements at the intersection to ensure that each entity’s respective work items are
compatible. JPB will be responsible for the majority of the construction and improvements
within their right of way, and the City will manage the construction and improvements within
the City’s right of way. Attachment F shows the City’s and JPB’s limits of work for each
alternative concept plan.

Discussion

Initial Conceptual Design

A diagnostic team comprising of staff from CPUC, Caltrans, JPB, and the City of Palo Alto
developed the initial scope of work for the project as detailed in the City’s contract with
Caltrans. The specific scope of work is limited to:

e Installation of a traffic signal pre-signal
e Modification of existing traffic signals including
0 Relocating traffic signals
0 Replacing traffic signal poles and heads
0 Updating the phasing and timing of the intersection
e Replacement of the existing pedestrian crossing markings
e Reconstruction of pedestrian curb ramps
e Widen pedestrian sidewalks at northeast and northwest corners of the intersection
e Extension of pedestrian sidewalk gate mast arm
e Relocation of pedestrian emergency access swing gate
e Installation of concrete panels at the pedestrian railroad crossing
e Install new street lighting
e Relocation of utilities as necessary

Using the scope of improvements outlined in the contract with Caltrans, BKF Engineers in
consultation with City staff created a conceptual plan showing two alternatives (see
Attachment A, January 12, 2021 Conceptual Plan Exhibit).

Alternative 1 proposes:
e Installation of a traffic signal pre-signal
e Relocation of traffic signals
e Replacement of the existing pedestrian crossing markings
e Reconstruction of pedestrian curb ramps
e \Widened pedestrian sidewalks at the northeast and northwest corners of the
intersection

Packet Pg. 56




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 4

Alternative 2 proposes all the improvements of Alternative 1 with the addition of the removal
of the right turn only lane from southbound Alma to westbound Churchill and changing the
outer through lane to a through and right turn lane. The removal of the right turn lane results
in:

o The construction of additional pedestrian queuing space at the northwestern corner of
the intersection

o The reduction on the length of the pedestrian crosswalk from the northeastern corner
to the northwestern corner

o The ability to widen the existing vehicle lanes on Alma west of the intersection to meet
City standards

o The construction of green infrastructure in the location of the existing right-turn lane

Traffic Stud

Hexagon Transportation Consultants prepared a traffic analysis of Alma Street and Churchill
Avenue intersection titled “Traffic Analysis of Potential Alma Street/Churchill Avenue Railroad
Crossing Safety Improvements” in February 2021. This memo is included in this report as
Attachment C. The memo analyzed the performance of the intersection in the existing
condition, in the proposed alternative one condition, in the proposed alternative one condition
with signal timing improvements, and in the proposed alternative two conditions with signal
timing improvements.

Observed Existing Traffic Conditions

As part of the project concept development, Hexagon observed existing traffic conditions and
utilized existing (pre-pandemic) data at the project study location, during AM and PM peak
periods. They identified several operational issues, all of which are discussed below:

AM Peak

o Long vehicular queues were observed for the northbound left-turn movement on Alma
Street and westbound Churchill Avenue.

o Vehicles in the northbound left-turn lane frequently extended out of the left-turn
pocket, into the adjacent through lane, because of signal preemption and school traffic.

o Palo Alto High School is located on the northwest quadrant of Alma Street and Churchill

Avenue, and during the school peak hour, which starts around 8 AM, it was observed
that vehicular queues from Palo Alto High School frequently extended up to Alma
Street. As a result, during some cycles, the northbound left-turning vehicles could not
turn on green.

J After signal pre-emption, vehicles in the northbound left-turn lane have to wait for
approximately two minutes before receiving a green signal. As a result, queues for the
northbound left-turn movement frequently extended past Tennyson Avenue and did
not clear in one signal cycle.

J Vehicular queues on westbound Churchill frequently extended past Emerson Street. No
turn lanes are provided on westbound Churchill Avenue. Although through traffic is
restricted during the AM school peak hour, the right turning traffic must yield to a high

Packet Pg. 57




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 5

number of bicycles and pedestrians crossing the north leg of this intersection, resulting
in long vehicular queues.

PM Peak Hour
o Long vehicular queues were observed on eastbound Churchill Avenue.
o Queues frequently extended past Madrono Avenue due to signal preemption. Vehicular

gqueues on eastbound Churchill Avenue could not clear in one signal cycle.

After School Peak Hour

o Based on the traffic counts, long vehicular queues exist on eastbound Churchill Avenue,
which extend onto Paly Road because of school traffic leaving the school. Paly Road
provides access to Palo Alto High School.

Proposed Project Improvements

The proposed railroad crossing improvements include the installation of a pre-signal on
eastbound Churchill Avenue to prevent vehicles from queueing on the railroad tracks. The pre-
signal would restrict vehicles from turning right on red and would potentially affect vehicular
capacity at the Churchill/Alma intersection.

The analysis of the installation of a pre-signal on eastbound Churchill Avenue showed that the
delay for the eastbound approach would increase significantly during the analyzed time
periods. However, with the implementation of improvements to the traffic signal operations,
the analysis showed that the adverse effects to vehicular traffic from the pre-signal proposed
railroad crossing safety improvements would be mitigated.

Analysis of the alternative 2 concept that includes the elimination of the southbound right-turn
lane on Alma Street in order to provide a larger waiting area for pedestrians and bicycles on the
northwest corner of the Alma/Churchill Avenue intersection was performed. The analysis
showed that this improvement would increase the delay for the southbound approach on Alma
Street as the right-turns would occur from the outer through lane on Alma Street. However,
with the implementation of the improvements to the traffic signal operations, the overall
intersection delay during the peak hour periods would be lower than the delay in the baseline
existing, and baseline electrification conditions.

The table below, from the Traffic Analysis memo, summarizes AM, After School, and PM peak
hour intersection delays and levels of service at the Alma/Churchill intersection under existing
conditions and with the proposed safety improvements.

Packet Pg. 58




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 6

Existing + Safety +
Existing + Safety Signal Improvement

Existing + Safety + Signal + No Right-Turn
Existing ! Improvement : Improvement : Lane *
Peak Avg. Avg. Avg. Ay,
Intersection Hour Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  AM B8.51 F 96.13 F 559 E 6376 E
After
! 108, ]
School 55.86 E 0e.18 F 5417 0 56.65 E
PM 8715 E 91,06 F 5953 E 61.23 E
IHotes

Ao Delay = Swerage Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Sendce
msumc&m aperate during e '-hmkliaw,- AN and F'M. commule peak hours and a lotal of 2 ranis wene EISSUI‘.I'IUU o operate during the school PM poak
mour,

¢ Safery improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Awnue from east of the tracks 1o west of the tracks. The
eastbound right-tum traffic would not be allowad to tum on red

* Analysiz assumes relocation of the siop ling an eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the esstbound right-
e raflic. Also assumes modiications e the signal lmings thal would aflow a lag phasing Tor the northbound lefl-um mosement on Alma Streel, The
eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green time for the weatbound approach,

4 Analysis includes elimination of the scuthbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the nordhwest comer of
[ihe intersection

Community Outreach and Project Coordination

Various outreach and coordination meetings have been conducted to educate the community
on project objectives, solicit site-specific feedback on existing issues, understand existing
community concerns, and coordinate proposed improvements with entities that operate and
oversee the nearby railroad facilities.

Community Meeting #1

The first community meeting was held virtually on January 21, 2021 over Zoom which was
attended by 28 people. Residents living within 1000 feet radius of Alma/Churchill intersection
were notified of this meeting through a postcard. An ad was also published in the local
newspaper one month before the meeting date. Meeting details were also posted on City’s
social media sites such as Nextdoor and Facebook encouraging people to attend and/or send
comments. The purpose of this virtual meeting was to introduce the project, present existing
conditions, and receive feedback from the public on preliminary designs. A formal presentation
of the project and two design alternatives was followed by a question-and-answer session
during which attendees could share their questions and comments verbally or through the Q&A
panel in Zoom. Polls were conducted to better understand how attendees currently use the
intersection and which of the two preliminary designs they preferred.

Staff received many constructive comments from the community. Most were related to specific

bicycle and pedestrian improvements, safety, and overall connectivity. Below is a list of some of

the concerns and questions that attendees expressed about the proposed project:

o Some attendees were concerned that alternative 2 would prevent motorists from
turning right from southbound Alma Street onto westbound Churchill Avenue. It was

Packet Pg. 59




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 7

clarified that alternative 2 retains the ability for motorists to make a southbound right
turn by providing a shared through/right turn lane.

o Some attendees expressed concerns about the impacts of the Churchill Avenue pre-
signal creating a traffic backup for eastbound Churchill Avenue to El Camino Real. It was
noted that based on the traffic analysis, the net effect of the pre-signal in conjunction
with various signal phasing and timing changes would be a significant potential decrease
in overall delay at the intersection.

o Attendees also had questions and comments regarding how the proposed changes will
impact traffic within the intersection and along corridors adjacent to the intersection.

At the end of the presentation and Q&A, the attendees were polled as to which alternative they
preferred. Of the response received, 6 attendees noted that they would prefer alternative 1,
and 4 attendees noted that they would prefer alternative 2.

A full summary of the community meeting held on January 21, 2021 prepared by Callander
Associates is included in this report as Attachment D.

Pedestrian and Bicycle Advisory Committee (PABAC) Meeting #1

At the February 2, 2021 virtual PABAC meeting, the project team presented this project to the
committee followed by an opportunity for the committee members to share their questions
and comments. In addition to the questions shared during the meeting, the committee was
encouraged to submit any follow-up questions or comments via e-mail to staff.

Staff received many constructive comments from the committee. Most were related to specific
bicycle and pedestrian improvements, safety, and overall connectivity. Below is a list of some of
the concerns and questions that attendees had about the proposed project:

o Some attendees were concerned that there are difficulties for bikers coming from
school to continue east on Churchill Avenue on the correct side of the street with the
normal flow of traffic.

J Some attendees noted bike marking improvements, and signal timing improvements
found at other locations in Palo Alto as a means to provide safer movements for
bicyclists and pedestrians through the intersection.

J Attendees expressed gratitude that the proposed project is moving forward due to the
high volume of pedestrian and bicyclists that use this intersection.

A full summary of the PABAC meeting held on February 2, 2021 prepared by Callander
Associates is included in this report as Attachment E.

City School Traffic Safety Committee Meeting (CSTSC) #1

At the February 18, 2021 virtual CSTSC meeting, staff presented this project to the committee
followed by an opportunity for the committee members to share their questions and
comments. In addition to the questions shared during the meeting, the committee was
encouraged to submit any follow-up questions or comments via e-mail to staff.

Packet Pg. 60




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 8

Staff received one comment in support for the addition of traffic pre-signal for eastbound
traffic on Churchill Avenue. This pre-signal would reduce the number of vehicles waiting on
tracks between signal times as witnessed several times by this attendee. Another comment
received was to extend the clearance time for the tracks by increasing the yellow phase for
eastbound traffic on Churchill.

Stakeholder Meetings

Since October 2020, the design team has been conducting monthly stakeholder check-in
meetings to give the pertinent stakeholders an update on the project’s progress, and provide a
forum for the design team, City, and stakeholders to discuss and coordinate the proposed
improvements. The stakeholders that are involved with the monthly meeting include:

J Design team - BKF Engineers, Hexagon Transportation Consultants, Callander Associates
. The City of Palo Alto

J Caltrans

J The California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC)

o Caltrain/JPB

City staff has also been coordinating with another City project “Churchill Avenue Enhanced
Bikeway project” which is currently underway and extends the bike path along Churchill Avenue
from Castilleja Avenue/Paly Road to Stanford Perimeter Trail. In addition, the project includes
safety improvements at the intersection of El Camino Real and Churchill Avenue and various
improvements at intersections on Churchill Avenue from Castilleja Avenue to El Camino Real.

Project limit for Churchill Avenue/Alma Street Railroad Crossing Safety Improvement project
ends on Churchill Alma just east of Mariposa Avenue. Upon discussing with Caltrans during the
stakeholder’s meetings and explaining the potential gap in paving for one block (on Churchill
from Castilleja Avenue to Mariposa Avenue), Caltrans has agreed to extend the paving limits on
Churchill Avenue until just east of Castilleja Avenue as a part of this project to match with
Enhanced Bikeway project.

Current Design
Through input from the community, the stakeholders, and the City, the conceptual plan

showing the two proposed alternatives were updated, see Attachment B March 11, 2021
Conceptual Plan Exhibit.

The design revisions are implemented in both alternatives, and they include:

J The addition of green pavement markings within the intersection indicating the path
that bicyclists should take through the intersection.

J The addition of green-painted bike lanes on Churchill Avenue west of the intersection in
both directions to delineate the bike lanes.

J The addition of “Keep Clear” markings at the railroad crossing for vehicles traveling in

both directions.

Packet Pg. 61




City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services Department Page 9

J The extension of the pedestrian gate arm to 15’ to allow for a wider pedestrian crossing
area across the railroad.

o The addition of a small concrete area at the location of the connection to the existing

Embarcadero bike path to provide more connectivity from the bike path to the
intersection crossing.

o The widening of the curb ramp at the northwestern corner of the intersection to provide
access to the pedestrian railroad crossing for a larger number of pedestrians.

Policy Implications
Goals and policies from the Palo Alto 2030 Comprehensive Plan that are supported and
advanced by the proposed improvements include:

Goal T-1 Create a sustainable transportation system, complemented by a mix of land
uses, that emphasizes walking, bicycling, use of public transportation and other
methods to reduce GHG emissions and the use of single-occupancy motor
vehicles.

Policy T-1.16 Promote personal transportation vehicles an alternative to cars (e.g.
bicycles, skateboards, roller blades) to get to work, school, shopping,
recreational facilities and transit stops.

Policy T-1.18 Increase cooperation with surrounding communities and other agencies
to establish and maintain off-roadway bicycle and pedestrian paths and
trails that are integrated with creek, utility, railroad rights-of-way and
green spaces in a manner that helps enhance and define the community
and avoids environmental impacts.

Policy T-1.19 Provide facilities that encourage and support bicycling and walking.
Goal T-3 Maintain an efficient roadway network for all users.

Policy T-3.2  Enhance connections to, from and between parks, community centers,
recreation facilities, libraries and schools for all users

Policy T-3.5  When constructing or modifying roadways, plan for use of the roadway
by all users.

Policy T-3.6  Consider pedestrians, bicyclists, e-bikes and motorcycles when designing
road surfaces, curbs, crossings, signage, landscaping and sight lines.

Policy T-3.14 Continue to prioritize the safety of school children in street modification
projects that affect school travel routes, including during construction.

Packet Pg. 62




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 10

Policy T-3.17 Until grade separation is completed, improve existing at-grade rail
crossings to ensure the highest feasible level of safety along the corridor
and provide additional safe, convenient crossings

GOALT-6 Provide a safe environment for motorists, pedestrians and bicyclists on Palo Alto
streets

Policy T-6.1  Continue to make safety the first priority of citywide transportation
planning. Prioritize pedestrian, bicycle and automobile safety over motor
vehicle level of service at intersections and motor vehicle parking.

Policy T-6.3  Continue to work with Caltrain to increase safety at train crossings,
including improving gate technology and signal coordination.

Resource Impact

Funding for improvements to the Alma Street and Churchill Avenue intersection is provided
through the approved Churchill Avenue/Alma Street Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements
Capital Improvement Project CIP-20000. This railroad crossing intersection was identified
through the Federal Section 130 funds, a federally funded program administered by the states
(Caltrans administers this is in California), for increasing safety at at-grade highway-rail
crossings.

As per the agreement between the City of Palo Alto and the California Department of
Transportation (Caltrans) Division of Rail and Mass Transportation, Service Contract No.
75LX335, the City will receive federal funding through the Section 130 Grade Crossing
Improvement Program on a reimbursement basis. The reimbursement amount of $3,996,000 is
available for reimbursement from the Section 130 Program for all work to be completed as part
of the project. The existing design contract with BKF Engineers is for $286,686. The preliminary
cost estimates for construction of the project is $3.55 million.

Previous estimates for the project came in at $4.5M. However, upon further refinement of the
project, it was determined that the cost to design and construct changes to the intersection
would be $3,996,000. The agreement the City has entered into with Caltrans provides the City
with $3,996,000. The overall project budget is being aligned with funding sources from other
agencies (Caltrans).

Staff will return to Council with an updated cost upon the completion of final design and for the
award of project construction. Funding for future years is subject to City Council approval
through the annual budget process.

Timeline

City Staff plans to present the alternatives and PTC’s recommendation to the City Council for
their consideration on May 3, 2021. After Council provides direction on a selected alternative,
staff will advise BKF Engineers to develop final design plans, specifications, and engineer’s

Packet Pg. 63




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 11

estimate based on the approved conceptual design. Staff will work closely with JPB, Caltrans,
CPUC and Palo Alto High School during the final design phase.

Per the contract between the City of Palo Alto and BKF Engineers design work is scheduled to
be completed by September 2021. Construction will be scheduled thereafter and is expected to
be completed by end of 2022.

Environmental Review

The project is a collaboration between Caltrans, City of Palo Alto, and Peninsula Corridor Joint
Powers Board. Caltrans will be leading efforts in performing NEPA and City will perform the
CEQA. Given the nature of the proposed improvements for the project (safety improvements to
an existing intersection), the project qualifies for a Class 1 Categorical Exemption under CEQA
Guidelines Section 15301. The Class 1 exemption covers minor alterations to existing facilities
so long as they involve no or negligible expansion of use.

Report Author & Contact Information PTC! Liaison & Contact Information
Ruchika Aggarwal, Project Engineer Rachael Tanner, Assistant Director
(650) 617-3136 (650) 329-2167
ruchika.aggarwal@cityofpaloalto.org rachael.tanner@cityofpaloalto.org
Attachments:

e Attachment A: January 12, 2021 Conceptual Plan Exhibit  (PDF)
e Attachment B: March 11, 2021 Conceptual Plan Exhibit ~ (PDF)
e Attachment C: Traffic Analysis memo by Hexagon Transportation Consultants (PDF)
e Attachment D: 01/21/2021 Community Meeting Summary (PDF)
e Attachment E: 02/02/2021 PABAC Meeting Summary (PDF)
e Attachment F: City’s and JPB’s limits of work for each alternative concept plan  (PDF)

(11 Emails may be sent directly to the PTC using the following address: planning.commission@cityofpaloalto.org

Packet Pg. 64




S
P
i
h

cent

PLOTTED BY:

01-14-21

DRAWING NAME: K:\2019\191912_PaloAlto_Churchi|IAve\ENG\EXHIBITS\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit.dwg

PLOT DATE:

4 B
S 3

ATTACHMENT A

REDWOOD CITY, CA 9
(650) 482-6300

255 SHORELINE DR.,
www.bkf.com

BKFI00 -

ALMA ST
i
=

CALIFORNIA | ENGINEERS . SURVEYORS . PLANNERS

RELOCATED | |
TRAFFIC SIGNAL

EXISTING UTILITY POLES
TO BE REMOVED

7 >

RELOCATED
TRAFFIC SIGNAL

EXISTING UTILITY
POLE TO REMAIN

RELOCATED
TRAFFIC SIGNAL

INSTALL NEW GATE ARM

EXISTING TRAFFIC
CHURCHILL AVE SIGNAL TO REMAIN

ALMA ST CHURCHILL AVE
INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENT PROJECT
CONCEPTUAL PLAN EXHIBIT = ALTERNATIVE 1

PALO ALTO

SANTA CLARA COUNTY

e — — = EE . ~ = T——T _ __ H
RELOCATED £
TRAFFIC SIGNAL
PROPOSED PRE—EMPTION X | PROPOSED PRE—EMPTIONJ Y ELECTRIC 4
TRAFFIC SIGNAL TRAFFIC SIGNAL y4 CABINET Pz :
(NO MAST ARM) (WITH [MAST ARM) . :
8 3

Approved WM

EXISTING TRAFFIC

@ | Date 1/12/2021

GRAPHIC SCALE

SIGNAL TO REMAN | |

™ e ™™ "
15 0 15 30 FIG]

| | Packet Pg. 65




cent

PLOTTED BY:

01-14-21

DRAWING NAME: K:\2019\191912_PaloAlto_Churchi||Ave\ENG\EXHIBITS\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit.dwg

PLOT DATE:

-b.l
o f

ATTACHMENT A

REDWOOD CITY, CA 94«
(650) 482-6300

255 SHORELINE DR.,
www.bkf.com

BRFI00 -

ALMA ST
S
=

CALIFORNIA | ENGINEERS . SURVEYORS . PLANNERS

GREEN - -
INFRASTRUCTURE 1o Ow
ADDITIONAL e ==
CONCRETE AREA FOR SE8 O«
PEDESTRIAN QUEUING S ez
RELOCATED AW/ | < ¢
TRAFFIC SIGNAL RN Ea
ot | J&<:
EXISTING UTILITY POLES A =s 1z
T0 BE REMOVED /e RELOCATED 53
TRAFFIC SIGNAL >5°
\ B 4} % O II_J <
z S EXISTING UTILITY Txs
: 0 POLE TO REMAIN §) % me
=% 7 I = Z
N RELOCATED e <z
A > TRAFFIC SIGNAL g g
<9
S v | < 1 ol ' L S R R, S - i
— 0 S 2| 8 E
/ Jé G\ - 0o
INSTALL NEW GATE ARM / o
EXISTING TRAFFIC = Z
CHURCHILL AVE SIGNAL TO REMAIN Z3
S
<
9
<
o
e /[ - = 1 R | 8 * ~ - I—r T o __ :§
;7 RELOCATED ‘
| TRAFFIC SIGNAL
PROPOSED PRE—EMPTION X | PROPOSED PRE—EMPTIONJ Y ELECTRIC 4 $
TRAFFIC SIGNAL TRAFFIC SIGNAL y4 CABINET P THREBE
(NO MAST ARM) (WITH |MAST ARM) g 35 olg|?
EXISTING TRAFFIC HHHHEE
SIGNAL TO REMAN | | e e
15 0 15 30 FIG2

| | Packet Pg. 66




cent

PLOTTED BY:

03—-11-21

DRAWING NAME: K:\2019\191912_PaloAlto_ChurchillAve\ENG\EXHIBITS\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit.dwg

PLOT DATE:

ATTACHMENT B

REDWOOD CITY, CA 94065

255 SHORELINE DRIVE
(650) 482-6300
www.bkf.com

SUITE 200

=
4

\

CALIFORNIA

RELOCATED
TRAFFIC SIGNAL

ADDITIONAL
CONCRETE AREA FOR
PEDESTRIAN QUEUING

EXISTING UTILITY POLESN\C\
TO BE REMOVED

INSTALL NEW 15’
GATE ARM

ALMA ST

RELOCATED
TRAFFIC SIGNAL

EXISTING UTILITY
POLE TO REMAIN

PROPOSED
TRAFFIC SIGNAL

SANTA CLARA COUNTY

ENLARGED
CURBRAMP

ALMA ST CHURCHILL AVE
INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENT PROJECT
CONCEPTUAL PLAN EXHIBIT = ALTERNATIVE 1

[=
-iC
LA
5" WIDE GREEN CHURCHILL AVE =
PAINTED BIKE-EANE °
g 6" WIDE_GREEN 2
= PAINTED BIKE LANE o
E=> <
<D
B =
EE——— A ¥ s =TI LAV - = _ _
L k 05598 %
RELOCATED .
TRAFFIC SIGNAL
PROPOSED PRE—EMPTION PROPOSED._PRE-+EMPTION ELECTRIC 4 $
TRAFFIC SIGNAL TRAFFIC SIGNAL | CABINET P s[g] | [,]¢
(NO MAST ARM) (WITH [MAST ARM) | <|e|s|s|3| "
EXISTING TRAFFIC HHEHEEE
GRAPHIC SCALE -

eet Number:

SIGNAL TO REMAIN

™ s ™ "
15 o 15 30 FIG]

Packet Pg. 67




cent

PLOTTED BY:

03—-11-21

DRAWING NAME: K:\2019\191912_PaloAlto_ChurchillAve\ENG\EXHIBITS\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit\Proposed_Plan_Alternatives_Exhibit.dwg

PLOT DATE:

ATTACHMENT B

REDWOOD CITY, CA 94065

255 SHORELINE DRIVE
(650) 482-6300
www.bkf.com

SUITE 200

=
4

\

ALMA ST

CALIFORNIA

GREEN
INFRASTRUCTURE

ADDITIONAL
CONCRETE AREA FOR
PEDESTRIAN QUEUING

- N

O w

L >

|—

wes

>0 E

< &

.|
A RELOCATED 4&<,

TRAFFIC| SIGNAL I '
e RELOCATED 5 = _ 2
e TRAFFIC SIGNAL 2>m°
S o Ry ) S 4@ @ EXISTING UTILITY 2 Q%8
= ' POLE TO REMAIN oaQiuo
INSTALL NEW 15’ a o PROPOSED TR
GATE ARM . L i TRAFFIC SIGNAL z % o &

- .. = = a0 | N A e N | s A e A A S A EE:('

B Bacd |

T ENLARGED wP

CURB-RAMP 0 a

<= =2 o _— - E (]

: = - <_=zg = Z
> WDE CREEN CHURCHILL AVE = EXISTING TRAFFIC P Z3,
PAINTED-BIKE=EARE = SIGNAL TO REMAIN : 5
= 6" WIDE_GREEN 2
= - - _ PAINTED BIKE LANE 9
= = _3F= > | =

B B ST =
I —
HHHHHHHHHHH RELOCATED *
TRAFFIC SIGNAL
PROPOSED PRE—EMPTION PROPOSED. PRE-EMPTION ELECTRIC 4 g
TRAFFIC SIGNAL TRAFFIC SIGNAL | CABINET 2 TERERE
(NO MAST ARM) (WITH IMAST ARM) | HHAAHE
EXISTING TRAFFIC R
SIGNAL TO REMAIN o St v
15 0 15 30 FIG2

Packet Pg. 68




4.c

Memorandum

Date: February 4, 2020

To: City of Palo Alto

CC: Mr. Jason Mansfield, BKF Engineers

From: Trisha Dudala

Subject: Traffic Analysis of Potential Alma Street/Churchill Avenue Railroad Crossing Safety
Improvements

Summary

The City of Palo Alto is proposing pedestrian safety improvements at the intersection of Alma Street
and Churchill Avenue and the adjacent railroad crossing. Because it is adjacent to Palo Alto High
School, the railroad crossing is used by hundreds of bicycles and many pedestrians during peak
hours. In addition to widening the crosswalks and sidewalks at the intersection, the proposed
railroad crossing improvements include the installation of a pre-signal on eastbound Churchill
Avenue to prevent vehicles from queueing on the railroad tracks. The pre-signal would restrict
vehicles from turning right on red and would potentially affect vehicular capacity at the
Churchill/Alma intersection. The study looked at traffic impacts during three time periods - the
weekday commute AM (7-9), after school (2-4), and commute PM (4-6) peak hours. It is during
these hours that the intersection experiences the most traffic congestion. The analysis was
conducted using the simulation software VISSIM by PTV Vision, which has the ability to analyze
signal pre-emption. The traffic analysis was conducted under existing conditions and with Caltrain
electrification, which would increase the frequency of trains through Palo Alto.

The analysis of the installation of a pre-signal on eastbound Churchill Avenue showed that the
delay for the eastbound approach would increase significantly during all three time periods.
Improvements to the traffic signal operations, consisting of an overlap phase for the eastbound
right-turns on Churchill, a lagging phase for the northbound left-turn on Alma, serving eastbound
Churchill before westbound Churchill and allocating additional green time to Churchill Avenue were
identified. With the implementation of these improvements, the analysis showed that the adverse
effects to vehicular traffic from the proposed railroad crossing safety improvements would be
mitigated.

An optional improvement was analyzed that would require the elimination of the southbound right-
turn lane on Alma Street in order to provide a larger waiting area for pedestrians and bicycles on
the northwest corner of the Alma/Churchill Avenue intersection. The analysis showed that this
improvement would increase the delay for the southbound approach on Alma Street as the right-
turns would occur from the outer through lane on Alma Street. However, with the implementation of
the identified improvements to the traffic signal operations, the overall intersection delay during the
peak hour periods would be lower than the baseline existing and baseline electrification conditions.

Packet Pg. 69




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Intersection — Traffic Analysis

Existing Conditions Analysis

The existing conditions analysis was conducted based on existing peak hour traffic volumes,
existing lane geometries, existing signal timings, and the number of trains during the peak hours as
described below.

Existing Lane Geometry and Traffic Volumes

Separate left turn lanes are provided on Alma Street in both the northbound and southbound
directions to Churchill Avenue (see Figure 1). In addition, there is a southbound right turn lane on
Alma Street to westbound Churchill Avenue (toward the high school). Eastbound Churchill Avenue
has a separate right turn lane and a shared through/left turn lane at Aima Street. Westbound
Churchill Avenue at Alma Street has one all-movement lane and another lane that allows on-street
parking. Parking is prohibited from 7-8 AM, and through traffic is prohibited 7:45 to 8:30 AM Monday
through Friday. The existing traffic signal operates with protected phasing for the northbound and
southbound left-turns on Alma Street. Churchill Avenue operates with split phase signal timing, with
the westbound approach being served before the eastbound approach.

Due to shelter in place orders first issued in March 2020, most businesses and schools closed, and
people started working at home to the extent possible. While some businesses have subsequently
reopened subject to certain restrictions, traffic volumes continue to be substantially below pre-
COVID conditions. Thus, to be conservative, this transportation analysis report is based on pre-
COVID conditions.

AM and PM peak hour turning movement counts for vehicles, pedestrians, and bicycles were
conducted at the Alima/Churchill intersection in December 2018, and the after school peak hour
counts were conducted in November 2017, when schools were in session. These counts are shown
on Figure 1. As shown on Figure 1, a total of 2,592 vehicles and approximately 400 bicycles and
pedestrians were counted during the AM peak hour, 2,523 vehicles and approximately 252 bicycles
and pedestrians were counted during the after school peak hour, and a total of 3,312 vehicles and
approximately 80 bicycles and pedestrians were counted during the PM peak hour.

These counts were compared to more recent counts conducted in 2019 and 2020, and the
2017/2018 counts were found to be higher during the AM and PM peak hours. Therefore, the
2017/2018 counts were used for the analysis of the Alma/Churchill Avenue railroad crossing safety
improvements.

2

Packet Pg. 70




4.c

Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Railroad Crossing Improvements

PM Peak-Hour - 5PM to 6PM

Palo Alto
High School

AM Peak-Hour - 8AM to 9AM

LEGEND

R = Pedestrians

ﬁ = Bicycles on Roadway

(% = Bicycles on Crosswalk

Figure 1
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Existing Lane Geometry and Traffic Volumes

— Hexagon ‘N

Packet Pg. 71




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Signal Timings

The existing signal timing data at the Alma and Churchill intersection were obtained from the City of
Palo Alto. Additional information regarding turn restrictions during certain time periods was obtained
from field observations. The Alma and Churchill intersection currently operates at 150- second (2 72
minutes) and 180- second (3 minutes) cycle lengths during the AM and PM peak hours,
respectively. Also, through traffic on westbound Churchill is prohibited (via signage installed at the
intersection) during the morning school peak hour that occurs between 7:45 — 8:30 AM.

Signal Pre-emption and Number of Trains

As the Churchill Avenue railroad crossing is located only 25 feet to the west of Alma Street, the
intersection of Alma Street and Churchill Avenue is equipped to receive a traffic preemption signal
when there is a train detection. This is a special control mode in the traffic signal controller designed
to start up and clear any vehicular traffic on the roadway approach crossing the railroad tracks.
Before the train approaches the intersection, eastbound vehicular queues on Churchill Avenue
between the railroad gate and Alma street are cleared. Only through traffic on Alma street, which
does not conflict with the railroad movement, receives a green light for the duration of the train
movement. A gate closure time of 45 seconds was assumed based on field observations.

Based on the number of gate closures observed during the field visit, the existing conditions
analysis assumed a total of 8 trains (4 northbound and 4 southbound) during each of the AM and
PM peak hours. Based on the pre-COVID Caltrain schedule, there can be up to 10 trains in the AM
and PM peak hours. Because the actual train spacing varies daily, the analysis assumed a constant
time interval between consecutive trains, which calculates to one train every 7 %2 minutes. This
represents average conditions. Occasionally trains arrive closer together, which creates longer
delays, or more spread out, which creates shorter delays. Analysis of the after school peak hour
assumed the operation of 2 trains (1 train in each direction) based on the Caltrain schedule.

Field Observations

AM Peak Hour

During the AM peak, long vehicular queues were observed for the northbound left-turn movement
on Alma Street and also on westbound Churchill Avenue. Vehicles in the northbound left-turn lane
frequently extended out of the left-turn pocket, into the adjacent through lane, because of signal
preemption and because of the school traffic. Palo Alto High School is located on the northwest
quadrant of Alma Street and Churchill Avenue, and during the school peak hour, which starts
around 8 AM, it was observed that vehicular queues from Palo Alto High School frequently
extended up to Alma Street. As a result, during some cycles, the northbound left-turning vehicles
could not turn on green. After pre-emption, vehicles in the north-bound left-turn lane have to wait for
approximately two minutes before receiving a green signal. As a result, queues for the northbound
left-turn movement frequently extended past Tennyson Avenue and did not clear in one signal
cycle. Vehicular queues on westbound Churchill frequently extended past Emerson Street. No turn
lanes are provided on westbound Churchill Avenue. Although through traffic is restricted during the
AM school peak hour, the right turning traffic has to yield to a high number of bicycles and
pedestrians crossing the north leg of this intersection, resulting in long vehicular queues.

PM Peak Hour

During the PM peak hour, long vehicular queues were observed on eastbound Churchill Avenue.
Queues frequently extended past Madrono Avenue due to signal preemption. Vehicular queues on
eastbound Churchill Avenue could not clear in one signal cycle.

4

Packet Pg. 72




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

After School Peak Hour

Based on the traffic counts, long vehicular queues exist on eastbound Churchill Avenue, which
extend onto Paly Road because of school traffic leaving the school. Paly Road provides access to
Palo Alto High School.

Proposed Safety Improvements

The Alma/Churchill Avenue intersection is located immediately east of the crossing and there is
enough storage space for only one vehicle between the intersection and the railroad tracks. This
crossing experiences a large volume of bicycle and pedestrian traffic during the AM, after school
and PM commute hours. Some of the proposed safety improvements include widening the existing
crosswalks on the north leg and the east leg of the intersection, providing a larger waiting space in
the northwest and northeast quadrants of the intersection by widening the sidewalks, and installing
a pre-signal on eastbound Churchill Avenue (see Figure 2). The pre-signal would relocate the stop
line for eastbound Churchill Avenue traffic to the west of the tracks and would prevent motorists
from queueing within the train crossing area. The pre-signal would restrict right-turns on red for
eastbound Churchill Avenue traffic.

Analysis of the impact of the proposed railroad crossing improvements on existing traffic conditions
at Alma Street and Churchill Avenue was conducted. Table 1 below summarizes AM, after school
and PM peak hour intersection delays and levels of service at the Alma/Churchill intersection under
existing conditions and with the proposed safety improvements.

Table 1
Alma and Churchill Intersection Delay and Levels of Service — Existing Conditions
Existing + Safety +

Existing + Safety  Signal Improvement

Existing + Safety + Signal + No Right-Turn
Existing ! Improvement 2 Improvement * Lane *
Avg. 08 A8 0s A8 os Avg. LOS

Intersection Delay Delay Delay Delay
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue AM 88.51 F 96.13 F 55.9 E 63.76 E

After 55 86 E 10818 F 5417 D 56.65 E

School

PM 67.15 E 91.06 F 59.53 E 61.23 E

Notes:

Avg Delay = Average Delay in seconds; LOS = Lewel of Senice;
assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 2 tranis were assumed to operate during the school PM peak
hour.

2 Safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks. The
eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

3 Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the eastbound right-
turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-turn movement on Alma Street, the
eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest comer of
the intersection.

As shown in Table 1, under existing conditions, the Churchill/Alma Street intersection currently
operates at LOS F during the AM peak hour and LOS E during the after school and commute PM
peak hours. With the proposed railroad crossing improvements, which would include a pre-signal on
eastbound Churchill Avenue, the analysis showed that the delay for the eastbound approach would

5

Packet Pg. 73




Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Railroad Crossing Improvements

4.c

Widened
Sidewalks

New Curb Ramp

Pre-Signal

on Red”

“No Right Turn

New Curb Ramps

New Crosswalks

Figure 2
Proposed Railroad Crossing Improvements (Alternative 1)

—~ Hexagon

2

Packet Pg. 74




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

increase significantly and would cause the intersection to operate at LOS F during all three time
periods with a higher average intersection delay. Traffic counts during all three time periods show a
relatively high volume of right-turning traffic from eastbound Churchill to southbound Alma Street.
Under existing conditions, a significant number of these vehicles turn right on red. The proposed
pre-signal would restrict right turns on red and would cause vehicles to queue on eastbound
Churchill Avenue. Tables 2, 3 and 4 show the queue delays for the through lanes and the turn lanes
at the Alma/Churchill intersection during the AM peak, after school and PM peak hours. As shown
in these tables, the proposed pre-signal would result in a significant increase in delays for the
eastbound Churchill Traffic during all three time periods.

Recommendation

The following improvements/modifications to the traffic signal operations are recommended to
reduce the overall intersection delay and vehicular queues on eastbound Churchill Avenue in
conjunction with the proposed railroad crossing safety improvements:

1. Overlap Phasing for eastbound right-turns — Provide an overlap phase for the eastbound
right-turns, which would allow the right-turn traffic to go concurrently with the northbound
left-turn traffic on Alma Street.

2. Lagging Phase for northbound left-turns — Provide a lagging phase for the northbound left-
turns on Alma Street, where the northbound left-turns are served after the northbound and
southbound through traffic on Alma Street is served.

3. Churchill Phasing — To facilitate a continuous traffic flow for the eastbound right-turns on
Churchill Avenue, the phase sequence in the traffic controller should be modified so that the
eastbound phase is called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue.

4. Increase green time for Churchill Avenue — Calling the eastbound phase prior to the
westbound phase would result in increased delays for the westbound Churchill traffic
especially during the AM peak hour. To reduce delays for this approach, it is recommended
that an additional 15 seconds of green time be allocated to this approach during the AM
peak hour by reducing the green time for traffic on Alma Street. During after school, with a
high number of vehicles making a right turn from eastbound Churchill to southbound Alma, it
is recommended that an additional 10 seconds of green time be allocated to the eastbound
approach by reducing the green time for traffic on Aima Street.

The analysis showed that with the implementation of these improvements/modifications to the
signal timing, the average intersection delays would be reduced to less than the delays under
existing conditions. The intersection would operate at LOS E during the AM and PM commute hours
and LOS D during the after school peak (see Table 1). The analysis showed that the delay for the
eastbound traffic would reduce and traffic queues on Churchill Avenue would not extend up to El
Camino Real during the after school and commute PM peak hours.

Although the analysis showed that reducing the green time on Alma Street in order to allocate
additional green time to Churchill Avenue would result in an increase in delays for the southbound
traffic on Alma (see Tables 2, 3 and 4), the proposed improvements/modifications to the traffic
signal operations in conjunction with the railroad crossing improvements would decrease the delays
for the eastbound Churchill traffic significantly resulting in a lower average intersection delay
compared to the baseline existing conditions.

Optional Improvements

In order to provide an even larger waiting space for pedestrians and bicyclists in the northwest
quadrant, to the east of the tracks, Hexagon analyzed the option of eliminating the southbound

v

Packet Pg. 75




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

right-turn lane on Alma Street (see Figure 3). Traffic volumes for the southbound right-turn
movement on Alma Street are relatively low, and due to the short storage length (approximately 100
feet), field observations showed that the turn pocket was frequently blocked by southbound through
traffic on Alma during the PM peak hours. An analysis of elimination of the right-turn pocket showed
that the average delay would increase under all three time periods. The increase in delay would be
higher during the AM peak hour compared to the after school and commute PM peak periods, as
the southbound right-turn volume is relatively higher during the AM peak hour (see Table 1). During
preemption, when Alma Street through traffic receives a green light, a vehicle on southbound Alma
wanting to turn right would block through traffic in the outer through lane. This would increase the
delay for the southbound approach on Alma Street. However, compared to existing conditions, the
overall intersection delay would be lower during the AM and PM peak hours and only marginally
higher during the after school peak hour.

Table 2
Alma and Churchill Intersection Queue Delays — Existing Conditions (AM Peak
AM Peak Hour - Queue Delay (seconds)

Existing + Safety +

Existing + Existing + Signal Improvement
Safety Safety + Signal + No Right-Turn

Intersection Existing ! Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Lane *
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  NBL 287 282 94 79

NBT 27 25 32 31

NBTR 27 25 33 33

WBLTR 379 393 75 72

SBL 136 141 186 201

SBT1 85 85 48 70

SBT2 38 38 53 98

SBR 14 15 27 -

EBLT 81 115 66 67

EBR 22 129 30 31
Notes:

Avg Delay = Awerage Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Senice;

XXX - Bold indicated Where queue delay exceeds 25% of the queue delay under baseline conditions.

' Existing traffic conditions were analyzed based on pre COVID traffic volumes which reflect normal school operations. A total of 8 trains
were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 2 tranis were assumed to operate during the
school PM peak hour.

2 safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks.
The eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

s Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the
eastbound right-turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-tumn
movement on Alma Street, the eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green
time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest
corner of the intersection.

Packet Pg. 76




Alma Street and Churchill Avenue Railroad Crossing Improvements

4.c

Widened
Sidewalks

New Curb Ramp

Pre-Signal
“No Right Turn
on Red”

New Curb Ramps

New Crosswalks

Figure 3

Proposed Railroad Crossing Improvements (Alternative 2)

—~ Hexagon

2

Packet Pg. 77




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Table 3
Alma and Churchill Intersection Queue Delays — Existing Conditions (After School
After School - Queue Delay (Seconds)

Existing + Safety +

Existing + Existing + Signal Improvement
Safety Safety + Signal + No Right-Turn

Intersection Existing ! Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Lane *
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  NBL 119 136 77 78

NBT 17 17 21 21

NBTR 17 19 24 23

WBLTR 86 83 91 92

SBL 146 142 184 183

SBT1 40 39 49 50

SBT2 42 41 52 62

SBR 21 22 32 -

EBLT 184 417 84 83

EBR 108 422 51 51
Notes:

Avg Delay = Average Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Senvice;

XXX - Bold indicated Where queue delay exceeds 25% of the queue delay under baseline conditions.

' Existing traffic conditions were analyzed based on pre COVID traffic volumes which reflect normal school operations. A total of 8 trains
were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 2 tranis were assumed to operate during the
school PM peak hour.

2 safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks.
The eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

s Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the
eastbound right-turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-turn
movement on Alma Street, the eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green
time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest
comer of the intersection.

Packet Pg. 78




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Table 4
Alma and Churchill Intersection Queue Delays — Existing Conditions (PM Peak
PM Peak Hour - Queue Delay (Seconds)

Existing + Safety +

Existing + Existing + Signal Improvement
Safety Safety + Signal + No Right-Turn

Intersection Existing ! Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Lane *
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  NBL 120 120 96 95
NBT 20 19 20 20
NBTR 20 19 20 20
WBLTR 101 101 106 106
SBL 157 157 206 210
SBT1 37 85 40 40
SBT2 38 37 42 50

SBR 26 26 29 -
EBLT 260 566 173 173
EBR 187 586 136 136
Notes:

Avg Delay = Average Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Senvice;

XXX - Bold indicated Where queue delay exceeds 25% of the queue delay under baseline conditions.

' Existing traffic conditions were analyzed based on pre COVID traffic volumes which reflect normal school operations. A total of 8 trains
were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 2 tranis were assumed to operate during the
school PM peak hour.

2 safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks.
The eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

s Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the
eastbound right-turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-turn
movement on Alma Street, the eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green
time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest
comer of the intersection.

Caltrain Electrification

This analysis scenario describes the impact of electrification on existing traffic conditions and with
the proposed railroad safety improvements at Alima Street and Churchill Avenue. As Caltrain begins
to modernize, it is expected that the number of trains will increase from 8 trains to 12 trains during
both the AM and PM peak hours (based on the Caltrain Electrification EIR). This calculates to one
train every five minutes. During the after school peak hour, it is assumed that the number of trains
will increase from 2 trains under existing conditions to 4 trains (2 trains in each direction) with the
electrification. Table 5 below summarizes AM, after school, and commute PM peak hour
intersection delays and levels of service at the Alma Street and Churchill Avenue intersection with
electrification and with the proposed railroad safety improvements with Caltrain electrification.

Packet Pg. 79




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Table 5
Alma and Churchill Intersection Delay and Levels of Service — Caltrain Electrification
Conditions

Electrification +

Electrification + Electrification + Safety + Signal
Safety Safety + Signal Improvement + No
Electrification ' Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Right-Turn Lane 4
;\"Ig' LOS I;\"Ig' I;\"Ig' LOS I;\"Ig' LOS
Intersection elay elay elay elay
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  AM 127.33 F 148.31 F 60.36 E 65.52 E
After — 6g.44 E 11558  F 5553  E 57.79 E
School
PM 92.78 F 103.96 F 86.16 F 86.48 F
Notes:

Avg Delay = Average Delay in seconds; LOS = Lewel of Senice;

" Elecrification conditions were analyzed with existing traffic volumes based on pre COVID conditions which reflect normal school operations. A total of
12 trains were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 4 tranis were assumed to operate during the
school PM peak hour.

2 Safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks. The
eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

3 Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the eastbound right-
turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-turn movement on Alma Street, the
eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest corner of
the intersection.

As shown in Table 5, the analysis showed that the average intersection delay would increase
significantly with electrification and the intersection would operate at unacceptable LOS F during the
AM and PM peak hours and LOS E during after school peak. With the proposed safety
improvements that include a pre-signal on eastbound Churchill Avenue that would restrict right
turns on red, the analysis showed that vehicular traffic operations would further degrade, and the
intersection would operate at unacceptable LOS F during all three time periods. With the
recommended signal timing improvements/modifications described above under existing conditions,
the analysis showed that the adverse effects of the pre-signal would be fully mitigated, and the
intersection traffic operations would improve to better than the baseline electrification conditions.
Tables 6, 7 and 8 show the queue delays for the through lanes and the turn lanes at the
Alma/Churchill intersection during the AM peak, after school and PM peak hours with electrification.
Although the analysis showed that reducing the green time on Alma Street in order to allocate
additional green time to Churchill Avenue would result in an increase in delays for the southbound
traffic on Alma, the proposed improvements/modifications to the traffic signal operations in
conjunction with the railroad crossing improvements would decrease the delays for the eastbound
Churchill traffic significantly resulting in a lower average intersection delay compared to the baseline
electrification conditions.

12

Packet Pg. 80




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Table 6
Alma and Churchill Intersection Queue Delays — Electrification Conditions (AM Peak
AM Peak Hour - Queue Delay (seconds)

Electrification +

Electrification + Electrification + Safety + Signal

Safety Safety + Signal  Improvement + No

Intersection Lane Electrification ' Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Right-Turn Lane 4
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  NBL 675 718 90 83
NBT 69 74 29 28
NBTR 71 76 30 30
WBLTR 422 418 136 130
SBL 147 147 198 199
SBT1 30 29 45 58
SBT2 33 31 50 79

SBR 13 14 26 -
EBLT 92 217 69 70
EBR 28 239 32 88
Notes:

Avg Delay = Awerage Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Senice;
XXX - Bold indicated Where queue delay exceeds 25% of the queue delay under baseline conditions.

" Elecrification conditions were analyzed with existing traffic volumes based on pre COVID conditions which reflect normal school operations.
A total of 12 trains were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 4 tranis were assumed to
operate during the school PM peak hour.

2 Safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks.
The eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

s Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the
eastbound right-turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-tun
movement on Alma Street, the eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green
time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest
comer of the intersection.

Packet Pg. 81




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Table 7
Alma and Churchill Intersection Queue Delays — Electrification Conditions (After School
After School - Queue Delay (Seconds)

Electrification +

Electrification + Electrification + Safety + Signal

Safety Safety + Signal  Improvement + No

Intersection Lane Electrification ' Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Right-Turn Lane 4
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  NBL 168 185 83 83
NBT 18 17 20 20
NBTR 17 18 23 23
WBLTR 87 84 108 108
SBL 157 157 198 208
SBT1 38 38 47 49
SBT2 40 38 49 58

SBR 21 21 30 -
EBLT 260 474 89 87
EBR 184 485 58 56
Notes:

Avg Delay = Awerage Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Senice;

XXX - Bold indicated Where queue delay exceeds 25% of the queue delay under baseline conditions.

" Elecrification conditions were analyzed with existing traffic volumes based on pre COVID conditions which reflect normal school operations.
A total of 12 trains were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 4 tranis were assumed to
operate during the school PM peak hour.

2 Safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks.
The eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

s Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the
eastbound right-turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-tun
movement on Alma Street, the eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green
time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest
corner of the intersection.

Packet Pg. 82




4.c

Alma/Churchill Railroad Crossing Safety Improvements — Traffic Analysis February 4, 2020

Table 8
Alma and Churchill Intersection Queue Delays — Electrification Conditions (PM Peak
PM Peak Hour - Queue Delay (Seconds)

Electrification +

Electrification + Electrification + Safety + Signal

Safety Safety + Signal  Improvement + No

Intersection Lane Electrification ' Improvement 2 Improvement 3 Right-Turn Lane 4
Alma Street and Churchill Avenue  NBL 187 187 100 99
NBT 18 17 16 16
NBTR 18 17 16 16
WBLTR 171 173 223 225
SBL 197 198 246 248
SBT1 34 32 31 30
SBT2 35 33 32 37

SBR 28 27 22 -
EBLT 572 902 495 478
EBR 487 938 459 441
Notes:

Avg Delay = Awerage Delay in seconds; LOS = Level of Senice;
XXX - Bold indicated Where queue delay exceeds 25% of the queue delay under baseline conditions.

" Elecrification conditions were analyzed with existing traffic volumes based on pre COVID conditions which reflect normal school operations.
A total of 12 trains were assumed to operate during the weekday AM and PM commute peak hours and a total of 4 tranis were assumed to
operate during the school PM peak hour.

2 Safety improvements consists of relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue from east of the tracks to west of the tracks.
The eastbound right-turn traffic would not be allowed to turn on red.

s Analysis assumes relocation of the stop line on eastbound Churchill Avenue to the west of the tracks and an overlap phasing for the
eastbound right-turn traffic. Also assumes modifications to the signal timings that would allow a lag phasing for the northbound left-tun
movement on Alma Street, the eastbound phase to be called before the westbound phase on Churchill Avenue, and increasing the green
time for the westbound approach.

4 Analysis includes elimination of the southbound right-turn lane on Alma to provide a larger waiting space for pedestrians on the northwest
comer of the intersection.

Analysis of the optional improvement with electrification, which would require the elimination of the
southbound right-turn lane on Alma Street in order to provide a larger waiting area for pedestrians
and bicycles on the northwest corner of the Alma/Churchill Avenue intersection, showed that the
average delay for the southbound approach on Alma Street would increase as all right turns would
occur from the outer through lane on southbound Alma Street. However, with the implementation of
the identified improvements/modifications to the traffic signal operations, the overall intersection
delay during the three peak hour periods would be less than the average intersection delay under
baseline electrification conditions.

Packet Pg. 83




4.d

www.callanderassociates.com

Recreate
Educate
Live+Work
Connect

February 8, 2021 Sustain

Meeting Summary

Alma/ Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

Date: January 21, 2021

Time: 6:30 p.m. to 7:45 p.m.

Attendees: City of Palo Alto (City):

Ruchika Aggarwal ruchika.aggarwal@cityofpaloalto.org
Philip Kamhi philip.kamhi@cityofpaloalto.org
Rafael Rius rafael.rius@cityofpaloalto.org

Ripon Bhatia ripon.bhatia@cityofpaloalto.org
Sarah Wilson sarah.wilson@cityofpaloalto.org

BKF Engineers (BKF):

Jason Yee jvee@bkf.com
Jason Mansfield imansfield@bkf.com
Jonathon Centofranchi jcentofranchi@bkf.com

Hexagon Transportation Consultants (HT):
Trisha Dudala tdudala@hextrans.com

Callander Associates (CA):

Marie Mai mmai@callanderassociates.com
Melinda Wang mwang@callanderassociates.com
Community Members: 28 total

The purpose of this virtual meeting was to introduce the project, present existing conditions,
and receive feedback from the public on preliminary designs. A formal presentation was
followed by a question-and-answer session during which attendees could share their
questions and comments verbally or through the Q&A panel in Zoom. Polls were conducted
to better understand how attendees currently use the intersection and which of the two
preliminary designs they preferred.

Poll Results Summary

Based on the results from Poll #1, nearly half of the respondents live within 3 blocks of the
Alma Street /Churchill Avenue intersection. All of the respondents pass through this
intersection, but only 1/4th of respondents use the intersection specifically to get to school or
work. Forty-seven percent (47%) of respondents typically use multiple modes of transportation
when traveling through this intersection, 42% typically only drive through this intersection, and
the remaining 11% typically only bike through this intersection.

BURLINGAME GOLD RIVER

1633 Bayshore Highway, Suite 133 12150 Tributary Point Drive, Suite 140 2025 Gateway Place, Suite 285
Burlingame, CA 94010 Gold River, CA 95670 San Jose, CA 95110
650.375.1313 916.985.4366 408.275.0565

Packet Pg. 84




4.d

Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

January 21, 2021

Page 2 of 7

Results from Poll #2 indicate a slight preference for Concept #1, which proposes to retain the
dedicated right-turn pocket on southbound Alma Street.

Group Discussion Summary

Attendees expressed a desire for pedestrian and bicycle safety improvements at this
intersection. Some attendees were concerned that Concept 2 would prevent motorists from
turning right from Alma Street southbound onto westbound Churchill Avenue. It was clarified
that Concept 2 retains the ability for motorists to make a southbound right turn by providing
a shared through/right turn lane. Some attendees expressed concerns about the impacts of
the Churchill Avenue pre-signal creating a traffic backup for eastbound Churchill Avenue to
El Camino Real. It was noted that based on the traffic analysis, the net effect of the pre-
signal in conjunction with various signal phasing and timing changes would be a significant
potential decrease in overall delay at the intersection. Attendees also had questions and
comments regarding how the proposed changes will impact traffic within the intersection
and along corridors adjacent to the intersection, documented below.

Questions and Comments Received (responses in non-italicized text)

Questions

e Why is this project being considered if [the grade separation project] could
completely change the Churchill crossing? What is the status of the grade separation
project?

0 This project attempts to address some of the immediate safety concerns. The
proposed improvements are considered interim and can be completed over
the next two or so years. The XCAP grade separation project will address the
overall circulation and multimodal challenges of this intersection in a more
comprehensive way, but it will require more time and major funding. Council is
in the process of reviewing alternatives.

e Will Concept 2 remove the right-turn movement from southbound Alma Street to
westbound Churchill Avenue?

o0 Concept 2 will retain the ability for motorists to turn right from southbound Alma
Street to westbound Churchill Avenue. The dedicated right-turn pocket would
be removed, but motorists would be able to turn right using the proposed
through/right turn lane.

e How will the [pre-signal] on Churchill Avenue impact the traffic on El Camino Real
(ECR)? Eliminating the right-turn on red option for eastbound Churchill Avenue to
southbound Alma Street will cause significant back-up on Churchill Avenue.

o0 The introduction of the pre-signal alone would result in a backup for motorists
heading eastbound on Churchill Avenue. However, signal timing and phasing
modifications are proposed in conjunction with the pre-signal to mitigate the
adverse effects of the pre-signal. When the northbound left turn lane on Alma
Street receives a green light, the eastbound right turn on Churchill Avenue will
also receive a green. There will also be more green time allocated to
eastbound Churchill Avenue.

e What will happen to the current encroachment into the Caltrain right-of-way (ROW)
with Concept 2?

o0 Concept 2 will slightly reduce the existing 1’ encroachment into Caltrain ROW.

20042_SUM_ComMtg#1
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates

Landscape Architecture, Inc.

Packet Pg. 85




Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

January 21, 2021

Page 3 of 7

In the afternoon, if you are on Churchill Avenue heading west towards Stanford, each
time a train passes the signal cycle restarts, giving right-of-way to motorists on Alma
Street and motorists on Churchill Avenue may need to wait multiple cycles. Are there
any proposed changes to the signal timing?

o Signal timing modifications would reduce the green time on Alma Street and
reallocate it to eastbound and westbound Churchill Avenue. The sequence of
the signal phasing would not change in order to give priority to traffic on Alma
Street where there is more congestion during commute hours.

Can we ban cars on Churchill Avenue from Emerson Street to Alma Street so that
bicyclists may use the whole lane and add a traffic light at Aima Street and Lowell
Avenue to address diverted traffic from Churchill Avenue?

0 The Churchill Avenue closure proposed in the XCAP grade separation project
does not fully eliminate vehicular access to Churchill in order to retain access
to adjacent residences. Multiple alternatives are being studied and the design
is being further refined, but new concepts (such as full closure) are not being
considered at this time.

Can aright turn lane be created in front of 25 Churchill Avenue or an entrance be
provided off of ECR so that Palo Alto Unified School District traffic doesn’t have to
enter via Churchill Avenue?

o Aright turn lane and extension of a bike slot are proposed at the intersection
of Churchill Avenue/ECR as a part of the Churchill Avenue Enhanced Bikeways
Project, and the right turn lane would start just west of the 25 Churchill Avenue
driveway. No new driveways or modifications to existing driveways are
proposed.

Comments

In Concept 2 when the railroad gates are down, a single car in the through right lane
on southbound Alma Street will block one of the two through traffic lanes available.

0 Motorists headed south on Alma Street in the through/right lane would need to
wait if there is a driver who wants to turn right and head onto westbound
Churchill Avenue, but the existing through movement at peak hours already
frequently blocks the right turn queue. With the proposed design, there is no
anticipated delay during off peak hours when there are fewer cars. There is an
overall reduced delay in the intersection as a whole with the proposed signal
modifications.

Proposed enhancements to queue space do not address the morning back-up of
bicyclists at location C and the afternoon movement from Paly HS towards location Z.

0 This project focuses on pedestrian improvements, and the future XCAP project
will address bicycle circulation improvements.

Enforce the morning through restriction (Left Turn Only, 7:45 AM to 8:30AM) for
westbound Churchill Avenue to southbound Alma Street. This would allow bicyclists to
get to school more safely.

o City staff has previously informed the Police Department of this issue and will
notify them again.

Consider green bike lanes on Churchill Avenue to increase the visibility of (bicyclists
and) bike lanes.

20042_SUM_ComMtg#1

©

copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates
Landscape Architecture, Inc.

4.d

Packet Pg. 86




4.d

Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

January 21, 2021

Page 4 of 7

o0 The Churchill Avenue Enhanced Bikeway Project proposes green bike lanes at
conflict points between the school entrance on Churchill Avenue to Alma
Street.
e Someone was killed on the tracks today. It would be worth the cost if the proposed
improvements could have prevented the incident.
0 The Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) and Caltrans identified this crossing
as one in need of safety improvements and the pre-signal is a specific feature
identified to improve safety. The project and this community meeting are a
part of the City’s effort to improve the safety of this intersection.
¢ The intersection needs to be improved because many pedestrians and bicyclists get
caught in front of the railroad gates at the intersection.
e Pause the XCAP grade separation project until after these adjustments are made. In
support of this project.
e Retain clear access from the intersection to the Embarcadero Bike Path.
0 This project does not propose any changes to access to the bike path.
e Consider adding a signal (pedestrian hybrid beacon) or a crossing guard at the
Churchill Avenue entrance to Paly HS to improve safety.

Poll #1
Responses received for Poll #1: 19

1. Do you live near the intersection?

Yes, within 3 blocks, on Alma or Churchill 45%

Yes, within 3 blocks of the intersection but not on Alma nor

Oy
Churchill 30%

Mo, farther than 3 blocks / walking distance 25%

2. Why do you typically pass through the Churchill/Alma
intersection? (Multiple choice)

to go to school 5%
-

to go to work 20%
I

to do other things (errands, leisure activities, etc) 100%

20042_SUM_ComMtg#1
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates

Landscape Architecture, Inc.

Packet Pg. 87




Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

January 21, 2021

Page 5 of 7

3. How do you typically travel through the intersection?
(Multiple choice)

walk

bike

drive

transit

Poll #2
Responses received for Poll #2: 10

1. Which option do you prefer?

Concept 1

Concept 2

Opportunities and Constraints Diagram

20042_SUM_ComMtg#1
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates
Landscape Architecture, Inc.

40%

35%

85%

5%

60%

40%

4.d

Packet Pg. 88




Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

January 21, 2021

Page 6 of 7

Preliminary Concept #1

Preliminary Concept #2

20042_SUM_ComMtg#1
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates
Landscape Architecture, Inc.

4.d

Packet Pg. 89




4.d

Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: Community Meeting #1

January 21, 2021

Page 7 of 7

The information above is Callander Associates’ understanding of items discussed and
decisions reached at the meeting. Callander Associates is proceeding with the project
based on this understanding.

Submitted by:

e Mo

Melinda Wang
Callander Associates

CC: All attendees

20042_SUM_ComMtg#1
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates

Landscape Architecture, Inc.

Packet Pg. 90




4.e

www.callanderassociates.com

Recreate
Educate
Live+Work
Connect

February 19, 2021 Sustain

Meeting Summary

Alma/ Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: PABAC Meeting #1

Date: February 2, 2021

Time: 6:15 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.

Attendees:

City of Palo Alto (City):

Ruchika Aggarwal ruchika.aggarwal@cityofpaloalto.org
Rafael Rius rafael.rius@cityofpaloalto.org

Ripon Bhatia ripon.bhatia@cityofpaloalto.org
Joanna Chan Joanna.chan@cityofpaloalto.org
Sylvia Star-Lack sylvia.star-lack@cityofpaloalto.org

City of Palo Alto Pedestrian and Bicycle Advisory Committee (PABAC):

Ken Joye Robert Neff
Cedric de la Beaujardiere Cathy Durham
Eric Nordman Rob Robinson
Stephen Rock Art Liberman

Kathy Durham

Not present: Arnout Boelens, Nicole Zoeller Boelens, Bill Courington, Penny
Ellson, Paul Goldstein, Jane Rothstein, Richard Swent, Alan Wachtel, Bill
Zauman

BKF Engineers (BKF):
Jason Mansfield imansfield@bkf.com
Jonathon Centofranchi jcentofranchi@bkf.com

Callander Associates (CA):
Marie Mai mmai@callanderassociates.com

The purpose of this virtual meeting was to introduce the project, present existing conditions,
and receive feedback from the Pedestrian and Bicycle Advisory Committee (PABAC) on
preliminary designs. A formal presentation was followed by an opportunity for PABAC
members to share their questions and comments. Due to time constraints not every
committee member was able to verbally share their feedback. Instead, they were
encouraged to submit follow-up questions via e-mail to staff. tems noted below were
discussed and/or decided upon in our meeting.

BURLINGAME GOLD RIVER

1633 Bayshore Highway, Suite 133 12150 Tributary Point Drive, Suite 140 2025 Gateway Place, Suite 285
Burlingame, CA 94010 Gold River, CA 95670 San Jose, CA 95110
650.375.1313 916.985.4366 408.275.0565

Packet Pg. 91




Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: PABAC Meeting #1

February 2, 2021

Page 2 of 3

ltem

Response

4.e

1. Can the connection between
westbound Churchill Avenue to
northbound Embarcadero trail/bike
path be improved? Can the train horn
frequency be reduced?

2. One person felt the “B to Z” bike
movement is unsafe and not
addressed, while another felt the
opposite because of the very few cars
and the larger volume of bicyclists

3. Bicyclists are uncomfortable or simply
cannot make the Churchill crossing at
Paly driveway/Castilleja Avenue
because of the large volume of cars
with many different turning
movements.

4. The XCAP project is still a few years
away from being implemented, so
these project improvements would be
beneficial to the community.
Committee member supported the
concept with the stormwater
component (ie. Concept 2).

5. Many students end up on the “wrong”
side of Churchill Avenue when heading
eastbound because they’re coming
from the Embarcadero bike path. Can
a pedestrian/bike only or scramble
phase be considered at this
intersection?

6. Evaluate afternoon signal phasing to
encourage “proper” bicycle
circulation. Can the Y to Z crosswalk
have priority over the B to C crosswalk?

7. Consider a bike box between the
railway and Alma Street to give
bicyclists more space.

8. Consider restricting right turns on
westbound Churchill Avenue during

20042_SUM_PABACMtg#1.docx
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates
Landscape Architecture, Inc.

Opportunities to improve the path
connection will be evaluated. The horn
frequency is a federal requirement so
cannot be changed.

Noted

Noted

Noted

A scramble phase would cause significant
delay because of the train pre-emption so
would not be feasible at this intersection.

Phasing will be evaluated.

Bike box and other enhancements will be

evaluated.

Right-turn restriction to be evaluated.

Packet Pg. 92




Meeting Summary

Alma / Churchill Safety Improvements
RE: PABAC Meeting #1

February 2, 2021

Page 3 of 3

morning hours in addition to the
existing morning through-restriction.

9. Will Caltrain fence locations be Fence locations will be evaluated.
modified at locations A and B to align
with the new crosswalk?

10. Committee member supports the
larger queuing space, particularly as
shown in Concept #2. Continue
evaluating ways to improve
pedestrian/bike circulation.

Preliminary Concept #1 Preliminary Concept #2

The information above is Callander Associates’ understanding of items discussed and
decisions reached at the meeting. Callander Associates is proceeding with the project
based on this understanding.

Submitted by:

i

Melinda Wang
Callander Associates

CC: All attendees

20042_SUM_PABACMtg#1.docx
© copyrighted 2021 Callander Associates

4.e

Landscape Architecture, Inc.

Packet Pg. 93




4.1

VINYO4YO ALNNOD V¥VTIO VLNVS oLV 01vd sz oN g
e SL1IAIT OSNIAVd TVN1d3ONOD i : & >
907 Y2 A GO e 103rodd LNIW3IAOHdNI NOILOISHILNI ] L B
JANA INITIYOHS S52 NMOHS SV 9joos | .
AV T1IHOHNHD 1S VTV P o e | B
S
©
o
g
&
— ‘ =
= \ adl”
1s VAV = g
(%)
2 sl
=

CONCRETE PANEL GRADE

CROSSING

5-WIDE SMOOTH ASPHALT

TRANSITIONS TO

CHURCHILL AVE

e

\\ AV VSOdIHVI
O]
Z
>
<C
o
T
I |
I <
I
o
o
<
]
v
o < WL Lo 3 aum an3
S - & Ha| 840 X3 HOLYW,
S Jw ] o] | E LN LA
o= & || o818t S0gitOr WIS
WX | T 2> ' ) MIAIS aNT,
7 ol 0 (@) (2% | d 9992 0L9I+08 VIS
e Mole | E _ K o om0
z_ Pre . ) 1= d 818 GETE+6Z VIS
% | L = [ _ " VY TIGSSTIVY
O = ay . 40 3INIT 43N
fg o L = £ d SE1Z YI6L+6Z YIS
RS A ouw Fe divy 16155300V >
AN nS . 40 3N HUNTD
¢ Y| | 4 651 2069+67 VIS [ o
o S X% => [ o8 P o >
e =X b | ¥ 8IGr GEG9P6T VIS @) ) [ %
- 0o | ¢ L_0Z - . ==
, £5390v 5 | , 02
. T7.14%1 <ITAFE o Z£°95 116967 VIS L L @) )
7S MG N9A = = [ —
_ ¥ 2079 9BU6T VIS % % = -
800 M93F
] HIYd ® ATVMIS GN3,) O O < <
- - T £2L8 C04§+6Z WIS T T
] Z Z o o
= -
_| $8300v HSN1d Mi938 (T%I
Tlsize 8999467 VIS /</_ % < <
SN
ANIAY — 23 Z 99 ONF
T ZFEC 961267 VIS a0 X7 HOLH
ATNLGVOymmas » sumo avs .
— $SF00VHSTI NI
Py T #14E 6942+6C VIS NOUYH0143d 8900 2
oV _XI HOLVW o BI09 ZUIPH6Z VIS
T .ZLLE STZZ+67 WIS THaas 0 ,
S a4 v ov aid ¥ G679 716267 VIS
5°SYC T B2 6EBIH6Z VIS ) ONFH NTYMIAIS
ccry Henls weS Y S0Gy 9L6Z+6Z VIS
T.GE 61 V58I VIS A Y
28 N 7ar ‘ans7 A7 WAL
fe0f :Ag Q3L107d 1Z-11-50 :31va 107d

BMP 3 1q1yx3Ts31WITBUIADG\}1GIYXTTSIAI}DUISY |V UD | P3s0doud\SLIgIHXI\INI\3AY || 1424ny070}|vo b4 Z1616L\6L0Z\ M 3IAYN ONIMVYA



Planning & Transportation Commission
Staff Report (ID # 11989)

Report Type: Meeting Date: 3/31/2021
Summary Title:  Ordinance to Update Density Bonus Code PAMC 18.15

Title: Recommendation on Ordinances Responding to State Housing
Bills Regarding Density Bonus and Affordable Housing.
Environmental Assessment: Exempt pursuant to CEQA
Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3).

From: Jonathan Lait
Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning Transportation Commission recommend that City Council
adopt the attached ordinances, which update Palo Alto’s Density Bonus (Attachment A) and
Parking (Attachment B) regulations to comply with recent changes in state law.

Background

Chapter 18.15 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code outlines the City’s Residential Density Bonus
program. This Chapter was enacted to comply with the state density bonus law, California
Government Code Section 65915. California’s density bonus law requires local governments to
provide housing developers with density bonuses and other concessions or incentives when the
developers agree to provide a certain percentage of affordable housing. This state law requires
compliance by local governments, even in the absence of local ordinances providing state-
mandated bonuses, concessions, or incentives. A local ordinance, however, can provide clarity
to developers and the public regarding the interaction of state density bonus law with other
aspects of local zoning regulations.

Palo Alto first adopted its Residential Density Bonus ordinance (PAMC Chapter 18.15) in 2014.
Since that time, the City has periodically updated the code in response to changes in state law.
The pace of changes at the state level has increased in recent years.

In September of 2020, the Governor signed a package of fifteen bills aimed at increasing
affordable housing production and reducing housing costs. Several bills aimed to increase the

City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services
250 Hamilton Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

(650) 329-2442

Packet Pg. 95




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 2

incentives to build more affordable housing and to build more housing near public transit.
Assembly Bill 2345, amending Sections 65400 and 65915 of the California Government Code,
addressed both. This bill greatly expanded the bonuses available to developers and it requires
substantial changes to the City’s practices and ordinances.

Other amendments to the state density bonus law from prior years, such as AB 1934, SB 1227
and AB 2372, have also changed the City’s obligations regarding granting density bonuses and
concessions or incentives. The Palo Alto Municipal Code has not been updated to reflect those
responsibilities.

Assembly Bill 1851 was also part of this package. This bill targeted parking requirements for
religious institution affiliated housing development projects. It required an update to the
adjustments available in the City’s Parking Code, found in Chapter 18.52.

Discussion

Regardless of whether the City acts to amend its ordinances, the changes to state law will
dictate the City’s actions. The state law is written to supersede any conflicting local ordinances.
Amending the City’s Zoning Code will allow the City to establish its own policies and procedures
to comply with its obligation to follow state law.

The following are changes made to Chapter 18.15, Residential Density Bonus:

e The Chapter is retitled to “Density Bonus.” Though all density bonuses, concessions, and
incentives relate to the provision of affordable housing, non-residential developments
may still acquire some incentives under Density Bonus law through partnerships or
donations. Section 18.15.030(i)(iii) also reflects this change.

e Under state law, thresholds to be eligible for density bonuses, concessions and
incentives were lowered, while density bonus caps for several key types of
developments were increased from thirty-five percent (35%) to fifty percent (50%).
Some 100% affordable housing developments are now entitled to no density bonus cap.
The scales were thus adjusted in Sections 18.15.030, 18.15.050 and 18.15.060.

e Some terminology has been updated throughout Chapter 18.15. State law no longer
separately addresses “common interest development” in its affordable housing laws. In
addition, state law now refers to “units sold to persons and families of low or moderate
income,” and this phrase has been imported into the code. The phrase “handicapped
parking” has been replaced with “parking for persons with a disability.”

e State law grants bonuses, concessions and incentives to developers building housing for
lower income students. This was not reflected in Chapter 18.15. Under the attached
amendments, these bonuses, concessions and incentives would be codified in

Packet Pg. 96




City of Palo Alto
Planning & Development Services Department Page 3

18.15.030(c). Other incentives for developers building housing for lower income
students can be found throughout Chapter 18.15, such as in Section 18.15.050,
Development Concessions and Incentives.

e Additional bonuses, concessions and incentives were created for affordable housing
developments built near public transit. This is reflected in 18.15.030(d)(ii) (density
bonuses) and 18.15.050(b) (parking requirements).

e Parking requirements were generally lowered by state law. This is reflected throughout
Section 18.15.050.

e Section 18.15.080, Application Requirements, was reformatted to better reflect the
differences between concessions and incentives.

The following are changes made to Chapter 18.52, Parking and Loading Requirements:

e Section 18.52.040(a) now contains a reference to the varied exceptions to Section
18.52.040’s parking requirements listed in Chapter 18.15, Density Bonus.

e Section 18.52.045 was retitled to remove the word “Minor” from “Minor Adjustments
to Existing Parking Facilities.” The subsection describing minor adjustments remains. An
additional subsection was added to reflect the changes made to state law through AB
1851, which allows substantial adjustments to parking requirements for religious
institution affiliated housing development projects.

Environmental Review

The proposed ordinances revise the Palo Alto Municipal Code to comply with revisions to
Government Code Section 65915 (Density Bonus) and Section 65913.5 (AB 1851). These
provisions of the Government Code are already controlling with respect to the subject matter
expressed in the ordinances; thus, the ordinances do not result in any substantive change to
the type of development permitted in the City. Consequently, the ordinances are exempt from
the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA
Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) since it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility the
adoption and implementation of the ordinances may have a significant effect on the
environment.

Attachments:
e Attachment A - Ordinance Amending PAMC Chapter 18.15 (PDF)
e Attachment B - Ordinance Amending Ch 18.52 regarding Religious Use Parking  (PDF)

Packet Pg. 97




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

Ordinance No.

Ordinance of the Council of the City of Palo Alto Amending Chapter 18.15
(Residential Density Bonus) of Title 18 (Zoning) of the Palo Alto Municipal Code
(PAMC) to Update the Density Bonus Program in Accordance with AB 2345.

The Council of the City of Palo Alto ORDAINS as follows:
SECTION 1. Findings and declarations. The City Council finds and declares as follows:

A. On September 28, 2020, the Governor approved AB 2345, which substantially
revised requirements for the existing Density Bonus Law (Government Code Section
65400 et seq.), which requires a city to provide a developer that proposes a housing
development within the jurisdictional boundaries of that city with a density bonus
and other incentives or concessions for the production of lower income housing
units, or for the donation of land within the development, if the developer agrees to
construct a specified percentage of units for very low income, low-income, or
moderate-income households or qualifying residents and meets other requirements.

B. In previous years, the Governor also approved other revisions to the Density Bonus
Law, including AB 1934, SB 1227, AB 2372, and AB 2753.

C. The City Council is therefore updating the Density Bonus Chapter of the Zoning
Code, Chapter 18.15 in Title 18 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code, to comply with
these revisions.

SECTION 2. Chapter 18.15 (Density Bonus) of Title 18 (Zoning) is hereby amended as follows:

18.15 RESIDENHAL DENSITY BONUS

18.15.010 Purpose
[...]
18.15.020 Definitions

Whenever the following terms are used in this chapter, they shall have the meaning
established by this section:

[...]

Packet Pg. 98

0160038_20210111_ay




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

(s) “Replace” means either of the following:

(i) If any dwelling units described in Section 18.15.030{x}(i) are occupied on the
date that the application is submitted to the City, the proposed housing development
shall provide at least the same number of units of equivalent size to be made available
at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, persons and families
in the same or lower income category as those households in occupancy. For
unoccupied dwelling units described in Section 18.15.030¢(h}(i) in a development with
occupied units, the proposed housing development shall provide units of equivalent size
or type, or both, to be made available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to,
and occupied by, persons and families in the same or lower income category in the
same proportion of affordability as the occupied units. All replacement calculations
resulting in fractional units shall be rounded up to the next whole number. If the
replacement units will be rental dwelling units, theses units shall be subject to a
recorded affordability restriction for at least 55 years. For purposes of this subsection (s)
of Section 18.15.020, “equivalent size” means that the replacement units contain at
least the same total number of bedrooms as the units being replaced.

(ii) If all dwelling units described in Section 18.15.030{k}(i) have been vacated or
demolished within the five-year period preceding the application, the proposed housing
development shall provide at least the same number of units of equivalent size, as
existed at the highpoint of those units in the five-year period preceding the application
to be made available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by,
persons and families in the same or lower income category as those persons and
families in occupancy at that time, if known. If the incomes of the persons and families
in occupancy at the highpoint is not known, then one-half of the required units shall be
made available at affordable rent or affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, very
low income persons and families and one-half of the required units shall be made
available for rent at affordable housing costs to, and occupied by, low-income persons
and families. All replacement calculations resulting in fractional units shall be rounded
up to the next whole number. If the replacement units will be rental dwelling units,
these units shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction for at least 55 years.

(v) “Lower income student” means a student who has a household income and asset
level that does not exceed the level for Cal Grant A or Cal Grant B award recipients as
set forth in Section 69432.7(k) of the Education Code. The eligibility of a unit for lower
income students under this section shall be verified by an affidavit, award letter, or
letter of eligibility provided by the institution of higher education in which the student is
enrolled or by the California Student Aid Commission that the student receives or is

0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 99




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

eligible for financial aid, including an institutional grant or fee waiver from the college or
university, the California Student Aid Commission, or the federal government.

18.15.030 Density Bonuses

This section describes the density bonuses that will be provided, at the request of an
applicant, when that applicant provides restricted affordable units as described below.

(@) The city shall grant a 28 twenty percent (20%) density bonus when an applicant
for a development of five (5) or more dwelling units seeks and agrees to construct at
least any one of the following in accordance with the requirements of this Section and
Government Code Section 65915:

(i) Atleast 10 ten percent (10%) of the total dwelling units of the development as
restricted affordable units affordable to lower income households. Between ten and
twenty percent (10-20%), Fer each one percent (1%) increase in the percentage of
restricted lower income units; grants a development will+eceive an additional one and
one-half percent (1.5%) density bonus up to thirty-five percent (35%) of the maximum
residential density. For each one percent (1%) increase in the percentage of restricted
lower income units exceeding twenty percent (20%), a development will receive an
additional three and three-quarters percent (3.75%) density bonus up to fifty percent
(50%) of the maximum residential density; or

(ii) At least five percent (5%) of the total dwelling units of the development as
restricted affordable units affordable to very low income households. Between five and
eleven percent (5-11%), for Fer each one percent (1%) increase in the percentage of
restricted very low income units, a development will receive an additional two and one-
half percent (2.5%) density bonus up to thirty-five percent (35%) of the maximum
residential density. For each one percent (1%) increase in the percentage of restricted
very low income units exceeding eleven percent (11%), a development will receive an
additional three and three-quarters percent (3.75%) density bonus up to fifty percent
(50%) of the maximum residential density; or

(b) The city shall grant a five percent (5%) density bonus when an applicant for a
development of five (5) or more additional dwelling units seeks and agrees to construct
a development, in accordance with the requirements of this Section and Government
Code Section 65915, in which at least 10 percent (10%) of the total dwelling units in-a

. . . . L ) . of 3

housing development are sold to persons and families of low or moderate income
households, provided that all dwelling units in the development are offered to the
public for purchase. For each one percent (1%) increase in the percentage of restricted
moderate income units between ten and forty percent (10-40%), a development will

0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 100




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

receive an additional one percent (1%) density bonus up to thirty-five percent (35%) of
the maximum residential density. For each one percent (1%) increase in the percentage
of total dwelling units restricted for moderate income households exceeding forty
percent (40%), a development will receive an additional three and three-quarters
percent (3.75%) density bonus up to fifty percent (50%) of the maximum residential

density.

(c) Reserved: The city shall grant a thirty-five percent (35%) density bonus when an
applicant for a student housing development of five (5) or more additional dwelling
units seeks and agrees to construct in accordance with the requirements of this Section
and Government Code Section 65915:

(i) At least twenty percent (20%) of the total dwelling units will be restricted for
lower income students.

(i) For purposes of calculating a density bonus granted pursuant to this
subparagraph, the term “unit” as used in this subparagraph means one rental bed and
its pro rata share of the associated common area facilities. The units described in this
subparagraph shall be subject to an affordability restriction of 55 years.

(iii) All units will be used exclusively for undergraduate, graduate, or professional
students enrolled full time at an institution of higher education accredited by the
Western Association of Schools and Colleges or the Accrediting Commission for
Community and Junior Colleges.

(iv) The applicant submits evidence that the applicant entered into an operating
agreement or master lease with one or more institutions of higher education for the
institution(s) to occupy all units of the student housing development with students from
that institution(s).

(v) The rent provided in the applicable units of the development for lower income
students shall be calculated at thirty percent (30%) of sixty-five percent (65%) of the
median income for Santa Clara County for a single-room occupancy unit type.

(vi) The applicant will provide priority for the applicable affordable units for lower
income students experiencing homelessness. A homeless service provider, as defined in
paragraph (3) of subdivision (e) of Section 103577 of the Health and Safety Code, or
institution of higher education that has knowledge of a person’s homeless status may
verify a person’s status as homeless for purposes of this subclause.

(d) The city shall grant a density bonus to a development if the following criteria
apply: one hundred percent (100%) of all units in the development, including total units
and density bonus units, but exclusive of manager’s unit or units, are for lower income
households, as defined by Section 50079.5 of the Health and Safety Code, except that

Packet Pg. 101

0160038_20210111_ay




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

twenty percent (20%) of the units in the development, including total units and density
bonus units, may be for moderate-income households, as defined in Section 50053 of
the Health and Safety Code. For rental units, rents shall be restricted as set forth in
Government Code section 65915(c)(1)(B)(ii).

(i) Except as otherwise provided in clause (ii), the city will grant a density bonus of
eighty percent (80%) of the number of units for lower income households.

(ii) If the development is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop, the
city will not impose any maximum controls on density. {re-maximmum-controlen

{é}(e) When calculating the number of permitted density bonus units, any fractions of
units shall be rounded to the next highest number. An applicant may elect to receive a
density bonus that is less than the amount permitted by this section; however, the city
shall not be required to similarly reduce the number of restricted affordable units
required to be dedicated pursuant to this section and Government Code Section
65915(b).

{e}(f) Each development is entitled to only one density bonus, which shall be selected
by the applicant based on the percentage of very low restricted affordable units, lower
income restricted affordable units, or moderate income restricted affordable units, or
the development’s status as a senior citizen housing development or qualifying
mobilehome park, or the development's provision of restricted affordable units for
transitional foster youth, disabled veterans or homeless persons. Density bonuses from
more than one category may not be combined. Except as provided for in 18.15.030(d),
ta-in no case shall a development be entitled to a density bonus of more than thirty-five

fifty percent {35%}-(50%).

{8(g) The density bonus units shall not be included when determining the number of
restricted affordable units required to qualify for a density bonus. When calculating the
required number of restricted affordable units, any resulting decimal or fraction shall be
rounded to the next larger integer.

{g}(h) Any restricted affordable unit provided pursuant to the city’s below market
rate housing program shall be included when determining the number of restricted
affordable units required to qualify for a density bonus or other entitlement under this
chapter. However, the payment of a housing impact or in lieu fee shall not qualify for a
density bonus or other entitlement under this chapter.

Packet Pg. 102

0160038_20210111_ay




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

(i) Anapplicant (or project) shall be ineligible for a density bonus or any other
incentives or concessions under this chapter if the housing development is proposed on
any property that includes a parcel or parcels on which rental dwelling units are or, if
the dwelling units have been vacated or demolished in the five-year period preceding
the application, have been subject to a recorded covenant, ordinance, or law that
restricts rents to levels affordable to persons and families of lower or very low income;
subject to any other form of rent or price control through the City’s valid exercise of its
police power; or occupied by lower or very low income households, unless the proposed
housing development replaces those units, and either of the following applies:

(i) The proposed housing development, inclusive of the units replaced pursuant to
this paragrpah-paragraph, contains affordable units at the percentages set forth in
Section 18.15.030.

(i) Each unit in the development, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units, is
affordable to, and occupied by, either a lower or very low income household.

{1(i) Certain other types of development activities are specifically eligible for a
density bonus pursuant to state law:

(i) A development may be eligible for a density bonus in return for land donation
pursuant to the requirements set forth in Government Code Section 65915(g).

(ii) A condominium conversion may be eligible for a density bonus or concession
pursuant to the requirements set forth in Government Code Section 65915.5.

(iii) An applicant for a commercial development who has entered into an agreement
for partnered housing may be eligible for a density bonus pursuant to the requirements
set forth in Government Code Section 65915.7.

k) As provided in Section 18.15.080(c), development proposed with rezoning to
the Planned Community zone district are entitled to densities approved as part of the
rezoning and shall not be entitled to a density bonus in addition to the units entitled by
the rezone.

#a(l) Notwithstanding any provision of this chapter, all developments must satisfy all
applicable requirements of the city’s Below Market Rate Housing Program in Chapter
16.65, which may impose requirements for restricted affordable units in addition to
those required to receive a density bonus or concessions.

Table 1 summarizes the density bonus provisions described in this Section.

/1

0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 103




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*
Table 1
Density Bonus Summary Table
Restricted Minimum Percentage Additional Bonus | Percentage of Percentage of
Affordable Percentage of | of Density for Each 1% RAUs Required | Restricted-Units
Units (RAUs) Pesiricted Bonus Increase in for 35% RAUs Required
or Category Afferdable Granted RPestricted Density Bonus | for Maximum
Units RAUs Affordallednits 35% 50% Density
RAUs Bonus
Very Low 5% 20% 2.50% 11% 11% 15%
Income (3.75% bonus for
increases above
11% RAU)
Lower Income | 10% 20% 1.50% 20% 20% 24%
(3.75% bonus for
increases above
20% RAU)
Moderate 10% 5% 1% 40% 40%-44%
Income (3.75% bonus for
increases above
40% RAU)
Lower Income | 20% 35% - - e
Student
Housing
Senior Citizen | 100% 20% | - | -
Housing
Qualifying 100% 20% | - | -
Mobile Park
100% 100% 80% (orno | - o i
Affordable maximum
Units density)

Note: A density bonus may be selected from only one category-u4p-te-a-raximum-of
350 of the Maxi Residential L -

18.15.040 Development Standards for Affordable Units

18.15.050 Development Concessions and Incentives

This section includes provisions for providing concessions or incentives pursuant to
Government Code Section 65915.

(a) By right parking incentives. Upon request by the applicant, a development that is
eligible for a density bonus may provide parking as provided in this subsection (a),

0160038_20210111_ay

Packet Pg. 104




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

consistent with Government Code Section 65915(p), inclusive of handicapped-andguest
parking for persons with a disability and guests:

(i) Zero to one bedroom unit: one on-site parking space;

(ii) Two to three bedroom unit: £ae one and one-half on-site parking spaces;

(iii) Four or more bedroom unit: two and one-half parking spaces.

If the total number of spaces required results in a fractional number, it shall be
rounded up to the next whole number. For purposes of this subsection, this parking may
be provided through tandem parking or uncovered parking, but not through on-street
parking.

(b) Additional parking incentives for transit oriented project.

(i) For purposes of this subdivision, a development shall have unobstructed access
to a major transit stop if a resident is able to access the major transit stop without
encountering natural or constructed impediments. For purposes of this subdivision,
“natural or constructed impediments” includes, but is not limited to, freeways, rivers,
mountains, and bodies of water, but does not include residential structures, shopping
centers, parking lots, or rails used for transit.

(A) Notwithstanding paragraph subdivision (a) above, if a development includes

the-maximum-percentage at least twenty percent (20%) of low-income or at least eleven
percent (11%) of very low income units provided for in section 18.15.030¢s}(a)(i) or (ii)
and is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop, as defined in subdivision (o)

of Section 65915 of the Government Code-subdivisien{b}-ofSection23155-cfthePublic
Reseurces-Code, and there is unobstructed access to the major transit stop from the

development, then, upon request of the applicant, the city shall not impose a vehicular
parking ratio, inclusive of handicapped-and-guestparking for persons with a disability

and guests, that exceeds 0.5 spaces per bedreem-unit. F%pu-me&es—ef—t—hs—&u—bdwen—

(B) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) above, if a development includes at least forty
percent (40%) moderate income units provided for in section 18.15.030(b) and is
located within one-half mile of a major transit stop, as defined in subdivision (o) of
Section 65915 of the Government Code, and there is unobstructed access to the major
transit stop from the development, then, upon request of the applicant, the city shall
not impose a vehicular parking ratio, inclusive of parking for persons with a disability
and guests, that exceeds 0.5 spaces per bedroom.

0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 105




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

(ii) Notwithstanding paragraph subdivision (a) above, if a development consists
solely of rental units, exclusive of a manager’s unit, with an affordable housing cost to
lower income families, as provided in Section 50052.5 of the Health and Safety Code,
then, upon the request of the applicant, the city shall not impose a-vehicular parking
standards if the development meets one of the foIIowmg crlterla-Fat-re—mel-uswe—e#

(A) H-the The development is located within one-half mile of a major transit stop,
as defined in subdivision (o) of Section 65915 of the Government Code subdivision{b}-of
Section21155-of the-Public Resources-Code, and there is unobstructed access to the
major transit stop from the development, the ratio shall not exceed 0.5 spaces per unit.

(B) H-the The development is a for-rent housing development for individuals who
are 62 years of age or older that complies with Sections 51.2 and 51.3 of the Civil Code,
theratio-shall-not-exceed-0-5-spacesperunit—Fhe and the development shal-have-has
either paratransit service or unobstructed access, within one-half mile, to fixed bus
route service that operates at least eight times per day.

(C) Hthe The development consists solely of rental units, exclusive of a manager’s
unit or units, with an affordable housing cost affordable to low income families and is
either a special needs housing development, as defined in Section 51312 of the Health
and Safety Code, or a supportive housing development, as defined in Section 50675.14
of the Health and Safety Code. theratio-shall-netexceed-0-3-spacesperunit—Fhe

develepmentshallhave A development that is a special needs housing development
must have either paratransit service or unobstructed access, within one-half mile, to

fixed bus route service that operates at least eight times per day.

(iii) Notwithstanding paragraphs (b)(i) and (b)(ii), the city may impose a higher
vehicular parking ratio not to exceed the ratio described in paragraph subdivision (a) if
the city has conducted an area wide or citywide parking study in compliance with
Government Code Section 65915(p){A(8).

(c) Other incentives and concessions. A development is eligible for other concessions
or incentives as follows:

(i) One concession or incentive for a development that makes at least ten percent
(10%) of the total dwelling units affordable to lower income households; or at least five
percent (5%) of the total dwelling units affordable to very low income households; or at
least ten percent (10%) of the total dwelling units affordable to moderate income
households in a eemmen-interest development in which the units are for sale; or at least
twenty percent (20%) of the total units in a student housing development for low
income students, as provided for in 18.15.030(c).

0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 106




*NOT YET ADOPTED*

(ii) Two concessions or incentives for a development that makes at least fwenty

5.a

seventeen percent {20%}(17%) of the total dwelling units affordable to lower income

households; or at least ten percent (10%) of the total dwelling units affordable to very
low income households; or at least twenty percent (20%) of the total dwelling units
affordable to moderate income households in a eemmen-interest development in which

the units are for sale.

(iii) Three concessions or incentives for a development that makes at least thirty
twenty-four percent {36%}(24%) of the total dwelling units affordable to lower income
households; or at least fifteen percent (15%) of the total dwelling units affordable to
very low income households, or at least thirty percent (30%) of the total dwelling units
affordable to moderate income households in a eemmen-nterest development in which

the units are for sale.

(iv) Four concessions or incentives for a development that provides one hundred

percent (100%) of the total units, exclusive of a manager’s unit or units, are for lower

income households, as described in Section 18.15.030, subdivision (d). Such

development may additionally receive a height increase of three stories or thirty-three

(33) feet.

Table 2 summarizes the provisions of Concessions or Incentives described in

subsection (a).

Table 2
Concessions and Incentives Summary Table

Target Group Restricted Affordable Units
Very Low Income 5% 10% 15%
Lower Income 10% 20% 17% | 30% 24%
Moderate Income (Commentnterest BevelopmentFor Sale Units) 10% 20% 30%
Lower Income Student Housing 20% - -
Maximum Incentive(s)/Concession(s) 1 2 3

Notes:

1. Concessions or incentives may be selected from only one category (very low, lower,

or moderate, low income student development)

2. No concessions or incentives are available for land donation, or for senior citizen

housing developments and qualifying mobilehome parks that do not contain restricted

affordable units.

3. In a student development, a “unit” is defined according to 18.15.030(c)(ii).

10

0160038_20210111_ay

Packet Pg. 107




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

(g) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to require the provision of direct
financial concessions for the development, including the provision of publicly owned
land by the city or the waiver of fees or dedication requirements.

18.15.060 Waiver/Modification of Development Standards

An applicant may apply for a waiver or modification of development standards that
will have the effect of physically precluding the construction of a development at the
densities or with the concessions or incentives permitted by this chapter. The developer
must demonstrate that development standards that are requested to be waived or
modified will have the effect of physically precluding the construction of a development
meeting the criteria of subsection (a) of Section 18.15.030 at the densities or with the
concessions or incentives permitted by this chapter. A development that receives a
waiver from any maximum controls on density pursuant to Section 18.15.030(d)(2) shall
not be eligible for waivers or modifications to development standards pursuant to this
Section.

18.15.070 Child Care Facilities

18.15.080 Application Requirements

An Application for a density bonus, incentive, concession, waiver, modification or
revised parking standard shall be made as follows:

(a) An All applications for a density bonus, incentive, concession, waiver, modification
or revised parking standard shall be submitted with the first application for a
discretionary permit for a development and shall be processed concurrently with those
discretionary permits. The application shall be on a form prescribed by the city and shall
include the following information:

(i) A brief description of the proposed development, including the total number of
dwelling units, restricted affordable units, and density bonus units proposed.

(ii) The zoning and comprehensive plan designations and assessor’s parcel
number(s) of the project site, and a description of any density bonus, concession or
incentive, waiver or modification, or revised parking standard requested

(iii) A vicinity map and preliminary site plan, drawn to scale, including building
footprints, driveway and parking layout.

(iv) Site plan showing location of market-rate units, restricted affordable units, and
density bonus units within the proposed development;

11
0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 108




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

(v) level of affordability of the restricted affordable units and proposed method to
ensure affordability;

(b) If a concession or incentive is requested, the following information must be
included in the application:

(i) H-o-concession-orincentiveisreguested—a A brief explanation as to the actual

cost reduction achieved through the concession or incentive.

(i) For concessions and incentives that are not included within the menu of
incentives/concessions set forth in subsection (c) of Section 18.15.050, the application
requires the submittal of the project proforma or other comparable documentation
(referred to herein as the “proforma information”) to the Director, providing evidence
that the requested concessions and incentives result in identifiable and actual cost
reductions. The cost of reviewing the project proforma information, including, but not
limited to, the cost to the city of hiring a consultant to review the financial data, shall be
borne by the applicant. The proforma information shall include all of the following
items:

(A) The actual cost reduction achieved through the concession;

(B) Other information requested by the Planning Director. The Planning Director
may require additional information as is required to evaluate the proforma information;

(c) If a waiver or modification of development standards is requested, the following
information must be included in the application:

(i) Hewaiverormodificationdisreguested,—a A brief explanation of why the

development standard would physically preclude the construction of the development
with the density bonus, incentives, and concessions requested.

12
Packet Pg. 109

0160038_20210111_ay




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

applicantshallprovideevidence Evidence

j that the development standard for which the
waiver or modification is requested will have the effect of physically precluding the
construction of the development with the density bonus and concessions requested;

_—bg(d) If a density bonus or concession is requested for a land donation, the
application shall show the location of the land to be dedicated, provide proof of site
control, and provide evidence that all of the requirements and each of the findings
included in Government Code Section 65915(g) can be made;

£xi}(e) If a density bonus or concession is requested for a child care facility, the
application shall show the location and square footage of the child care facilities and
provide evidence that all of the requirements and each of the findings included in
Government Code Section 65915(h) can be made.

__—bdi}(f) If a density bonus or concession is requested for a condominium conversion,
the applicant shall provide evidence that all of the requirements found in Government
Code Section 65915.5 can be met.

{b}(g) In accordance with state law, neither the granting of a concession, incentive,
waiver, modification, or revised parking standard, nor the granting of a density bonus,
shall be interpreted, in and of itself, to require a general plan amendment, zoning
change, variance, or other discretionary approval.

{e}(h) The Planned Community (PC) zone district is intended to accommodate
developments requiring flexibility under controlled conditions not attainable under
other zoning districts. Because of the flexible nature of the PC zone, which determines
site specific requirements including density, the chapter does not apply to this zoning
district.

{e}(i) This chapter implements state density bonus law. Any density bonus, incentive,
concession, revised parking standard, waiver, or modification sought by an applicant
shall be made pursuant to this chapter and may not be combined with similar requests
under state density bonus law.

//

13
0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 110




5.a

*NOT YET ADOPTED*

18.15.090 Review Procedures

An application for a density bonus, incentive, concession, waiver, modification or
revised parking standard shall be acted upon by the Approval Authority concurrently
with the application for the first Discretionary permit. The granting of a density bonus
shall not be deemed approval of the entire Project or approval of any subsequent
discretionary permit.

(c) If the findings required by subsection (a) of this Section cannot be made, the
Approval Authority may deny an application for a concession, incentive, waiver or
modification only if it makes one of the following written findings, supported by
substantial evidence:

(i) The eeneession-incentivewaiverormodificationis-net concession or incentive
does not result in identifiable and actual cost reductions required to provide for
affordable rents or affordable sales prices; or

(d) If the Approval Authority is not the City Council, any decision denying a density
bonus, incentive, concession, waiver, modification or revised parking standard may be
appealed to the City Council within fourteen days of the date of the decision.

18.15.100 Regulatory Agreement

(a) AApplicants for a density bonus, incentive, concession, waiver, modification or
revised parking standard shall enter into a regulatory agreement with the city. The
terms of the draft agreement shall be approved as to form by the City Attorney and
reviewed and revised as appropriate by the Director of Planning and Development
Services, who shall formulate a recommendation to the Approval Authority for final
approval.

SECTION 3.  Any provision of the Palo Alto Municipal Code or appendices thereto
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies and no
further, is hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the provisions of this
Ordinance.

SECTION 4. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any
reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of competent
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this

14
0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 111




*NOT YET ADOPTED*

Ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each
and every section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase not declared invalid or
unconstitutional without regard to whether any portion of the ordinance would be
subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.

SECTION 5. The Council finds that the adoption of this ordinance is exempt from the
provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to CEQA Guideline sections
15061(b)(3) because the ordinance simply codifies existing state law and it can be seen with
certainty that the minor adjustments herein will have a significant effect on the environment.
Any project seeking to utilize the density bonus provisions herein will be subject to appropriate
environmental review.

SECTION 6. This ordinance shall be effective on the thirty-first date after the date of its
adoption.

INTRODUCED:

PASSED:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTENTIONS:

NOT PARTICIPATING:

ATTEST:

City Clerk Mayor
APPROVED AS TO FORM: APPROVED:
Assistant City Attorney City Manager

Director of Planning & Development
Services

5.a

15

0160038_20210111_ay Packet Pg. 112




5.b

*NOT YET ADOPTED*
DRAFT

Ordinance No.

Ordinance of the Council of the City of Palo Alto Amending Chapter 18.52
(Parking and Loading Requirements) of Title 18 (Zoning) of the Palo Alto
Municipal Code (PAMC) to Update Parking Requirements in Compliance with
Measures Promoting the Construction of Affordable Housing.

The Council of the City of Palo Alto ORDAINS as follows:
SECTION 1. Findings and declarations. The City Council finds and declares as follows:

A. On September 28, 2020, the Governor approved AB 1851, which prohibits local
authorities from requiring the replacement of religious-use parking spaces that a
developer of a religious institution affiliated housing development project proposes
to eliminate as part of that housing development project.

B. For developments receiving density bonuses, the parking requirements described in
Chapter 18.52 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code may be modified or superseded by
Chapter 18.15 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code, governing density bonuses.

C. The City Council is therefore updating the parking requirements in Title 18 of the
Palo Alto Municipal Code to comply with AB 1851 and to make reference to Chapter
18.15 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code.

SECTION 2.  Section 18.52.040 (Off-Street Parking, Loading and Bicycle Facility Requirements)
of Chapter 18.52 (Parking and Loading Requirements) of Title 18 (Zoning) is hereby amended as
follows:

18.52.040 Off-Street Parking, Loading and Bicycle Facility Requirements
(a) Parking Requirements

In each district, off-street parking, loading and bicycle facilities for each use shall be
provided in accordance with Tables 1 and 2, shown in subsection (c) of this Section
18.52.040. For affordable housing developments qualifying for density bonuses under
Chapter 18.15 of the Palo Alto Municipal Code, adjustments to parking requirements
will be calculated in accordance with Chapter 18.15. The requirement for any use not
specifically listed shall be determined by the director on the basis of requirements for
similar uses, and on the basis of evidence of actual demand created by similar uses in
Palo Alto and elsewhere, and such other traffic engineering or planning data as may be
available and appropriate to the establishment of a minimum requirement.

[...]

0160037_20210104_ay_16

Packet Pg. 113




5.b

*NOT YET ADOPTED*
DRAFT

SECTION 3.  Section 18.52.045 (Minor Adjustments to Existing Parking Facilities) of Chapter
18.52 (Parking and Loading Requirements) of Title 18 (Zoning) is hereby amended as follows:

18.52.045 Miner Adjustments to Existing Parking Facilities

(@) _The following minor adjustments may be made to existing parking facilities that are
intended to remain in substantially the same form after restriping.

{23(1) Accessibility and EVSE-related equipment.

For sites with existing development, the number on-site parking spaces may be reduced
to the minimum extent necessary to: (1) achieve state or federally mandated
accessibility requirements or (2) permit installation of electrical utility equipment
required for EVSE. A maximum of 10% of the existing automobile parking stalls, or one
stall, whichever is greater, may be removed pursuant to this section. The loss of a
parking space is not permitted to accommodate EVSE itself. To the extent reasonably
feasible, electrical equipment required for EVSE shall be placed in a location that
minimizes visibility from the public right-of-way.

{b}2) Substitution of bicycle parking.

For sites with existing development, where additional bicycle parking facilities cannot
reasonably be located outside of the parking facility area, existing automobile parking
stalls may be substituted with long- or short-term bicycle parking facilities. The
maximum number of substitutions shall be two existing automobile parking spaces, or
10% of the existing automobile parking stalls, whichever is greater. A minimum of four
long-term or eight short-term bicycle parking spaces is required per automobile parking
space. The bicycle parking spaces are to be located in the same physical location as the
automobile spaces they are replacing, which shall be near primary entries of the
building on-site or in locations that meet best practices for bicycle parking facilities.

(b) Substitution of religious-use parking for housing development projects.

(1) This subdivision applies to religious institution affiliated housing development
projects, as defined by Section 65913.6(a)(5) of the California Government Code.

(2) The developer of a religious institution affiliated housing development project is not
required to replace religious-use parking spaces which the developer eliminates as a
part of that housing development project. Such a reduction may not exceed fifty
percent (50%) of the number of religious-use parking spaces that are available at the
time the request is made.

0160037_20210104_ay_16

Packet Pg. 114




5.b

*NOT YET ADOPTED*
DRAFT

(3) Religious-use parking spaces may count towards parking spaces required for the
religious institution affiliated housing development project if:

(A) There is at least one space per unit,

(B) The parcel is within one-half mile walking distance of public transit, or

(C) There is a car share vehicle located within one block of the parcel.

SECTION 4. Any provision of the Palo Alto Municipal Code or appendices thereto
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies and no
further, is hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the provisions of this
Ordinance.

SECTION 5. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any
reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of competent
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this
Ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each
and every section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase not declared invalid or
unconstitutional without regard to whether any portion of the ordinance would be
subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.

SECTION 6. The Council finds that the adoption of this ordinance is exempt from the
provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to CEQA Guideline sections
15061(b)(3) because the ordinance simply codifies existing state law and it can be seen with
certainty that there is no possibility that the codification of such parking regulations will have a
significant effect on the environment. Any project seeking to utilize the parking substitution
provisions herein will be subject to appropriate environmental review.

/]

/]

/]

/]

/]

/]

/1

0160037_20210104_ay_16

Packet Pg. 115




5.b

*NOT YET ADOPTED*
DRAFT

SECTION 7.  This ordinance shall be effective on the thirty-first date after the date of its
adoption.

INTRODUCED:

PASSED:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTENTIONS:

NOT PARTICIPATING:

ATTEST:

City Clerk Mayor
APPROVED AS TO FORM: APPROVED:
Assistant City Attorney City Manager

Director of Planning & Development
Services

0160037_20210104_ay_16

Packet Pg. 116




Planning & Transportation Commission
Staff Report (ID # 12150)

Report Type: Approval of Minutes Meeting Date: 3/31/2021

Summary Title:  February 24, 2021 Draft Meeting Minutes

Title: February 24, 2021 Draft PTC Meeting Minutes
From: Jonathan Lait
Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Planning and Transportation Commission (PTC) adopt the meeting
minutes.

Background

Draft minutes from the February 24, 2021 Planning and Transportation Commission (PTC)
meetings were made available to the Commissioners prior to the March 31, 2021 meeting date.
The draft PTC minutes can be viewed on line on the City’s website at
http://www.cityofpaloalto.org/gov/boards/ptc/default.asp.

City of Palo Alto

Planning & Development Services
250 Hamilton Avenue

Palo Alto, CA 94301

(650) 329-2442

Packet Pg. 117




